
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the November 21, 2023,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Drema Smith

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     4



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the September 5, 2023,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     5



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING   

9/5/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN VICE-CHAIRMAN COMMISSIONER 

ANNE LANGER JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY CLERK & TREASURER 

Roll Call: Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 
Commissioner Lance Gilman, Clerk & Treasurer Jim Hindle, County Manager Austin 
Osborne, Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis 

√ Assessor Jana Seddon
√ Justice of the Peace Eileen Herrington
√ Recorder Dru McPherson
√ Sheriff Mike Cullen
√ Comptroller Jennifer McCain
√ Business Development Manager Lara Mather
√ Community Development Director Pete Renaud
√ Community Relations Director Honey Coughlin
√ Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson
√ Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar

√ Human Resources Director Brandie Lopez
√ IT Director James Deane
√ Planning Manager Kathy Canfield
√ Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki
□ Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan
√ Senior Center Director Stacy York
√ Tourism Director Todd Tuttle
Other:
√Community Chest Executive Director, Erik Schoen

Total Attendance: 51 In-Person: 27 Zoom: 24 

1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.
Commissioner Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE



- 2 -

3. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action): Donnie Gilman said a deal has been in the works at
TRIC for a large land purchase that has closed. He praised county leadership and staff for their
assistance.

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the September 5, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's agenda as presented. Seconded
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

5. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
minutes for the June 6, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from our June 6, 2023,
meeting as presented. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

6. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: I For Possible action, approval of
business license first readings:

A. Ace Rental and Sales. – Contractor / 5625 Manchester Ave. ~  St. Louis, MO
B. Authentic Roofing LLC – Contractor / 1079 Spoonbill Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
C. Copper Mountain Construction LLC – Contractor / 2449 Lawry Dr.  Sparks, NV
D. Crazy Calamities LLC – General / 355 N. F St. ~ Virginia City, NV
E. New Mountain Excavating Inc. – Contractor / 7383 Windmill Dr. ~ Reno, NV
F. Sttructures Inc. – Contractor / 5224 E Us Hwy 50 ~ Carson City, NV
G. Sun Source Energy LLC – Contractor / 5580 W. Flamingo Rd. #101 ~  Las Vegas, NV
H. SX VC LLC (Temp Vendor/Retail) – General / 5 N. C St. ~ Virginia City, NV
I. TDC Management LLC – Out of County / 241 Ridge St. Ste 410 ~ Reno, NV
J. TowerCo 2013, LLC – Out of County / 5000Valleystone Dr. Ste. 200 ~  Cary, NC
K. Victory Glass, LLC – Contractor / 425 Western Rd. Ste. 109 ~ Reno, NV

II Consideration and possible approval of the modification to Policy 217 establishing the 
expectations of employees’ attire when representing the county at meetings, conferences, and 
other gatherings. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's Consent agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 



- 3 -

7. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

Sheriff Mike Cullen
• Sheriff Cullen noted the death of former Storey County Deputy and Pyramid Lake Police

Officer Anthony Francone, who was killed in the line of duty on Friday, Aug. 25, 2023,
while attempting to stop a fleeing suspect. He served Storey County from 2006 to 2019.
He was recognized for bravery and service and was an expert in accident investigations.
His memorial was held Saturday, Sept. 9, 2023, at the Reno Aces ballfield in Reno.

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar 
• One engine is in Southern California.
• The fire season is looking better with the amount of moisture we recently received.
• The Volunteer Fire Department’s Spaghetti Feed fundraiser will Sept. 9 at Station 72 in

the Highlands. Doors open at 5 p.m. and dinner is served at 6 p.m.

Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki, and for Mike Northan 
• Public Works officials have met with NVEnergy over work at Station 72.
• The old Lockwood Sheriff's Substation is removed and the site is being prepared for a

new building.

Business Development Director Lara Mather 
• The Business Development Office said the deadline for Community Project Grant

applications is 5 p.m. Sept. 20, 2023. For more information, call Honey Menefee at 775-
847-0986, or email hcoughlin@gmail.com.

• I gave a tour on Aug. 23 to staff from Congressman Mark Amodei's Office.
• I completed a business coach course through UNR's Extended Studies Department.

Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson 
• September is National Preparedness Month to prepare for natural, man-made and

technological disasters.

Tourism Director Todd Tuttle 
• The Motorcycle Roundup went smoothly.
• Dirty Cello performed at Piper's Opera House on Sept. 6. The VCTC is trying to increase

activities there.
• There were 20 entries in the Labor Day Parade, including the Lt. Governor.
• Camel Races are Sept. 8-10. There are still local tickets for Friday's show. Saturday's VIP

and shaded seating are sold out. Media are coming from all over the area. The Sunday
show is selling out quickly. We will have the Camel Hump on Saturday. There will be a
shuttle from the races to C Street.

• Comedian Kevin Farley will be at Piper's Opera House on Sept. 15.
• In October, or Hauntober, there will be magic shows on C Street, along with many other

family-friendly events.



- 4 -

Assessor Jana Seddon 
• I am proud of working with our team. I was presented with the 20-year plaque, and 20

years ago there was a different mentality.  Now we work together. Trying to get two
offices to work together in other counties is awful.

IT Director James Deane IT 
• The IT Department is coordinating with the Abbi Agency on the web site.

HR Director Brandie Lopez 
• There are a total of 207 county employees, with 165 full-time: 42 part-time. Of those, 120

are with the county and 45 are with the Fire District, including 7 that are grant funded; 42
that are part-time; 10 who are seasonal; and 7 employees are part of the planning board.
She said there are 31 budgeted vacancies and the County is actively recruiting for 25.

Community Development Director Pete Renaud 
• The Community Development Department added two new inspectors.

Stacy York Senior Center 
• The Senior Center will hold flu shot clinics on Sept. 29 at the Virginia City Center, from

9 am. to 11 a.m.; and in Mark Twain on Oct. 17 from 4-6 p.m. A flu and Covid Clinic will
be held from noon to 4 p.m. Oct. 4 at Piper's Opera House. The center does not have
testing. People need to go to their doctor or a pharmacy.

• A Community Resource Fair will be held Oct. 4 from noon to 6 p.m. in Mark Twain.

Judge Eileen Herrington 
• Thanked Anne Langer and Austin Osborne for helping develop the corrective action plan

with Indigent Services and to finalize the Public Defender Services agreement with Carson
City.

Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis 
• The District Attorney's Office plans to file a complaint for the revocation of the business

license for the Bonanza Saloon.

District Attorney Langer 
• The change in the indigent defense/public defender service was, a 55-month journey that

took a lot of energy from a lot of people. I want to thank everyone. It could not have been
done so quickly had everyone not worked as a team.

County Manager Austin Osborne 
• We are looking for a representative to serve on the Cemetery Board, and for members of

the Board of Appeals - one with engineering/contracting, another fire presentation
experience, and one at-large. All interest in serving, please submit a letter to the County
Manager.



- 5 -

• Thanks to the people who attended the town halls this summer.
• We are working on the Strategic Plan.

Community Chest Executive Director Erik Schoen 
• Programs are full for the fall programming season but have space for before-and-after-

school programs.
• We have a workforce program, and the library is a good location for a meeting.
• Because of the implementation of the hot lunch program, there is demand to expand it to

the high school. Thanks to Stacy and the school district staff.

8. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)

Commissioner Lance Gilman talked about a new deal that was coming to the Tahoe Reno
Industrial Center and praised all the county staff over the years for their efforts into making
the industrial park such a success.

Commissioner Jay Carmona praised both the staff and the industrial park. He also said the
Virginia City Highlands potluck had 70 people at Pinion Park.

Commissioner Mitchell said September was preparedness month and asked that all start
preparing now for winter.

9. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Review, receive public comment, and provide
direction to staff and consultants on the draft Storey County RFP for a successor Solid Waste
Collection Services Franchise Agreement in preparation for consideration of the final RFP at
the 09/19/23 board meeting.

Joseph Sloan of Sloan Vasquez Consultants, said draft Request for Proposal draft changes
involved mandatory service and exclusivity. Mandatory service was rejected, and residents
can haul their trash to the landfill. Large commercial generators may handle their own waste.
Companies can also haul away their own effluent.

County Manager Osborne noted a series of workshops was held in each Storey County
community as well as a Zoom workshop, so intention on this item is for staff direction.

Mr. Sloan said that service is mandatory except for entities that may opt to serve themselves,
such as Google, Tesla and other large waste generators who handle their own waste. He said
service is only mandatory if a company seeks to hire a third party. He said recycling will be
offered but is not mandatory. Recyclers can be hired to pick up items that will not end up in
the landfill.



- 6 -

Commissioner Mitchell said he preferred recycling to be limited to the industrial park and be 
optional. Mr. Sloan said because of the costs of recycling is the same as for waste, and the fee 
would be 80 percent of what is proposed for garbage service.  

Public Comment:  Alexia Sober asked what type of things could be recycled? Mr. Sloan said 
he could not be specific at this point. 

TRIC Project Manager Kris Thompson recommended that the recycling portion be totally 
non-exclusive.  

George “Eddie” Lorton said, in Lyon County the charge for recycling is 4 percent, rather than 
7 to 8 percent.  

Commissioner Gilman said is in favor of the document on the table today. Commissioner 
Carmona would like more time to consider suggestions. 

Additional Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to direct staff and the contractor to incorporate 
changes from this meeting in the draft RFP, complete the draft collection service agreement 
and bring both documents back to the board on Sept. 19, 2023, for consideration. Seconded 
by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

10. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No. 23-705, a resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by
ordinance or resolution per NRS 245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2023-
24 fiscal year and superseding prior year action by resolution for appointed Storey County
employees with the addition of Schedule B for the intermittent/less than parttime employees
of the county.

HR Manager Brandie Lopez said there was a correction in the chart. When employees were
moved to the new salary schedule, they shared in the cost of the Public Employee Retirement
System, and part-time employees - being on the same salary schedule - means they have to
share the expense. Since part-time employees do not receive PERS benefits they should not
share in the expense.

Commissioner Mitchell said this should be retroactive.

Comptroller McCain said it would not be a huge amount to make it retroactive but would be
considerable work for the Comptroller’s Office. She said 42 part-time employees were
impacted.

Public Comment: None



- 7 -

Motion: I Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution No. 23-705, a resolution 
setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution per NRS 
245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2023-24 fiscal year and superseding 
prior year action by resolution for appointed Storey County employees with the addition of 
Schedule B for the intermittent/less than parttime employees of the county. I further move to 
make this resolution retroactive to July 3, 2023. The schedule B addition is the updated 
version we were presented in the meeting. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
passed unanimously. 

11. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
Schedule of Project Revenue and Net Revenue for the TRI Public-Private Partnership for
fiscal years ending June 2021 and 2022 and the payment to Tahoe Reno Industrial Center,
LLC in the amount of $3,666,155.

Commissioner Gilman recused himself due to a pecuniary interest.

Comptroller Jennifer McCain said this is the audit for June 30, 2022. Our payment is
$7,310,000. This brings us whole through 3.7 million. The budget is $3.5 million.

We have about $43.8 million in vouchers as of June 30, 2022, after having paid $11.9 million.
There is $31.9 million in vouchers due, which brings our total to $28 million. $8.7 million has
been paid in the last 3 years. In 2002, the schedule of project revenue wsa $600,000. This
year, it was $10.8 million.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, : I, Commissioner , approve the Schedule of Project Revenue and Net Revenue for
the TRI Public-Private Partnership for fiscal years ending June30, 2022. and the payment to
Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, LLC in the amount of $3,666,155. Seconded by: Jay Carmona.
Vote: Motion passed 2 votes “Aye” to 0 votes “Nay”.

12. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Tax Bill correction for 004-101-02 Flintstone
Properties. NDOT landlocked this  property when USA Pkwy interchange was constructed.
Other parcels are owned by EP Minerals or Southern Pacific Railroad, so they have access
from their contiguous parcels.

Assessor Jana Seddon said this property used to be a quarry and sits between the railroad and
the interchange. Private property was cut off when the interchange was built. The road is a
private road and access was never granted. The applicant has requested a tax bill correction.

Public Comment: None



- 8 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the correction of the tax bill for parcel 
004-101-02 Flintstone Properties as listed in our packet. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote:
Motion passed unanimously.

13. DISCUSSION ONLY: Review and discussion of the final contract between Storey County
and The Abbi Agency as approved during the July 18, 2023, Board of County
Commissioner’s meeting.

Business Development Director Lara Mather said this was be the final contract as approved
by the Board on 7/18/23.

Public Comment: None

The contract will be submitted for the file.

14. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval to accept
a $5,000 donation from NOVVA Data Centers for the purchase of school supplies for the
Storey County Sheriff’s Office “Stuff The Cop Car” event.

Ms. Mather said when the sheriff's office started this project, she reached out to her business
contacts in the county to gauge interest in participating. NOVVA data centers has new facility
at the industrial park, and they readily agreed to make a donation in support of the
community.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve to accept a $5,000 donation from
NOVVA Data Centers for the purchase of school supplies for the Storey County Sheriff’s
Office “Stuff The Cop Car” event. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed
unanimously.

15. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY FIRE PROTECTION
DISTRICT BOARD

16. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of
Resolution No: 23-702, annually updating mitigation rates for the deployment of emergency
and non-emergency services by the Storey County Fire Protection District for incidents
outside of Storey County, large-scale hazardous materials incidents, motor vehicle accidents,
and negligent or criminal fires.

Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar said this is for fees when we send crews out to assist other areas to
recoup the cost that we incur.



- 9 -

Public Comment: None 

Motion:  I, Fire Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution No: 23-702, updating 
mitigation rates for the deployment of emergency and non-emergency services by the Storey 
County Fire Protection District for incidents outside of Storey County, large-scale hazardous 
materials incidents, special operating, and negligent or criminal fires. Seconded by: Lance 
Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously. 

17. RECESS TO CONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY HIGHWAY BOARD

18. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Report of Public Works Department regarding
roads and highways in Storey County.

Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki said he is almost finished with shouldering
Lousetown, He said Six Mile Canyon Road was closed Sept 11-14 to add culvert pipe and
take care of needed vegetation and tree work. The gas line under Electric Avenue is nearly
complete.  In Mark Twain, DOWL is working trying to come up with a drainage plan.

Public Comment: None

19. RECESS TO RECONVENE AS THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY
COMMISSIONERS

20. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible consideration of the
board’s position responding to the  Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development
(GOED) requesting from  Storey County a letter of acknowledgement regarding application
to the Governor’s Office of Economic Development for a Data Center Sales & Use Tax
Abatement and a Data Center Personal Property Tax Abatement for Novva Reno, LLC
(“Novva Tahoe-Reno, LLC”) planned in Storey County. The tax abatements are subject to
GOED approval per NRS 360 as a “standard partial abatement” for data centers under NRS
360.

Mr. Osborne said GOED sends letters on off-the-shelf abatements, and any county that meets
a certain level gets abatements. They are not like the Gigafactory, if they meet criteria, they
can receive abatements. Novva-Reno-Tahoe invested $237 million and have a $21 million
request for a sales and use tax abatement to the Governor’s office. This is a 75 percent
abatement for 10 years, and the governor’s office is asking for a letter of acknowledgement,
not approval. We are invited to the meeting.

Public Comment: Hugh Gallagher said he doesn't understand the objectivity of the
Governor’s Office on Economic Development. He asked why different companies received
different abatements.



- 10 -

Mr. Osborne said Novva received the data center abatement under SB1. Data centers receive 
a specific abatement according to the matrix. 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve to direct county staff to submit a letter 
to the Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) acknowledging an application 
for a Data Center Sales & Use Tax Abatement and a Data Center Personal Property Tax 
Abatement for Novva Reno, LLC (“Novva Tahoe-Reno, LLC”) planned in Storey County. 
The tax abatements are subject to GOED approval per NRS 360 as a “standard partial 
abatement” for data centers under NRS 360. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion 
passed unanimously. 

21. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible consideration of the
board’s position responding to the  Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development
(GOED) requesting from  Storey County a letter of acknowledgement regarding an
application to GOED for Sales and Use Tax Abatement, Modified Business Tax Abatement,
and Personal Property Tax Abatement for Symbia Fulfillment Services of NV, LLC. planned
in Storey County. The tax abatements are subject to GOED approval per NRS 360 as a
“standard partial abatement”.

Mr. Osborne said this is a logistics company with a $4 million commitment. It is about
$122,000 in sales and use tax abatement and $89,000 in personal property tax abatement. No
real property tax abatement.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, motion to direct county staff to submit a letter to GOED
acknowledging an application for Sales and Use Tax Abatement, Modified Business Tax
Abatement, and Personal Property Tax Abatement for Symbia Fulfillment Services of NV,
LLC. planned in Storey County.. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed
unanimously.

22. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible action to authorize
filing of Petition for Judicial Confirmation intended to identify the site where the Mark
Twain Community Center is located as the property of Storey County.

Mr. Loomis said that they have not been able to locate the actual deed for the property on
which the Community Center sits. It has not formally been dedicated to the county. This
action will clear up any issues with and in the title.

Public Comment: None



- 11 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to authorize the District Attorney’s Office to file a 
Petition for Judicial Confirmation to establish that Storey County is the owner of the land on 
which the Mark Twain Community Center is located. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: 
Motion passed unanimously. 

23. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and Possible action to approve
Resolution 23-704 declaring the intention of the Board of County Commissioners to lease a
portion of its property at 1705 Peru Drive in the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center to the State of
Nevada for the benefit of the Nevada Highway Patrol for no rent, setting a date and time for a
public hearing on the proposed lease and authorizing publication of a notice of the hearing.

Mr. Loomis said this was a requirement under NRS tht we can do without having to go
through an appraisal process. We have to set a date for public comment. The lease is in the
hands of the Nevada Department of Transportation, which will then hold a public hearing.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution 23-704 the lease of a
portion of the County Complex at 1705 Peru Drive to the State of Nevada for the benefit of
the Nevada Highway Patrol, authorize publication of a notice of a time and date to hold a
public hearing on the proposed lease and set the date and time for the public hearing at 10:30
a.m. on October 3, 2023. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed unanimously.

24. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For consideration and possible approval of
business license second readings:

A. Keeley Construction Group Inc. – Contractor / 500 S. Ewing Ave Ste. G ~ St Louis, MO
B. Redwood Materials EPC, LLC – Contractor / 1201 Battery Blvd ~ McCarran, NV
C. TNT Auction – General / 601 Britain Dr. ~ McCarran, NV
D. Troomi Wireless Inc. – Out of County / 151 Southhall Lane Ste. 450 ~ Maitland, FL

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the second readings of business licenses 
listed under Item #24 as A-D. Seconded by: Lance Gilman. Vote: Motion passed 
unanimously. 

25. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

26. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA\
Commissioner Carmona adjourned the meeting at 1:07 p.m.



- 12 -

27. Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of
conferring with county management and legal counsel regarding potential labor
negotiations with the Storey County Employees’ Association Comstock Chapter,
AFSCME Local 4041.
Call to Order Closed Session meeting pursuant to NRS 288.220 for the purpose of conferring
with county management and legal counsel regarding potential labor negotiations with the
Storey County Employees’ Association Comstock Chapter, AFSCME Local 4041. This
meeting will begin immediately following the general meeting of the Board of Storey County
Commissioners

Respectfully submitted, 

____________________________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk & Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license first readings:
• A. Gray Construction Inc.  – Contractor / 10 Quality St. ~ Lexington, KY
• B. JJ’s Chuckwagon LLC – Food Truck / 1005 Ruby Avenue ~ Silver Springs, NV
• C. The Bug Guy Pest Control – 1706 Harvest Creek Way ~ Fernley, NV
• D. XVIIsions Productions – Home Based – 29 S. B St #3 ~ Virginia City, NV

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     6  I



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office November 08, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the November 21, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. Gray Construction Inc.  – Contractor / 10 Quality St. ~ Lexington, KY

B. JJ’s Chuckwagon LLC – Food Truck / 1005 Ruby Avenue ~ Silver Springs, NV

C. The Bug Guy Pest Control – 1706 Harvest Creek Way ~ Fernley, NV

D. XVIIsions Productions – Home Based – 29 S. B St #3 ~ Virginia City, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $6,131,259.61.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as submitted.

• Prepared by: Cory Y Wood

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    6  II



























Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Annual Tax Roll Resolution.

• Recommended motion: Approval.

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: This is the annual Tax Roll Resolution, to allow the Assessor to post the
2024-25 tax roll on the Storey County website pursuant to NRS 361.300.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

   6  III



STOREY COUNTY RESOLUTION #___23-713_________________

A RESOLUTION REQUIRING THE COUNTY ASSESSOR TO PREPARE A LIST OF ALL TAXPAYERS ON THE 
SECURED ROLL IN STOREY COUNTY AND THE TOTAL VALUATION OF PROPERTY ON WHICH THEY 
SEVERALLY PAY TAXES

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 361.300, each board of county commissioners shall by resolution, 
before December 1 of any fiscal year in which assessment is made, require the county assessor to prepare 
a list of all taxpayers on the secured roll in the County and the total valuation of property on which they 
severally pay taxes and direct the county assessor to cause, on or before January 1 of the fiscal year in 
which assessment is made, such list and valuations to be: printed and delivered by the county assessor or mailed 
by him or her to each taxpayer in the county; or published once in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county; or published on an internet  website that is maintained  by the county assessor or, if the county 
assessor does not maintain an internet website, on an internet website that is maintained by the county; 
and to cause such list and valuations to be posted in a public area of  the public libraries and branch libraries 
located in the county, to be posted at the office of the county assessor; and, if the list and valuations are 
printed and delivered or mailed to each taxpayer in the county or published in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the county, then the list and valuations must be published on an internet website that is 
maintained by the county assessor or, if the county assessor does not maintain an internet website, on an 
internet website that is maintained by the  county. The county assessor shall further be directed, in a county 
whose population is less than 100,000, to make not fewer than 10 copies of such list and valuations 
available to the public free of charge during normal business hours at the main administrative office of the 
county for at least 60 days after the date on which the list and valuations are made available to the public 
as provided above; and if the county assessor publishes the list and valuations on an Internet website that is 
maintained by the county assessor or the county, to provide notice in a newspaper of general circulation in 
the count y, which:

1. Indicates that the list and valuations have been made available to the public on the Internet
website maintained by the county assessor or the county;

2. Provides the address of the internet website on which the list and valuations may be accessed or
retrieved; and

3. Is displayed in the format used for advertisements and printed in at least 10-point bold type or
font.

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the Board of County Commissioners of Storey County as 
follows: That the County Assessor prepare a list of all taxpayers on the secured roll in the County and the 
total valuation of property on which they severally pay taxes and cause such list and valuations to be printed 
and delivered by the County Assessor or mailed by her on or before January 1, 2024, to each taxpayer in 
the County; or published once on or before January 1, 2024, in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
County; or published on the Storey County website; and to cause such list and valuations to be posted in a 
public area of the public libraries and branch libraries located in Storey County, to be posted at the office of 
the County Assessor; and if the list and valuations are printed and delivered or mailed or published in a 
newspaper of general circulation, to be published on the Storey County website. The Assessor is further 
directed to make not fewer than 10 copies of such list and valuations available to the public free of charge 
during normal business hours at the main administrative  office of the County,
i.e ., the Storey County Courthouse located at 26 S. B Street in Virginia City, Nevada for at least 60 days after
the date on which the list and valuations are made available to the public; and if the county assessor



publishes the list and valuations on the Storey County website, to provide notice in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the County, on or before January 1, 2024 which:

1. Indicates that the list and valuations have been made available to the public on the Internet
website maintained by Storey County;

2. Provides the address of the Internet website on which the list and valuations may be accessed
or retrieved; and

3. Is displayed in the format used for advertisements and printed in at least 10-point bold type or
font.

ATTEST:

ADOPTED this day of______________________2023

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF STOREY COUNTY

By : _  _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _   _

Jay Carmona, Chairman

Jim Hindle, County Clerk/Treasurer



NRS 361.300 Time and manner for completion of secured tax roll; list of taxpayers and valuations; notice of 
assessed valuation.

1. On or before January 1 of each year, the county assessor shall transmit to the county clerk, post at the front door
of the courthouse and publish in a newspaper published in the county a notice to the effect that the secured tax roll is 
completed and open for inspection by interested persons of the county. A notice issued pursuant to this subsection 
must include a statement that the secured tax roll is available for inspection as specified in paragraph (b) of subsection
3. The statement published in the newspaper must be displayed in the format used for advertisements and printed in at
least 10-point bold type or font.

2. If the county assessor fails to complete the assessment roll in the manner and at the time specified in this
section, the board of county commissioners shall not allow the county assessor a salary or other compensation for any 
day after January 1 during which the roll is not completed, unless excused by the board of county commissioners.

3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, each board of county commissioners shall by resolution, before
December 1 of any fiscal year in which assessment is made, require the county assessor to prepare a list of all the 
taxpayers on the secured roll in the county and the total valuation of property on which they severally pay taxes and 
direct the county assessor:

(a) To cause, on or before January 1 of the fiscal year in which assessment is made, such list and valuations to be:

(1) Printed and delivered by the county assessor or mailed by him or her to each taxpayer in the county;

(2) Published once in a newspaper of general circulation in the county; or

(3) Published on an Internet website that is maintained by the county assessor or, if the county assessor does
not maintain an Internet website, on an Internet website that is maintained by the county; and

(b) To cause, on or before January 1 of the fiscal year in which assessment is made, such list and valuations to be:

(1) Posted in a public area of the public libraries and branch libraries located in the county;

(2) Posted at the office of the county assessor; and

(3) If the list and valuations are printed and delivered or mailed pursuant to subparagraph (1) of paragraph (a) or
published in a newspaper of general circulation pursuant to subparagraph (2) of paragraph (a), published on an Internet 
website that is maintained by the county assessor or, if the county assessor does not maintain an Internet website, on 
an Internet website that is maintained by the county;

(c) In a county whose population is less than 100,000, to make not fewer than 10 copies of such list and valuations
available to the public free of charge during normal business hours at the main administrative office of the county for at 
least 60 days after the date on which the list and valuations are made available to the public pursuant to paragraph (b); 
and

(d) If the county assessor publishes the list and valuations on an Internet website that is maintained by the county
assessor or the county pursuant to subparagraph (3) of paragraph (a), to provide notice in a newspaper of general 
circulation in the county, on or before January 1 of the fiscal year in which assessment is made, which:

(1) Indicates that the list and valuations have been made available to the public on the Internet website
maintained by the county assessor or the county;

and
(2) Provides the address of the Internet website on which the list and valuations may be accessed or retrieved;

(3) Is displayed in the format used for advertisements and printed in at least 10-point bold type or font.



4. A board of county commissioners may, in the resolution required by subsection 3, authorize the county assessor
not to deliver or mail the list, as provided in subparagraph (1) of paragraph (a) of subsection 3, to taxpayers whose 
property is assessed at $1,000 or less and direct the county assessor to mail to each such taxpayer a statement of the 
amount of his or her assessment. Failure by a taxpayer to receive such a mailed statement does not invalidate any 
assessment.

5. The several boards of county commissioners in the State may allow the bill contracted with their approval by the
county assessor under this section on a claim to be allowed and paid as are other claims against the county.

6. Whenever :

(a) Any property on the secured tax roll is appraised or reappraised pursuant to NRS 361 .260, the county assessor
shall, on or before December 18 of the fiscal year in which the appraisal or reappraisal is made, deliver or mail to each 
owner of such property a written notice stating the assessed valuation of the property as determined from the appraisal 
or reappraisal. A notice issued pursuant to this paragraph must include a statement that the secured tax roll will be 
available for inspection on or before January 1 as specified in paragraph (b) of subsection 3 and subparagraph (3) of 
paragraph (a) of subsection 3, if applicable, and must specify the locations at which the secured tax roll will be available 
for  inspection, including the address of the Internet website on which the secured tax role may be accessed or retrieved. 
If such a statement is published in a newspaper, the statement must be displayed in the format used for advertisements 
and printed in at least 10-point bold type or font.

(b) Any personal property billed on the unsecured tax roll is appraised or reappraised pursuant to NRS 3 61.260, the
delivery or mailing to the owner of such property of an individual tax bill or individual tax notice for the property shall be 
deemed to constitute adequate notice to the owner of the assessed valuation of the property as determined from the 
appraisal or reappraisal.

7. If the secured tax roll is changed pursuant to NRS 361 .310 . the county assessor shall mail an amended notice of
assessed valuat ion to each affected t ax payer. The notice must include:

(a) The information set forth in subsection 6 for the new assessed valuation.

(b) The dates for appealing the new assessed valuation.

8. Failure by the taxpayer to receive a notice required by this section does not invalidat e the appraisal or
reappraisal.

9. In addition to complying with subsections 6 and 7, a county assessor shall:

(a) Provide without charge a copy of a notice of assessed valuation to the owner of the property upon request .

(b) Post the information included in a notice of assessed valuation on a website or other Internet site, if any, that is
operated or administered by or on behalf of the county or the county assessor.

[13:344:1953; A 1955, 327) -  (NRS A 1967, 957; 1975, 67: 1981, 791: 1991, 1425 : 2003, 2762; 2005, 1506: 2009,
1218; 2011, 3522: 2015, 2711 . 2714 )



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Personal Exemption Corrections.

• Recommended motion: Approval.

• Prepared by: Jana Seddon

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0961

• Staff Summary: Exemption forms were turned in on time, however Assessor Staff input
the exemption incorrectly so it was not applied to the parcels.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     6  IV









Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Public Hearing for second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance
amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or
variable message signs to be installed on public zoning district land and providing for
other matters properly related thereto.

• Recommended motion: Continue to next available Board of Storey County
Commissioners meeting to be tentatively held on December 5, 2023.

• Prepared by: Kathy Canfield

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-1144

• Staff Summary: Continue File No. 2023-040.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     9



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: County staff has reviewed the responses to the Requests for Qualifications (RFQ)
for the Construction Management portion of the Lockwood Senior Center Rebuild
Project. County staff intends to pursue cost and contract negotiations with the selected
respondent, Construction Materials Engineers, Inc.

• Recommended motion: For Discussion Only - No Motion Needed

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department:     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: Four responses to the RFQ solicitation were received. The Review
Committee was comprised of Stacy York, Jason Wierzbicki, Mike Northan, and Honey
Coughlin.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    10



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval for County Staff to apply for grant funding in
the amount of $700,000 for ADA compliant restroom facilities for the Virginia City
Fairgrounds through Conserve Nevada’s Nevada Conservation and Recreation fund, with
a 20% match of $140,000 being required of the county.

• Recommended motion: I, _(commissioner), move to approve County Staff to apply for
grant funding in the amount of $700,000 for ADA compliant restroom facilities for the
Virginia City Fairgrounds through Conserve Nevada’s Nevada Conservation and
Recreation fund, with a 20% match of $140,000 being required of the county.

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department:     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: Due to the rapidly increasing cost of goods and services, the ADA
restrooms for the Fairgrounds had to be removed from the scope of work in the current
Fairgrounds Upgrade grant funded project. The current grant funded project, FY23
Appropriations Request award, includes the installation of water and electric to the
Fairgrounds both of which are to be installed with the consideration of the future build of
the ADA compliant restrooms. The application submittal date for this Conserve Nevada
grant is December 28, 2023. Award announcements will be made in February 2024. If
awarded, the project will begin in FY24/25 and will be budgeted accordingly.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

    11



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-714, a resolution setting
grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution per NRS 245.045
for appointed Storey County officials for the 2023-24 fiscal year and superseding prior
year action by resolution for appointed Storey County employees with the addition of
Undersheriff at grade 148 and reallocation of Assistant Sheriff from grade 148 to grade
144.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to approve Resolution No. 23-714, a
resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution
per NRS 245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2023-24 fiscal year and
superseding prior year action by resolution for appointed Storey County employees with
the addition of Undersheriff at grade 148 and reallocation of Assistant Sheriff from grade
148 to grade 144.

• Prepared by: Brandie Lopez & Jeanne Greene

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: The Sheriff’s Office is undergoing a reorganization.  They are
requesting the creation of an Undersheriff at grade 148 which was the grade of the
previous Assistant Sheriff.  We are further requesting the reallocation of the grade level
for Assistant Sheriff to go from grade 148 down to grade 144.  The two Assistant
Sheriff’s will report to the Undersheriff thus a four-grade differential is appropriate.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Funds available.

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

    12



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



RESOLUTION NO.  23-714

A RESOLUTION SETTING SALARIES OF EMPLOYEES FIXED 
BY ORDINANCE OR RESOLUTION PER NRS 245.045 FOR 
APPOINTED OFFICIALS.  

BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE STOREY COUNTY 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, STOREY COUNTY, 
NEVADA:

WHEREAS, for the purposes of NRS 245.045, the Storey County Board of County 
Commissioners has authority to establish the salaries of all appointed and non-
represented County employees by the enactment of a resolution.

WHEREAS, the salaries of all appointed officials and non-represented county 
employees, are consistently to be derived from a similar step and grade range 
salary system shown in the General Salary Schedule A for appointed officials 
and non-represented employees of the county and General Salary Schedule B 
for intermittent/less than parttime employees of the county.

WHEREAS, the General Salary Schedule step and grade ranges (Schedules A and 
B) will be consistent with the AFSCME general employees salary schedule and will
be adjusted accordingly on a year-by-year basis to account for cost-of-living and to
maintain consistency in the county’s classification plan.

WHEREAS, the salary grade range of appointed officials and non-represented 
employees shall be as follows for the 2023-24 fiscal period:

Position Salary Grade
Administrative Assistant I Grade 110
Administrative Assistant II Grade 116
Administrative Assistant III Grade 119
Administrative Officer Grade 140
Assistant Sheriff Grade 148 144
Automotive/Equipment Manager Grade 133
Bailiff/Court Services Officer Grade 124
Buildings and Grounds Manager Grade 133
Building Official Grade 144
Business Development Officer Grade 140
Chief Deputy District Attorney Grade 153
Community Development Director Grade 152
Community Services Coordinator Grade 130
Comptroller Grade 154
Corrections Officer Grade 117
County Manager Grade 161
Culinary Coordinator Grade 119
Cyber Security Officer Grade 133



Deputy District Attorney Grade 152
Dispatch Manager Grade 140
Emergency Management Director Grade 144
Tourism and Event Manager Grade 135
Event and Site Manager Grade 124
Grants Manager Grade 135
HR Director Grade 144
HR Generalist Grade 124
Information Technology Director Grade 152
Information Technology Officer Grade 140
Kitchen Aide Grade 108
Management Analyst Grade 131
Meals on Wheels Coordinator Grade 110
Planning Manager Grade 144
Public Works Director Grade 152
Roads Manager Grade 133
Senior Center Site Manager Grade 119
Senior Services Director Grade 144
Tourism Director Grade 152
Undersheriff Grade 148

WHEREAS, the salary grade and step range of casual intermittent less-than part-time 
positions in the General Salary Schedule B shall be as follows for the 2023-24 fiscal 
period:

IPT Administrative Assistant I Grade 110
IPT Administrative Assistant II Grade 116
IPT Evidence Custodian Grade 115
IPT Facilities Maintenance Worker Grade 110
IPT Homemaker Grade 102
IPT Inmate Work Crew Coordinator Grade 117
IPT Lifeguard Grade 100
IPT Maintenance Worker/Heavy Equipment 
Operator

Grade 118

IPT Park Maintenance Worker Grade 105
IPT Pool Maintenance Worker Grade 110
IPT Pool Supervisor Grade 108
IPT Program Coordinator (Senior Services) Grade 104
IPT Road Worker Grade 110
IPT Volunteer Coordinator (Sheriff Office) Grade 117
IPT Tourism Assistant Grade 110
IPT Tourism Transportation Driver Grade 110
IPT Transportation Driver Grade 102
IPT Visitor Liaison Grade 110

WHEREAS, the salary grade and step range of casual, intermittent, less-than part-time 
Deputy Sheriff positions shall be as outlined in Appendix A of the Storey County 
Sheriff’s Office Employees’ Association/Nevada Association of Police and Sheriff’s 
Officers (NAPSO) for the 2023-24 fiscal period.



WHEREAS, the flat-rate salaries for the positions below shall be set by the Storey County 
Board of Commissioners as follows:

$30,000 
Government Affairs Director

(salary split 50/50 with SCSD)
Justice of the Peace $ 89,500 

WHEREAS, salaries are set by the Nevada Legislature and County Commissioners 
for elected positions as follows:

Assessor $71,361 
Commissioners $30,806.31 
Clerk/Treasurer $71,361 
District Attorney $122,678 
Recorder $71,361 
Sheriff $96,937 

WHEREAS, if there is a PERS increase, said increase will be shared equally between Storey 
County and the employee in accordance with NRS 286.421 (3) (a) (1) and will be so reflected on 
Salary Schedule A. Salary Schedule B and casual, intermittent, less than part-time Deputy 
Sheriffs will not be impacted by any changes in PERS contributions. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD   
OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS, by unanimous vote, to adopt Resolution 23-___ 
providing for the setting of salaries for the appointed officials and non-represented employees.

This resolution shall be effective on the 21st day of November 2023.

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of November2023.

THOSE VOTING AYE:

_____________________________

          _________________________________________

THOSE VOTING NAY:

      ________________________

      ________________________
STOREY COUNTY

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS:    ______________________________

     Jay Carmona, Chairman    



ATTEST: ______________________________
      CLERK TO THE BOARD



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval for County Staff to proceed with a Letter of
Intent to Apply for a Principal Forgiveness Loan through the Nevada Division of
Environmental Protection (NDEP) for Phase 1 of the Lead Siphon Transmission
Replacement Project in the amount of $2,504,666.16.

• Recommended motion: I, _(commissioner), move for the approval of County Staff to
proceed with a Letter of Intent to Apply for a Principal Forgiveness Loan through the
Nevada Division of Environmental Protection (NDEP) for Phase 1 of the Lead Siphon
Transmission Replacement Project in the amount of $2,504,666.16.

• Prepared by: Honey Coughlin

Department:     Contact Number: 7755463183

• Staff Summary: Board of County Commissioners’ approval is required for the
application process. County staff has been working with the NDEP and DOWL
Engineering to complete the Letter of Intent to Apply requirements which are due
December 1, 2023, to be considered for award.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    13



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and approval of appointing a county resident to serve as a voting
member on the Comstock Cemetery Foundation Board of Directors as the Storey County
representative.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to appoint Caitlin Best to serve as a
voting member on the Comstock Cemetery Foundation Board of Directors as the Storey
County representative.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Storey County posted countywide a notice seeking letters of interest to
serve as a voting member on the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) representing
Storey County. An interview of an applicant expressing interest was conducted, and the
applicant was found to be highly knowledgeable and interested in the historical, cultural,
and modern elements of the Silver Terrace Cemeteries, Gold Hill Cemetery, and other
cemeteries and related matters in the county.

• Storey County and the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) operate the Silver Terrace
Cemeteries and other listed cemeteries in Storey County under a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU). The MOU and the cemetery foundation bylaws specify that the
board of directors includes one voting member from Storey County.

• Storey County and other entities are responsible for performing modern burials and
maintenance at the Silver Terrace Cemeteries in Virginia City and the Gold Hill
Cemetery in Gold Hill (the cemeteries). The Silver Terrace Cemeteries is subdivided into
several independent sub-units including, but not limited to, the Freemasons, Odd Fellows,
Virginia City Firemen, Catholic, and Storey County cemeteries. They are each
maintained by their respective fraternal, religious, and civic organizations with assistance
and coordination by the Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF), a non-profit 501(c)(3)
managed by the CCF Board of Directors.

• The MOU will facilitate a structured relationship between Storey County and the CCF for
appropriate accounting and administration, records management, funding, coordinated
oversight and strategic planning, site security, and risk management as related to modern
burials, funding, administration, historic preservation, and enhancement of the cemeteries
within appropriate jurisdictional allowances.

     14



• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued





STOREY COUNTY PUBLIC NOTICE 

Appointment of Storey County Representative 

to the  

Comstock Cemetery Foundation Board 

Position: The Board of Storey County Commissioners seeks a qualified member of the county to serve on the 

Comstock Cemetery Foundation (CCF) Board of Directors as the Storey County Representative for a 2-year term. 

Responsibilities: The CCF is a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization with jurisdiction over organizational, religious, 

and county cemeteries located within the boundaries of the Virginia City National Historic Landmark. Under 

direction of the 7-member board, the CCF is managed by an executive director and may employe staff and/or 

volunteers.  

The purpose of the CCF is to preserve, protect, and interpret the historic cemeteries located within the Virginia 

City National Historic Landmark for the benefit of the public.  

Under a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the CCF and Storey County, the CCF board is also 

responsible for oversight and direction regarding modern burials in the county portions of the cemeteries. The 

MOU and CCF Bylaws are enclosed herewith. The cemetery board is responsible for providing oversight and 

direction regarding historic resources preservation; improving cemetery facilities and infrastructure; securing 

grants, donations, and endowments; procedures for modern burials; and overseeing management and fiscal 

practices. 

Board meetings occur four times per year at 6:30 p.m. on days designated by the board but occurring on the first 

Wednesday of the determined month. Board and officer duties and terms are specified in the attached CCF 

Bylaws.  

Preferred Qualifications: The applicant must be a resident of Storey County. The applicant must demonstrate 

interest in preservation, improvement, and operation of cemeteries or similar resources of cultural significance, 

and as a board member ensuring the fulfillment of the responsibilities referenced above. The applicant must 

demonstrate an ability to sustain harmonious working relationships with other board members, the public, and 

represent the best interest and professionalism of Storey County. The new appointee must successfully pass a 

criminal background investigation. 

Compensation: This is a volunteer non-paid position representing Storey County, Nevada. 

Letter of Interest: All interested parties must submit a letter of interest showing qualifications and reasons for 

applying for the position. An official job application is not needed. 

Closing Date: Letters of interest (originals) must be received by the Storey County Human Resources Office, 

Storey County Courthouse, 26 South “B” Street (P.O. Box 176), Virginia City, NV 89440 by  

5:00 p.m., Monday, October 2, 2023. Please contact 775.847.0968 for further questions. 

Tentative Appointment Date 

The Board of County Commissioners will consider letters of interest following receipt of letters and applicant 

reviews. Applicants will be notified well ahead of the meeting where the board may consider applicants. 

Storey County is an Equal Opportunity Employer. Posting dates:  09/06/23 – 10/02/23. 



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 Minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and discussion regarding the Storey County Fire Protection District
2024-2029 Capital and Operational improvement plan.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) move to direct the Fire Chief to make the
following recommended changes to the SCFPD 2024-2029 Capital and Operational
Improvement plan.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: In preparation for the upcoming budget cycle, it is important that the
capital and operational plan be revisited for annual updates and to ensure fiscal and
operational alignment with the district's growth and funding.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    16









Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the purchase of a command vehicle
approved and ordered within the 2022/2023 budget and received within the 2023/2024
that is unbudgeted.

• Recommended motion: I (Fire Commissioner) move to approve the purchase of a
command vehicle approved and ordered within the 2022/2023 budget and received within
the 2023/2024 budget.

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: Under the 2022/2023 district budget, a command vehicle was approved
and ordered within that budget cycle. Due to unforeseen delays with the vehicle, it
arrived within October of the 2023/2024 unbudgeted year. Funds dedicated to this
purchase are still available within the District Capital Projects fund.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     17







Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Discussion and possible consideration of the board’s position responding to the
Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) requesting from Storey
County a letter of acknowledgement regarding an application to GOED for Sales and Use
Tax Abatement, Modified Business Tax Abatement, and Personal Property Tax
Abatement for Arcadia Cold Reno, LLC. planned in Storey County. The tax abatements
are subject to GOED approval per NRS 360 as a “standard partial abatement”.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to direct county staff to submit a letter
to GOED acknowledging an application for Sales and Use Tax Abatement, Modified
Business Tax Abatement, and Personal Property Tax Abatement for Arcadia Cold Reno,
LLC., planned in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This item is subject to NRS 360 and the application to the Governor’s
Office of Economic Development to receive standard GOED abatements for meeting
certain full-time employment, investments, and capital equipment investments for logistic
users. The abatement impacts are summarized in the attached letter from GOED. GOED
will consider the abatements at its 11/20/23 meeting. See
https://goed.nv.gov/about/board/ for GOED board meeting materials.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

     19



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued





Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval to adopt the 2023 Storey County Water
Resources Plan for south and central Storey County including Comstock (Virginia City,
Gold Hill, Silver City, and American Flat), Highlands, and Mark Twain. This item is
being considered in accordance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, and in
conformance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan and NRS 278.0228, I
(commissioner) motion to adopt the enclosed 2023 Storey County Water Resources Plan.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: The 2023 Storey County Water Resources Master Plan was
commissioned in accordance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan, and by NRS
287.0228 as amended by Senate Bill 150 in the 2019 legislative session, requiring each
governing body in the state to develop and maintain a water resources master plan by
2029.

•
• The enclosed draft water master plan focuses on south and central communities of Storey

County including the Virginia City Highlands; Highland Ranches; Comstock areas
including Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City (Lyon County), and American Flat; and
Mark Twain. Because the county does not provide water service in other portions of the
county, those areas are outside of

• the scope of this plan. In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General
Improvement District in Lockwood and the TRI-General Improvement District in
McCarran will complete similar water resource plans which can that be considered for
potential incorporation into this county plan as appendices.

•
• The plan also references water resources planning and master plans in other parts of the

county, including the Canyon General Improvement District in Lockwood and TRI-
General Improvement District in McCarran.

•
• The plan reviews available water, water rights, and parcel data in developing findings and

recommendations regarding current use demands, and future growth potential and
limitations. The discussion includes groundwater and surface water resources, as

      20



applicable, in each area, and a discussion about the Marlette Water System resources for 
the Comstock area and potentially other communities in the subject plan area.

•
• Background and data in the Storey County Water Resources Plan will be applied to 

negotiating with the State of Nevada a successor agreement to the Carson City Water 
Agreement governing distribution of Marlette System water resources to Storey County. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



STOREY COUNTY 
WATER RESOURCES PLAN 

2023 

Divide Reservoir 



Character | Stewardship | Excellence

5510 Longley Lane  •  Reno, Nevada 89511  •  (775) 851-4788

Water Resource  Plan
Storey County



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
i January 2023

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Water Resource Plan (Plan) is intended to provide Storey County (County) a document to guide future 
decisions related to the City’s water supply, transmission and distribution system, and its ability to meet 
customer water demands into the future.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised 
Statute (NRS) Chapter 287.0228 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150, as part of the 2019 legislative 
session, to require governing bodies to develop and maintain a water resource plan.  Per NRS 278.0228, 
the plan shall be in place by 2029 and then updated every 10 years. This executive summary provides a 
snapshot of the key findings from each chapter of the Plan.  In total, the Plan is comprised of an Introduction 
and three topic-focused chapters.   

INTRODUCTION 

This WRP will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  The Marlette System provides water to the County Water System 
for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The County also delivers water to residents 
of Silver City which is located in Lyon County.  The remaining populated areas within the Plan Area are 
supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (Canyon 
GID) and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can 
be considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT 

Chapter 1 summarizes current County Water System water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. This Chapter presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to 
establish estimates and assumptions which will form the basis for the Plan.  

The County Water System currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of 
customers (666) are within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County 
serves approximately 207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential. For the period 
between 2018 through 2021 the County Water System consumed an average of 221 AF of water per year 
and a maximum of 234 AF in 2017 from the Marlette System.  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered, however some unmetered 
connections still exist. For this reason, Farr West utilized the Water Treatment Plant (WTP) flow meter data 
as the basis for estimating system demands. Analysis of WTP water meter records from 2016 to 2019 
yielded the following: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD) 210 AF 

� Average Day Demand (ADD) 131 gpm 

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD) 262 gpm 

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD) 524 gpm 

Considering the County System serves 803 customers, the average water use per connection is 0.26 AF per 
year which is equivalent to approximately 0.16 gpm per connection. This average connection demand was 
used to set existing water demands but was adjusted to 0.3 AF per new residential connection to estimate 
future water demands.  



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
ii January 2023

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply. However, each of the 
water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson 
City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to locations not currently included as the place of use, a 
temporary or permanent change to the water right would have to be approved by the office of the Nevada 
State Engineer (NSE). Finally, the contract between the County and the State for continued delivery of 
water from the Marlette System is currently being negotiated for renewal. 

Historically, the State has implemented 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System 
water according to the limits shown in Table ES-1. 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

Water for the County Water System is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to 
a pipeline. The County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under 
Interstate 580 at Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile 
Reservoir and/or the Five-Mile Tank prior to filling the Bullion Tank next to the 1.2 MGD Water Treatment 
Plant where water is treated to potable standards and placed into the County Water System distribution 
system.  

Key findings of this chapter include a review of water right ownership, water demand calculations, an 
estimate of unaccounted for water, a summary of water storage facilities, and domestic well pumpage 
estimates.  

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY AND SYSTEM CAPACITY 

Chapter 2 discusses the water system’s current capacity, the quality and quantity of all water sources, a 
water source risk analysis, and drought mitigation strategies available to the County. Recent water use in 
the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw water from the Marlette 
System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is unmetered groundwater 
pumped at private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic well it is estimated 
that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the American Flat area.  

The only water source currently available to the County Water System is the surface water provided by the 
Marlette Water System. This source is very reliable and of high quality, however the volume of water 
available from the Marlette Water System is primarily influenced or restricted by transmission pipeline 
capacity, although annual snowpack, fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits 
also have a potential to limit the amount of water available form this source. The annual volume of water 
available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. Per the previous operating 
agreement, the County has reserved up to approximately 500 AF of that annual total.  

Water resources within the Plan Areas are less than current demand.  Annual recharge of area aquifers is 
limited due to inadequate elevation of the Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iii January 2023

primary source of recharge occurs within the upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt 
and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge 
depending on the slope and soil permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the 
mountain block without significant impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources 
are impacted by mountain block (“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson 
River watershed.  

The populated areas of the Highlands and Mark Twain also lie within the Plan Area but are not provided 
water by the County Water System. Residences in these areas utilize individual wells to provide domestic 
water supplies. Even though each area sits in a separate hydrographic basin, both areas have experience 
water availability problems during extended dry periods. Per the Plan, it is not feasible to develop a single, 
groundwater well to serve the local community in either of these areas due to aquifer performance concerns. 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its customers, it must actively manage its water sources 
and system infrastructure. Some key recommendations made in this chapter include: 

� Negotiate a long-term delivery agreement and contract with the Marlette Water System,

� Maintain an up-to-date Water Resource Plan,

� Complete a Water Conservation Plan,

� Develop a water right dedication rate schedule and maintain a water right ledger, and

� Develop policy which requires future development utilizing groundwater as its only water source
to provide substantial analysis and study of the groundwater aquifer and prove that the proposed
uses will have limited and mitigatable effect on existing users or uses.

This chapter also reviewed existing system infrastructure and provided estimates of how much water the 
system can supply on a regular and maximum day basis. Considering the conveyance capacity of the siphon 
transmission main, the surface water treatment plant, and the storage tanks throughout the system it is 
estimated that up to 864 additional residential connections can be added to the system without creating 
problems. Additionally, each portion of the system was analyzed separately from one another, and it is 
estimated that up to 768 units could be added to Virginia City and/or 710 units could be added in Gold Hill. 
It should be noted that even though these estimates are provided in the unit of single-family residences 
(SFR), other land uses (e.g., commercial, industrial) can be added to the system. Projected water demands 
for these uses should be divided by the SFR water demand factor of 0.3 AF per unit to account for the 
number of “units” the proposed development represents in overall system capacity accounting. 

CHAPTER 3: FUTURE DEMANDS AND WATER MANAGEMENT 

The purpose of Chapter 3 is to estimate potential buildout demands resulting from land development within 
the Plan Area in the future. This chapter also identifies the impacts to the Storey County Water System at 
the buildout condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. 
Future utility and water resource planning efforts is also discussed. 

Future water demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel 
size (i.e., acreage) or unit counts using designated land uses as of December 2020. The areas analyzed were: 

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Table ES-2 provides an accounting of the projected number of units or acres which can be developed in 
each sub-area. 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iv January 2023

Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

Utilizing water demand factors based on the existing system or similar areas in the region, estimated water 
demands were estimated at the buildout condition for each sub-area. A summary of these estimates is shown 
below in Table ES-3. 

Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176 182 358 

Mark Twain 100 4,875 4,975 

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide almost 7,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a 
picture for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. Per the 
findings of this chapter, the County will need to invest between $5.7 and $127 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects in order to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain).  



Water Resource Plan   Executive Summary  

 

 FINAL Storey County  
 v January 2023  

Table ES-4: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2021 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI (Association for the Advancement of Cost 
Estimating International) 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. At the most extreme condition where the County Water System is expanded to provide 
service to meet the buildout demands of the Highlands, Mark Twain, and American Flat in addition to the 
buildout demands of the Comstock, the volume of water rights needed would be 6,911 AF. If the County 
were to only provide water service to the existing Comstock area, this total is reduced to 2,178 AF.  

This chapter also evaluated additional water sources which may be available to the County in the future. 
While the new external sources are unlikely to be connected in the near term (i.e., 10 years) it is important 
to document every option in the case that economic, political, or system conditions change, and the viability 
of these sources is altered. Additionally, by implementing a proactive approach to water management 
planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable and resilient water utility well into the future to meet the 
needs of its residents and businesses.



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vi January 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................... i 
Table of Contents ......................................................................................................................................... vi 
Table of Tables .......................................................................................................................................... viii 
Table of Figures ......................................................................................................................................... viii 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 4 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 5 
2.0 Background ...................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.0 Scope of Water Resource Plan ......................................................................................................... 5 

3.1 Plan Area .......................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.2 Need for a Water Resource Plan ...................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT ................................................ 1 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 1 
2.0 Summary of Communities ............................................................................................................... 1 

2.1 Storey County Water Customers ..................................................................................................... 1 
2.2 Estimated Population within Plan Area ........................................................................................... 1 

3.0 Water Resources .............................................................................................................................. 2 
4.0 Water Rights in Nevada ................................................................................................................... 2 

4.1 Water Right Priority and Appropriation Statutes and Regulation ................................................... 2 
4.2 Nevada State Engineer Regulatory Actions ..................................................................................... 3 
4.3 Water Right Ownership ................................................................................................................... 3 

5.0 Marlette Water System .................................................................................................................... 3 
5.1 Franktown Creek Decree ................................................................................................................. 3 
5.2 Marlette Lake Water Rights ............................................................................................................. 3 
5.3 Marlette System Surface Water Rights ............................................................................................ 4 
5.4 Contract Between State of Nevada and Storey County ................................................................... 6 

6.0 Water Rights within Storey County ................................................................................................. 6 
6.1 Tracey Segment Water Rights ......................................................................................................... 6 
6.2 Dayton Valley Lake Water Rights ................................................................................................... 7 
6.3 Domestic Groundwater Use ............................................................................................................. 7 

7.0 Water Production and Facilities ....................................................................................................... 8 
7.1 Storey County Water System Facilities ........................................................................................... 8 
7.2 Storey County System Demands ..................................................................................................... 8 

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery ........................................................................................................... 8 
7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production ...................................................................................... 9 
7.2.3 Customer Meter Records .................................................................................................... 9 

7.3 Water Demand Factors .................................................................................................................. 10 
7.4 Unaccounted For Water ................................................................................................................. 10 
7.5 Water Storage Facilities ................................................................................................................. 11 

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY .................................................................................... 13 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 13 
2.0 Water Resource Availability and Management ............................................................................. 13 

2.1 Estimated Use Within Plan Area ................................................................................................... 13 
2.2 Surface Water ................................................................................................................................ 13 
2.3 Groundwater .................................................................................................................................. 13 

3.0 Threats to Existing and Future Water Resources ........................................................................... 15 
3.1 Drought and Climate Change ......................................................................................................... 16 
3.2 Regulatory Actions ........................................................................................................................ 17 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vii January 2023

3.3 Contamination ................................................................................................................................ 18 
3.3.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.3 Distribution System .......................................................................................................... 18 

3.4 Conveyance Interruptions .............................................................................................................. 18 
4.0 Remaining Capacity Analysis ........................................................................................................ 19 

4.1 Remaining Storage Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.2 Remaining Supply Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.3 Remaining System Capacity .......................................................................................................... 20 

5.0 Long-Term Strategies .................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 22 

5.1.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.3 Best Management Practices .............................................................................................. 24 

5.2 Resource Management ................................................................................................................... 24 
5.3 Dedication Rates ............................................................................................................................ 24 
5.4 Water Conservation Plan ............................................................................................................... 25 
5.5 Water Resource Planning ............................................................................................................... 25 

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES ................................................................... 26 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 26 
2.0 Future Demands ............................................................................................................................. 26 

2.1 Vacant Parcels and Land Use ........................................................................................................ 26 
2.2 Demand Factors and Total Buildout Demands .............................................................................. 32 

3.0 Buildout Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 33 
3.1 Infrastructure Improvements .......................................................................................................... 33 

3.1.1 County Water System ....................................................................................................... 33 
3.1.2 American Flat ................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.3 Mark Twain ....................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.4 VC Highlands ................................................................................................................... 35 
3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades ............................................................................................................... 37 
3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades ...................................................................................... 37 
3.1.7 Project Summary ............................................................................................................... 37 

3.2 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 38 
4.0 Future Management ....................................................................................................................... 39 

4.1 Future Water Resources ................................................................................................................. 39 
4.2 Regionalization .............................................................................................................................. 39 

5.0 Future Water Management Planning ............................................................................................. 39 
6.0 Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

Bibliography ............................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix A ................................................................................................. Storey County 2016 Master Plan 
Appendix B ................................................................................................. Storage and Supply Calculations 
Appendix C ........................................................................................................... Opinions of Probable Cost 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
viii January 2023

LIST OF TABLES 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ....................................... ii�
Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use ........................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands ....................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-4: Water System Projects .............................................................................................................. v�
Table 5: Current Population and Household Size ......................................................................................... 2�
Table 6: Marlette System Water Rights ........................................................................................................ 5�
Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ............................................. 6�
Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates ......................................................................................................... 7�
Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) ................................................................................... 9�
Table 10: Residential Customer Demand ................................................................................................... 10�
Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand .................................................................................................. 10�
Table 12: Total Customer Demand ............................................................................................................. 10�
Table 13: System Demands ........................................................................................................................ 11�
Table 14: Water Storage Facilities .............................................................................................................. 12�
Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis ................................................................... 20�
Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) .......................... 21�
Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems ....................................... 21�
Table 18: Water Demand Factors ............................................................................................................... 27�
Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use .............................................................................................................. 33�
Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands .......................................................................................................... 33�
Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs ....................................................................... 38�
Table 22: Water System Projects ................................................................................................................ 38�
Table 23: Water System Planning ............................................................................................................... 41�

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas ......................................................................... x�
Figure 2: Plan Area ...................................................................................................................................... xi�
Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) ............................................ 9�
Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water ......................................................................................... 12�
Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 29�
Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 30�
Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels ........................................................................................................ 31�
Figure 8: American Flat Land Use .............................................................................................................. 32�
Figure 9: Highlands Water System Improvements ..................................................................................... 37�



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
ix January 2023

INTRODUCTION 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Water Resource Plan (Plan) is to provide Storey County (County) with a documented 
plan and policy related to the County’s ability to provide a sustainable water supply to its customers even 
during periods of extended drought.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) Chapter 287 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150 (2019) to require governing bodies to develop 
and maintain a water resource plan by 2029.   

2.0 BACKGROUND  

On January 21, 2020, the Storey County Board of County Commissioners awarded a contract to Farr West 
Engineering to prepare a Water Resource Plan.  This Plan is separated into three chapters, with each 
addressing a specific component of the Plan as follows: 

� Chapter 1 – Water Demands, Sources, and Management

� Chapter 2 – Source Water Reliability and System Capacity

� Chapter 3 – Future Demand and Water Management

3.0 SCOPE OF WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

Storey County is located in the Western portion of Northern Nevada.  The County is bordered by Washoe 
County to the west and north and Lyon County to the east and south.  The County is a mountainous area 
which sits above the Reno metropolitan area and is bounded by the Truckee River to the north.  There are 
eight distinct land use areas in the County including Comstock (Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American 
Flat), Highlands (Virginia City Highlands and Highland Ranches), Lagomarsino, Lockwood-Mustang, 
McCarran, Painted Rock, Northeast, and Mark Twain.  The County is considered rural but includes areas 
with high-tech industry.  

PLAN AREA 

This Plan will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 331.160, the Public 
Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration of the system which includes 
transmission and storage of water in Carson City, Washoe County, and Storey County.  The Marlette 
System provides water to the County for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The 
County also delivers water to residents of Silver City which is in Lyon County.  The remaining populated 
areas within the Plan Area are supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (GID) 
and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can be 
considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
x January 2023

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas 



Comstock

Highlands

Mark Twain

Tracy
Segment

(083)

Dayton
Valley
(103)

Truckee
Meadows

(087)

Truckee River

Ca
rs

on
 R

ive
r

Lyon

Storey

Washoe

Carson City

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure2.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 2: Plan Area With Select Water Features
1 " = 15,000 '

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

¯ 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

Legend
Plan Area

Plan Sub Area

County Boundaries

NDWR Groundwater Basins

Rivers

Streams

Virginia City

Gold Hill

American Flats

(Includes High Ranch)



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
xii January 2023

NEED FOR A WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply.  In addition, the contract 
between the County and the State for continued delivery of water from the Marlette System is currently 
being negotiated for renewal.  This Plan will review current water demands within the Plan Area and project 
water demands into the future based on buildout scenarios.  This analysis will assist the County in 
determining the amount of water which may be needed to serve customers in the future and ensure that 
there are adequate supplies to do so.   

This Plan is the County’s first water resource plan, and it is recommended that this Plan be updated every 
five to ten years to address issues due to potential changes in Nevada water law, economic growth, land use 
planning, water quality, and water quantity.  Additionally, NRS 278.0228 requires that governing bodies 
update their water resource plan no less than every ten years.  This Plan will provide the basis for future 
updates and help guide the County in decisions related to water resources including future investments in 
the water system and water sources.  

The County completed its Master Plan in 2016.  The 2016 Master Plan states, “Nearly every community in 
the county is faced with water supply challenges.” Water resource planning is tied directly to master 
planning efforts, and these two planning efforts are intended to complement each other.  Information from 
the 2016 Master Plan was used in this Plan.   



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources, and Management 

FINAL Storey County
1 January 2023

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize current water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. As described in the Introduction, the Plan Area consists of the populated 
areas in the southern portion of the County including Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches and Mark Twain Estates and is shown on Figure 2. The Storey County Water 
System currently serves customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill and delivers water to Silver City in Lyon 
County. Other communities within the Plan Area rely on individual wells to meet demands. This chapter 
presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to establish estimates and assumptions which will 
form the basis for the Plan.  

2.0 SUMMARY OF COMMUNITIES 

The Comstock Area, located at the southern end of the County, includes Virginia City, the Divide, Gold 
Hill and American Flat. This area was originally developed in the late 1800s and considerable measures are 
employed to maintain the rich historical character while promoting business, tourism, and the rural Nevada 
lifestyle. The Highlands Area, located north of the Comstock, is a residential estate community surrounded 
by undeveloped lands. This is a rural community which is relatively close to the conveniences of the Reno 
metropolitan area. There are no commercial uses within the Highlands. The Mark Twain Area is also a 
residential estate community surrounded by undeveloped lands and is at the southern border of the County. 
Mark Twain abuts Lyon County and is near the growing suburban area of Dayton. 

STOREY COUNTY WATER CUSTOMERS 

The County currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of customers (666) are 
within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County serves approximately 
207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential.  

ESTIMATED POPULATION WITHIN PLAN AREA 

The County’s 2016 Master Plan includes a population summary based on data from 2014. This information 
is reproduced in Table 5 below along with an estimate of current population provided by the State 
Demographer. The population estimate for Storey County for 2019 was 4,258. The Demographer also 
provides estimates for Gold Hill and Virginia City. The 2019 population of the other areas in Table 5 were 
estimated based on the Demographer’s information and 2014 population estimates from the 2016 Master 
Plan. The estimated population of the Plan Area is 3,346 persons.  



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
2 January 2023

Table 5: Current Population and Household Size 
Area 2014 2019 

Storey County 3,974 4,258 

Gold Hill 201 206 

Virginia City 832 904 

Highlands 1,398 1,498

Mark Twain 689 738 

Lockwood/River 979 1,049

Household Size 2.1 2.1 
i Sources: (Storey County, 2016); (Demographer, 2020) 

3.0 WATER RESOURCES 

The major water supply within the Plan Area is the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System). The 
Marlette System is owned and operated by the State of Nevada (State). Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) 331.160, the Public Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration 
of the system which includes transmission and storage of water in Storey County, Carson City, and Washoe 
County. Currently, Carson City and Storey County are the only two customers of the Marlette System.  

The Marlette System provides water to the County to supply customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill. The 
County also delivers water to Silver City located in Lyon County. The remaining populated areas are 
supplied by individual domestic wells. 

4.0 WATER RIGHTS IN NEVADA 

The Nevada Division of Water Resources (NDWR) is the regulatory authority for water rights in the State 
of Nevada. The Nevada State Engineer (NSE), as head of this division, approves or denies water right 
applications, establishes limitations to water usage and manages dam safety operations within the State.  

WATER RIGHT PRIORITY AND APPROPRIATION STATUTES AND REGULATION 

The legal process to acquire water rights and transfer those rights to the subject property is defined by 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapters 533 and 534, Nevada Administrative Code (NAC), and internal 
office policy. All water, whether above or below the surface of the ground is owned by the public. Nevada 
water right law is based on the prior appropriation doctrine, otherwise known as “first in time, first in right.” 
By filing an application to appropriate through the office of the Nevada State Engineer (NSE), surface water 
resources have been appropriated since 1905 and groundwater resources in Nevada have been appropriated 
for use since 1939. The priority date assigned to each water right establishes what water rights can be 
exercised from a source depending on available water at a given time.  

Another pillar of Nevada water right law is the concept of beneficial use. Beneficial use is the basis, 
measure, and limit to the water right. This means that only the portion of the water right that can be used 
beneficially is established as the perfected, or certificated water right. To allow water right owners 
flexibility to place their rights to beneficial use, there is a process to change or move the permitted location 
of these water rights to meet project demands. Furthermore, if the beneficial use of the right was initiated 
prior to the 1905 or 1939 appropriation dates for surface water and groundwater, respectively, those rights 
are deemed vested water rights and are thus more senior than rights appropriated after 1905 or 1939.  

For general purposes, statutes for groundwater rights and surface water rights are in separate chapters in 
the NRS. While these rights have generally been administered separately, current legislative actions have 
established conjunctive use management requirements that the Nevada State Engineer must adhere to. For 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
3 January 2023

the purposes of this Plan, we will consider groundwater rights and surface water rights separate, though 
long-term water right management should consider future conjunctive use implications. 

NEVADA STATE ENGINEER REGULATORY ACTIONS 

Dayton Valley and the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basins are within the Plan Area. The NSE has 
designated both groundwater basins under Orders 471 and 688 in Dayton Valley and Order 705 in the 
Tracey Segment. These designation Orders provide the NSE additional regulatory tools to manage 
groundwater appropriation such as designation of preferred/non-preferred uses and processing applications 
out of filing order.  

The Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin is considered over-appropriated. NSE Ruling 5823 established the 
perennial yield between 8,000 and 20,000 acre-feet annually (AFA) and approximately 24,495 AFA are 
currently appropriated. The Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin is nearing the perennial yield of 11,500 
AFA according to NSE Ruling 5747, with approximately 11,230 AFA appropriated. For planning purposes, 
the ability to obtain new appropriations for groundwater in either hydrographic basin is considered limited. 

WATER RIGHT OWNERSHIP 

Water rights in the Marlette System have been held by different parties over the years. Reports of 
Conveyance which update water right ownership must be submitted to NDWR, and deeds that transfer 
ownership are recorded in the respective County Recorder’s office. Water right ownership processes are 
important to understand especially as the County does not own the water rights to the Marlette System. 
Currently, the State owns all water rights associated with Marlette System approved for use within the 
County which are described below. Each of the water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as 
Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to 
locations not currently included as the place of use, an application to expand the place of use would have 
to be submitted and approved by the NSE.  

5.0 MARLETTE WATER SYSTEM 

The Marlette System dates back to the 1870’s and includes several water sources. The following is a 
summary of the Marlette System sources and water rights.  

FRANKTOWN CREEK DECREE 

The Franktown Creek Decree defines the water rights to streams on the eastern slope of the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains which are associated with the Marlette System. The decree is the result of a 1951 petition by the 
Franktown Creek Irrigation District to the State Engineer to determine the relative rights of claimants to the 
waters of Franktown Creek. At the time of the decree, the water rights to the Marlette System were held by 
Marlette Lake Company. The decree states that the water source for Marlette Lake Company is, “Hobart 
Creek (tributary to Franktown Creek) and certain waters in the Franktown Creek Watershed proper having 
sources in the eastern slopes of the Sierra Nevada Mountains at and above Red House” (Franktown Creek 
Decree, 1961). The decree also states that the Marlette Lake Company had the right to store water in the 
110-acre foot Hobart Reservoir. Water stored in Hobart Reservoir is released to supplement flows in the
natural channel. The amount of the Claim was limited to 10 cubic feet per second (cfs) based on the capacity
of the flumes downstream from Red House (Affirmation, 1963). This water right is described as Franktown
Decree Claim V-02419 and is deemed “vested” since the beneficial use of this water right was initiated
prior to March 1, 1905. The specific priority and volume for these rights will be determined in the future
should Franktown Creek undergo an adjudication.



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
4 January 2023

MARLETTE LAKE WATER RIGHTS 

Marlette Lake was originally constructed in 1873. A tunnel was constructed through Herlan Peak to connect 
Marlette Lake to Franktown Creek and Hobart Reservoir. Marlette Lake had an initial capacity of about 
3,400 acre-feet (AF) when it was constructed in 1873. The dam was subsequently raised to its current height 
in 1959 to bring the capacity to approximately 11,500 AF. Prior to purchase by the State, discussed further 
below, there were no documented water rights associated with Marlette Lake as the original construction 
pre-dated the statutory requirements to file an application. Marlette Lake water rights are currently subject 
to an agreement between the State’s Building and Grounds Department and Nevada Department of Wildlife. 
The agreement limits annual diversions to maintain a minimum water surface elevation necessary for 
spawning of the for the Lahontan Cutthroat Trout and could impact water resource availability should the 
County require water from Marlette Lake in any given year. 

MARLETTE SYSTEM SURFACE WATER RIGHTS 

In 1963, Marlette Lake Company sold all property, water rights, easements and improvements associated 
with the Marlette System to the State. This included Marlette Lake, all water rights included in the 
Franktown Creek Decree (i.e., waters above Red House Diversion Dam and Hobart Lake), Five Mile 
Reservoir and waters of Mill Creek, Tunnel Creek and others draining into the North Flume. Following the 
purchase of these rights, the State filed additional water right applications. A summary of these water rights 
is provided in Table 6. 



W
at

er
 R

es
o

u
rc

e 
P

la
n

 
W

at
er

 D
em

an
d

s,
 S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

FI
N

AL
 

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y 
5 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
23

 

T
ab

le
 6

: M
ar

le
tt

e 
Sy

st
em

 W
at

er
 R

ig
ht

s 

O
w

ne
r 

of
 

R
ec

or
d 

A
pp

 
C

er
t 

Pr
io

ri
ty

 
D

at
e 

A
pp

 
St

at
us

 
So

ur
ce

 
So

ur
ce

 
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n 
T

yp
e 

of
 

U
se

 

D
iv

. 
R

at
e 

(c
fs

) 

D
ut

y 
(A

FA
/S

) 
A

F 
St

or
ag

e 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

7
 

8
8

5
5

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

S
tr

ea
m

 
M

ar
le

tt
e 

C
re

ek
 a

n
d

 
L

ak
e 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

9
0

.7
9

 
3

,0
0

0
 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

6
 

--
  

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

P
er

m
it

 
S

tr
ea

m
 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
C

re
ek

 a
n

d
 

L
ak

e 
an

d
 

T
ri

b
u

ta
ry

 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

3
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
0

 

H
ob

ar
t D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

6
 

8
8

0
1

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

U
n

d
er

g
ro

u
n

d
T

u
n

n
el

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.7
1

0
 

5
1

4
.0

0
0

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

5
 

1
0

7
8

6
 

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

C
er

ti
fi

ca
te

 
U

n
d

er
g

ro
u

n
d

 
T

u
n

n
el

 
M

u
n

ic
ip

al
 

0
.8

3
6

 
6

3
1

.8
9

 
0

 

N
ev

ad
a 

S
ta

te
 

L
an

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

V
0

2
4

1
9

 
--

  
1

/8
/1

8
7

1
 

D
ec

re
e 

S
tr

ea
m

 
H

o
b

ar
t 

C
re

ek
 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
1

0
.0

0
0

 
7

,2
4

0
.1

4
i  

-

i 
–

 N
o

t 
to

 e
x

ce
ed

. 
V

o
lu

m
e 

n
o

t 
sp

ec
if

ie
d

 i
n

 F
ra

n
k

to
w

n
 D

ec
re

e.
 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
6 January 2023

CONTRACT BETWEEN STATE OF NEVADA AND STOREY COUNTY 

As described in this section, all water rights for the Marlette System are owned by the State and 
administered by NPWD. The State has provided water to Storey County since 1963. Historically, the State 
has entered into 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System water. This is currently 
the only supply available to County water customers located in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. 
Currently, the County and the State are negotiating a new contract. While this occurs, the entities have 
agreed to operate under the terms of the prior contract dated October 23, 2002 (2002 Contract).  

The 2002 Contract includes a table summarizing the maximum amount of raw water to be supplied to the 
County each year through 2021. A portion of this information is reproduced in Table 7. It is important to 
note that this is for illustrative purposes only and does not represent any indication of current negotiations 
between the State and County.  

Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

6.0 WATER RIGHTS WITHIN STOREY COUNTY 

There are other water users within the southern portion of Storey County which rely on water rights to 
groundwater, springs, and small streams. These water rights are currently not permitted for municipal 
purposes and are instead for use by individuals or companies for mining and milling, stock water, irrigation, 
environmental, domestic, and quasi-municipal purposes. A more specific study or analysis is needed to 
determine if these rights may be available to the County for M&I uses in the future.  

TRACEY SEGMENT WATER RIGHTS 

The County is listed as the owner of two groundwater rights within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic 
Basin. These water rights are permitted for use in the Canyon General Improvement District (GID)1 water 
system, although the GID maintains a separate holding of rights which are used to provide service to its 
non-County facility customers. Permit No. 80870, and Permit 50553, Certificate No. 18224 are for quasi-
municipal and domestic uses to support County facilities and uses within the GID service area. These water 
rights represent approximately 48.5 AF in two production wells. For planning purposes, the balance of 
water rights above what is being used to support County facilities in the GID service area could be 
transferred to another location within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin. A more specific study or 
analysis is needed to determine the exact balance of these rights that may be available to the County for use 
in the basin. 

1 The canyon GID is outside of the Water Resource Plan study area. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
7 January 2023

DAYTON VALLEY WATER RIGHTS 

A review of water rights appropriated by Storey County in the Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin indicates 
four previous applications, which have been cancelled or denied, that sought water rights to support fire 
protection and storage for treated effluent. The applications and permits contain limited information as to 
the nature of the cancellation or denial, but several attempts to appropriate water since the 1980s may 
indicate a need for this water.  

Recommendations for applying for and permitting water rights to support fire protection needs and 
distribution of treated effluent will be developed in subsequent chapters. 

DOMESTIC GROUNDWATER USE 

A water right is not required for a domestic well to serve a single-family dwelling. Groundwater use for 
domestic purposes is not to exceed 2 AF per year. There are portions of three hydrographic basins within 
the Plan area including Tracy Segment, Dayton Valley and a small portion of the Truckee Meadows as 
shown in Figure 2. NDWR documents the number of domestic wells within each groundwater basin and 
then estimates domestic use at 1 AF per year for each domestic well. Based on current County GIS data, 
the number of single-family residences with a domestic well within the Plan area was determined, and the 
same assumption of 1 AF per year for each domestic well was applied. Table 8 summarizes the volume of 
committed groundwater resources associated with domestic wells2 (i.e., 2 AF per domestic well) and the 
estimated volume pumped for the entire basin and for the portions within the Plan area.  

Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates 

Basin 
NDWR Values for Basini Plan Area Estimatesii 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Dayton Valley 3,012 1,506 744 372 

Tracy Segment 1,460 730 1,064 532

Truckee Meadows 3,498 1,749 80 40 
i This information is based on the Water Year 2017 Pumpage Inventories for the Dayton Valley, Tracy Segment 

and Truckee Meadows Hydrographic Basins. 
ii The Plan Area estimates are based on a query of the NDWR Well Log Database dated November 15, 2019 and 

downloaded from the NDWR website on February 26, 2020 along with Storey County assessor parcel data. 

2 Domestic wells are exempt from water right permitting requirements in the State of Nevada unless the maximum 
demand of the user exceeds 2 acre-feet annually. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
8 January 2023

7.0 WATER PRODUCTION AND FACILITIES 

As described above, the County’s primary water source is surface water which originates from the Marlette 
System which consists of two reservoirs, several catchment basins, and a diversion dam on Hobart Creek 
at Red House. The current capacity of the flumed pipe diverting water at Red House Dam is about 7 cfs. 
From the Red House Division Dam, the pipe discharges to the Lakeview Tank. At this location, water can 
be directed towards Carson City or Storey County.  

STOREY COUNTY WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES 

Water for the County is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to a pipeline. The 
County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under Interstate 580 at 
Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile Reservoir and/or the 
Five-Mile Tank. The transmission main from the Lakeview Tank to Five-Mile is currently operated at a 
flow rate up to 320 gallons per minute3 (gpm). During normal operations, the transmission line discharges 
directly to Five-Mile Reservoir which fills the tank or continues northeast to the Bullion Tank then through 
the water treatment plant at the south end of Virginia City.  

The water treatment plant is a filtration plant used to meet surface water treatment requirements and has a 
capacity of 1.2 MGD4. The treated water is then pumped into the Hillside storage tanks. From the Hillside 
tanks, the water flows directly into the distribution system and can also fill the Taylor Tank and Divide 
Tank. Water from the Divide Tank is used to supply Gold Hill and also fills the Silver City Tank to supply 
the community of Silver City. 

STOREY COUNTY SYSTEM DEMANDS 

Within the County’s system, water flows are metered at numerous locations that can be considered when 
analyzing the system demands. For the purpose of this Plan, water meter data for deliveries to the County’s 
system at the Lakeview Tank (source), water treatment plant and customer service connections (end user) 
were reviewed and analyzed.  

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery 

Raw water from the Marlette System is measured by a flow meter at the Lakeview Tank. The County is 
billed for raw water provided by the State based on readings at this meter. Table 9 summarizes raw water 
deliveries to the County during 2016 through 2019. During this time, the County used an average of 
approximately 221 AF per year.  

3 If 320 gpm were to be delivered continuously, this would be equal to approximately 516 AFA. The maximum 
capacity of the siphon is estimated at 738 gpm (1,190 afa) but the flows are throttled down with valves below the 
Lakeview Tank. 
4 Based on design capacity flow rate of 875 gpm. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
9 January 2023

Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) 
Year Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total 
2016 12.3 11.2 13.3 14.3 16.8 26.7 34.5 30.9 27.3 16.9 11.6 12.0 227.7 
2017 11.9 11.1 13.0 11.3 18.0 30.5 33.1 31.4 25.3 16.8 13.2 18.4 234.0 
2018 11.7 7.5 13.0 14.4 19.4 27.7 31.8 34.2 25.8 18.6 11.4 9.6 225.1 
2019 9.0 9.4 9.9 10.6 18.9 23.6 28.1 27.0 23.1 16.5 11.8 9.1 196.9 
Avg. 11.2 9.8 12.3 12.6 18.2 27.1 31.8 30.9 25.4 17.2 12.0 12.3 220.9 

7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production 

The water treatment plant was constructed in 1997 and consists of three filters. Figure 3 shows the monthly 
average flow rate through the water treatment plant during 2016 through 2019. The average production at 
the treatment plant during this time period was 210 AF per year which equals an average flow rate of 131 
gpm. The monthly average treatment plant flows also provide the seasonal demand curve. This seasonal 
demand curve is typical and shows increased system demand during warmer months when yard irrigation 
occurs and tourist activity increases. Reduced demand occurs during the cooler, non-irrigation months when 
tourism slows off its summer and fall peak. Maximum summer production is 2.9 times greater than 
minimum wintertime production. 

Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) 

7.2.3 Customer Meter Records  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered. Currently, the County Public 
Works shop and the sewer treatment plant are not metered. Table 10 through Table 12 summarizes the daily 
average and maximum water use, in addition to the flow rate, based on monthly customer records provided 
by the County for 2018 through 2021. The average demand during this time period was approximately 
153,100 gallons per day, or 106.3 gpm. Residential customers accounted for 60 percent of this demand, at 
92,800 gallons, or 64.5 gpm, on average. Commercial customers accounted for the other 40 percent at 
60,300 gallons, or 41.8 gpm, on average. There was approximately 25 percent of the non-peak daily flow 
limit from the Marlette System, in 2020.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

Pr
od

uc
tio

n�
(g
pm

)



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
10 January 2023

Between 2018 and 2021, the average maximum day demand was 284,110 gallons per day, or 197.3 gpm. 
This was approximately 30 percent of the summertime daily flow limit from the Marlette System, in 2020. 
Residential customers used 167,600 gallons of maximum day demand, on average, or 116.4 gpm. 
Commercial customers used 116,500 gallons of maximum day demand, equating to 80.9 gpm, on average.  

Table 10: Residential Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 
2018 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

2019 84.1 58.4 158.6 110.1

2020 95.4 66.2 154.4 107.2

2021 103.8 72.1 179.9 124.9

Average 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

2019 53.1 36.9 96.3 66.9

2020 62.1 43.1 122.4 85.0

2021 70.2 48.8 144.6 100.4

Average 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

Table 12: Total Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

2019 137.2 95.3 254.9 177.0

2020 157.5 109.4 276.8 192.2

2021 174.0 120.9 324.5 225.3

Average 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

WATER DEMAND FACTORS 

Water demands for a system are typically presented in four ways: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD),

� Average Day Demand (ADD),

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD), and



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
11 January 2023

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD).

For the purposes of this Plan, system water demand factors are based on the WTP flow meter data. As stated 
above, the average production at the WTP, or AAD, was 210 AF per year. Therefore, the average flow rate 
(ADD) during the study period of 2016 through 2019 was 131 gpm. Based on the monthly flow data 
provided, the daily flow during the maximum month was 1.75 times greater than the average day flow. 
Because daily data are not available, a more conservative peaking factor of 2.0 is used for this Plan. PHD 
is also based on an assumed PHD peaking factor of 4.0 x ADD. Table 13 summarizes the system demands 
which will be used in this Plan.  

Table 13: System Demands 
System Demand Demand Volume or Flow Peaking Factor 

AAD 210 AF per year N/A 

ADD 131 gpm N/A

MDD 262 gpm 2.0 x ADD 

PHD 524 gpm 4.0 x ADD 

Based on the customer meter analysis presented in Section 7.2.3, the average water consumption for 
residential customers is 0.17 AF per year while commercial customers average 0.33 AF per year. An 
average connection demand of 0.30 AF (0.19 gpm or 268 gpd) per residential connection and 0.50 AF (0.31 
gpm or 446 gpd) per commercial connection will be used in this Plan to estimate future water demands.  

UNACCOUNTED FOR WATER 

Unaccounted for water (UAFW) is the difference between the quantity of water purchased/produced and 
the quantity of water delivered to customers or billed. UAFW is not the same as water loss, as losses are 
only a component of UAFW. Figure 4 shows the percentage of revenue water which is the counterpart to 
UAFW and is calculated by dividing the customer meter volume by raw water deliveries. From 2016 
through 2019, revenue water fluctuated between 65 and 75 percent on an annual basis, with a non-weighted 
average of 70 percent.  

There are numerous factors that can contribute to UFAW or non-revenue water including waterline leaks, 
evaporative losses at Five-Mile Reservoir5, process losses at the water treatment plant, system flushing, 
unmetered connections, fire hydrants and unmetered construction water usage. The Divide Reservoir1, 
which holds 1.5 million gallons of treated water and is used for fire protection, is another connection which 
is not metered. The Divide Reservoir is located in Virginia City and is on an automatic fill which regularly 
offsets evaporation, and larger refills occur following use for fire protection. In addition, during the period 
of 2016 through 2019, several large construction projects took place including a sewer system improvement 
project, a water main extension/replacement project and construction of the courthouse parking lot with 
retaining walls. All of these would contribute to the volume of unmetered or unbilled water. It is 
recommended that the County pursue a comprehensive water loss analysis or audit to confirm the primary 
contributor(s) to system non-revenue water and reduce this volume below 15 percent of all water purchased 
from the Marlette Water System. 

5 Average annual evaporative losses at the Five-Mile and Divide Reservoirs are estimated at 1.24 and 0.74 acre-feet, 
respectively. Combined, these losses make up less than one percent of average annual raw water deliveries. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
12 January 2023

Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water 

WATER STORAGE FACILITIES 

The County uses non-potable and potable water storage facilities to operate the water system. Table 14 
summarizes the capacity of each of the tanks and reservoirs in the County’s System. The potable water 
tanks are designed to provide operational, emergency and fire storage (see NAC 445A.6674 through 6675); 
however, the Divide Reservoir is used to store water for wildland fire protection purposes only. Additional 
information and analysis regarding the benefit of water storage is provided in Chapter 2.  

Table 14: Water Storage Facilities 
Tank Raw/Potable Operational Capacity (gal) 

Five Mile Reservoir Raw 5,600,000 

Five Mile Tank Raw 500,000 

Bullion Tank Raw 1,400,000 

Total Raw Water Storage =  7,500,000 
Hillside Tank No. 1 Potable 500,000 

Hillside Tank No. 2 Potable 500,000 

Taylor Tank Potable 200,000 

Divide Tank Potable 115,000 

Silver City Tank Potable 160,000 

Total Potable Water Storage =  1,475,000 
Divide Reservoir i Potable 1,552,000

i The Divide Reservoir is located at the south end of Virginia City. The reservoir is filled with potable water; 
however, it is currently only used for wildland fire protection purposes only and does not contribute to system 
storage volumes. 

70%
65%

69%
75%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2016 2017 2018 2019



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
13 January 2023

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to assess the availability, capacity and quality of each water source used 
within the Plan Area as shown on Figure 2. Additionally, this chapter identifies risks associated with each 
source and provides strategies to mitigate those potential threats. This chapter also includes an analysis of 
remaining capacity of Storey County Water System facilities.  

2.0 WATER RESOURCE AVAILABILITY AND MANAGEMENT 

Water resources within the Plan Area are less than current demand. The County lies in the rain shadows 
created by the Sierra Nevada Mountains and the Virginia Range. Average annual precipitation in the Plan 
Area is approximately 12.5 inches per year based on a Western Regional Climate Center station located in 
Virginia City (WRCC, 2020). Annual recharge of area aquifers is limited due to inadequate elevation of the 
Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The primary source of recharge occurs within the 
upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge 
from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge depending on the slope and soil 
permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the mountain block without significant 
impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources are impacted by mountain block 
(“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson River watershed.  

As a result of significant mining activities in the second half of the 19th century, an external water source 
was brought in to supply domestic and mining uses. This source of water is surface water, supplied by the 
Marlette Water System from the eastern slope of the Sierra in the Tahoe Basin and is conveyed through a 
reverse siphon transmission pipeline for approximately 7 miles. This section of the Plan will address the 
availability of water and current management practices for these existing resources.  

ESTIMATED USE WITHIN PLAN AREA 

Recent water use in the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw 
water from the Marlette System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is 
unmetered groundwater used by private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic 
well it is estimated that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the 
American Flat area.  

SURFACE WATER 

The annual volume of water available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. 
Based on the information in Chapter 1, the County can use up to 487.7 AF during 2020. This is more than 
double the County Water System’s current demand. Because water from the Franktown Decree can also be 
supplemented by water stored in Marlette Lake, the Marlette Water System is a very reliable water source 
for Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. However, the maximum volume of water available from the 
Marlette Water System is restricted by transmission pipeline capacity and impacted by annual snowpack, 
fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits. 

Future water demands, including a buildout scenario, will be analyzed as part of this Plan in chapter 3. This 
analysis will assist the County in determining the future needs within the Plan Area. Due to groundwater 
limitations described in Section 2.3, the County must pursue amending its Contract with the State to allow 
delivery of water to American Flat, the Highlands and Mark Twain.  



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
14 January 2023

GROUNDWATER 

In total, Storey County overlies portions of six groundwater basins with the Plan Area overlying portions 
of four basins. Most of the Highlands area lies within the Tracy Segment Basin (083) and the majority of 
the Comstock and Mark Twain areas lie within the Dayton Valley (103) Basin. Because of limited recharge 
and water right appropriations exceeding perennial yields, groundwater development within the Plan Area 
is limited to predominantly domestic wells. Groundwater availability for the wells varies annually 
depending on precipitation, pumping, and corresponding water in groundwater storage. As identified in the 
chapter 1, future groundwater development will be discussed for the Plan Area and not the entire County. 

The Highlands area currently has approximately 588 domestic wells ranging in screen depths from about 
53 to 1,500 feet below ground surface. A significant portion of the wells in the area have been deepened 
over time as the more wells that are added to the area require a greater amount of groundwater from the 
aquifer, thus resulting in a lowering of the water table. Extended dry periods including between the period 
between 2013 through 2015 also generally resulted in less water availability. More specifically, Highlands 
area residents have experienced drawdown ranging upwards of 240-feet in the past requiring wells to be 
deepened or replaced. 

The United States Geologic Survey (USGS) has been contracted to conduct a study of this area and has 
presented preliminary data in 2019 and 2020. Initial data indicates that groundwater levels have declined 
approximately 50 to 165 feet within the past two decades (Smith, 2020) in some areas. The study will also 
evaluate water level trends in the Highlands, develop water table and water level change maps, characterize 
the fractured volcanic rock aquifer(s)6 hydraulic properties and estimate recharge rates. The resulting 5-
year study, expected in 2022, will provide valuable data that will assist the County in water resource 
planning. The current groundwater availability in the Highlands is inadequate to support current demands 
and will not be able to support the buildout condition of the existing lots with cost effective wells. Some 
residents are currently relying on trucked water and private storage tanks. Although the upper elevations of 
the Highlands watershed may allow for natural recharge, capturing or diverting precipitation from surface 
water runoff for local recharge is either not allowed7 or is already included in determining the perennial 
yield of the basin and would not result in any additional appropriative right(s). A comprehensive study of 
the water quality in the Highlands area has not been completed to date, although data which has been made 
available indicates groundwater in the Highlands can have high concentrations of constituents including, 
but not limited to total dissolved solids and iron. In fact, most Highlands residents employ some form of 
filtration treatment technology in their homes for the removal of iron from their domestic well. 

The Mark Twain area currently has approximately 333 domestic wells ranging in depths from about 80 to 
700 feet below ground surface. The area is proximal to Dayton, Nevada which relies on municipal and 
domestic production wells that produce groundwater from the same alluvial aquifer. Some wells in the 
Mark Twain area north of the alluvial basin require wells completed in fractured rock aquifers that are 
typically more limited in capacity and recharge than the alluvial aquifer. Like the Highlands, extensive 
water quality data does not exist for this area, although wells adjacent to this area have not meet water 
quality standards required for community water systems in the past. Residents in this area have experienced 
wells going dry when the total depth of the well is 170-feet or less.    

The Comstock area includes an area commonly referred to as American Flat, which presently supports 
approximately 15 domestic wells. Currently, a mine and heap-leach facility is located in American Flat. A 
company purchased residences in the area to house mine workers and guests. Originally, American Flat 

6 Volcanic rock aquifers are known to offer reduced water storage capacity and provide very limited recharge as 
compared to aquifers in other geologic units. 
7 A single surface water permit was found for Long Valley Creek for industrial purposes. Any additional appropriation 
would need to ensure that this senior right would not be negatively impacted by the proposed use. No surface water 
rights associated with Lagomarsino Creek were found on the NDWR database. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
15 January 2023

was part of the County water system and received treated surface water from the Marlette System. In 1964, 
American Flat was excised from the County water services and is now supported by groundwater through 
two domestic wells. With a total of 44 domestic wells lying within the Comstock area the amount of 
groundwater being used is small. Also, hydrogeology characteristics indicate that the costs associated with 
drilling higher capacity production wells will exceed the benefits that would be realized by developing 
groundwater resources in this area. Additionally, water quality in the Comstock is suspected to generally 
not meet drinking water maximum contaminant levels due to hydrothermal mineralization and historic (i.e., 
19th century) anthropogenic contamination from mining processes. A current liability for the Storey County 
Water System is the absence of any formal agreement for providing water service to the community of 
Silver City (Lyon County). It is strongly recommended that Storey County and Lyon County work together 
to enter into an agreement which clearly defines Storey County’s responsibility(s) to provide water service 
to future development in Silver City. 

Because all existing wells in the Plan Area are domestic wells, which are owned and operated by private 
residents, the County’s ability to have influence on the ongoing management of groundwater use may be 
limited. In the 2016 Master Plan, the County developed many objectives and policies regarding 
groundwater use within the Plan Area and it is recommended that the County enforce and build on these 
policies to protect the sustainability of current groundwater resources. The County shall provide education 
and guidance to private landowners that production from existing domestic wells in the Virginia Highlands 
is not sustainable and deepening of domestic wells is a cyclic, never-ending process. The County could 
require individual landowners to demonstrate that their proposed domestic well will not negatively impact 
adjacent landowners by enforcing a policy such as: 

Policy: If a proposed domestic well is to be installed within a distance of approximately 1 
mile of an existing domestic well(s), then water level data for existing well(s) within 1 mile 
of the proposed well should be reviewed and determined to have an annual average 
drawdown of less than 0.25 feet per year for a 10-year period. If the annual average 
drawdown is determined to be greater than 0.25 feet per year, drilling of additional 
domestic wells within the one-mile radius should not be allowed due to impacts to existing 
groundwater users. Additionally, after the installation of any new domestic well, water 
level data shall be collected and provided annually to the County. Water level trends should 
indicate an average steady decline of no greater 0.25 feet in the new domestic well for each 
of the past 10 years prior to the site being deemed sustainable for domestic use. If the well 
is not found to be sustainable, the residence will be required to abandon the well and receive 
water from an external source (i.e., delivery truck). The County reserves the right to 
increase or decrease the proposed allowable rate of 0.25 feet per year as aquifer conditions 
change over time. 

Another proposed policy which will improve the sustainability of local aquifers and provide valuable data 
for the long-term understanding of aquifer conditions is the implementation of water meters on domestic 
wells. The proposed policy should include the following provisions: 

Policy: Unless the residence is granted a waiver by Storey County, all domestic well users 
must install a meter to measure all water produced by the well. The meter must comply 
with County specifications and provide electronic direct read transfer of data to County 
Public Works equipment. The meters are to be used for quantifying the capacity of the 
limited aquifers in the County. The County may also use the meter data to enforce state 
limitations for the production of groundwater (i.e., 2 acre-feet annually maximum) or any 
future restrictions to domestic groundwater production. 

Per Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, land subdivision applications must also demonstrate that a 
sufficient volume of uncommitted water exists to serve the needs of the development as well as evidence 
that the use of water for the development will not adversely impact existing surrounding residents, 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
16 January 2023

properties and uses. Procurement of the necessary water is not required until filing for final map at which 
point the sufficiency of the rights will be reviewed by the County and NDWR. This policy is beneficial to 
future groundwater sustainability. It is also recommended that the County continue to develop their 
groundwater management plan, through studies like this plan and by participating in more specific studies, 
to guide groundwater use in these areas. See appendix A for supporting information. 

3.0 THREATS TO EXISTING AND FUTURE WATER RESOURCES 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its Storey County Water System customers, it must 
consider any potential changes which may affect its water source and supply. Additionally, residents outside 
of the Water System’s service area must also be aware of potential risks. The risks and threats presented in 
this section are typically out of a water supplier’s and private well owner’s control; however, proper 
management and planning can mitigate their impacts. This section identifies potential threats to water 
supplies within the Plan Area. Recommendations as to how the County and residents can mitigate these 
threats are discussed in this chapter and in chapter 3.  

DROUGHT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

The Storey County Water System’s only source of water is from the Sierra Nevada Mountains. The amount 
of water available to the County system through the Marlette Water System is directly dependent on 
seasonal storms and the snowpack on the East Slope of the Tahoe Basin and in the Marlette/Hobart Lake 
watershed and existing pipeline capacity at the siphon.  Extended periods of below average precipitation 
are known to occur in the Tahoe Basin and on the eastern side of the Sierra Nevada which have the potential 
to reduce the amount of water available in any given year. However, this condition is mitigated by the 
upstream Marlette and Hobart storage reservoirs.  

Extended periods of dry weather are especially known to affect the availability of groundwater within the 
Plan Area. As mentioned previously, the drought which occurred from 2013 through 2015 resulted in 
declining groundwater levels within the Virginia Highlands. Some homeowners had to deepen their wells 
to be able to pump the groundwater in this area. Drought also affects the Mark Twain area and the Dayton 
Valley. Groundwater in this area is affected by flows in the Carson River which has limited upstream 
storage resulting. Below average precipitation in the Carson River Watershed results in decreased surface 
and subsurface flows through the Dayton Valley which can impact groundwater levels.  

In addition to droughts, which are temporary, climate change is expected to have lasting effects on the 
availability of future water supplies. Climate is used in reference to prevailing weather conditions in an area 
over a long period of time. No climate study or evaluation was undertaken for the purpose of this Plan; 
however, sources were reviewed and referenced regarding climate change and climate predictions. The 
California Department of Water Resources (CDWR) released a report entitled California Climate Science 
and Data for Water Resources Management. Although this report does not include Nevada, it does include
the Tahoe and Carson Basins as part of the North Lahontan hydrologic region8. CDWR summarized the 
key climate vulnerabilities for the North Lahontan region as:  

� Increased air and water temperatures would place additional stress on sensitive ecosystems and
species;

� Loss of snowpack storage may reduce reliability of surface water supplies and result in greater
demand on groundwater resources;

� Magnitude and frequency of extreme precipitation events may increase, resulting in greater flood
risk; and

8 The Marlette Water System is directly adjacent to the North Lahontan hydrologic region which is bounded by the 
eastern border of the State of California. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
17 January 2023

� High temperature and longer dry seasons would increase wildfire risk.

Many of these vulnerabilities not only apply to the region of surface water supply in the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains but are also potential vulnerabilities in and around the Plan Area. CDWR provides a list of 
Resource Management Strategies that water suppliers can consider as tools to adapt to climate change. The 
following are CDWR recommended Resource Management Strategies for the climate vulnerabilities 
identified which are applicable to the County and Plan Area.  

� Urban Water Use Efficiency: Practices that maximize use of available water supplies by reducing
waste and increasing efficiency.

� Conveyance – Regional/Local: Improvement and maintenance of water conveyance systems to
improve system reliability, protect water quality, increase available water supplies, and provide
operational flexibility.

� Conjunctive Management and Groundwater Storage: Coordinated and planned use and
management of surface water and groundwater resources to maximize the availability and
reliability of water supplies.

� Surface Storage – Regional/Local: Human made, above-ground reservoirs to collect water for later
release when needed. Surface storage has played a key role where the quantity, timing and location
of water demand does not match the natural water supply availability.

� Drinking Water Treatment and Distribution: Development and maintenance of public water
treatment and distribution facilities. Reliability, quality, and safety of the raw water supplies are
critical to achieving this goal.

Although timing and magnitude of warming and other climate change factors are unknown, resource 
management strategies such those limited above will be useful considerations for climate change adaption. 
Through the County’s planning efforts, it will be critical to continue assessing potential climate change 
strategies and implement them as feasible and needed.  

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

As discussed throughout this chapter, the County’s water source(s) is governed by State and Federal 
regulatory guidelines, Nevada water rights law, the Franktown Decree and through agreements with the 
Marlette Water System. The water available to the County from the Marlette Water System is also utilized 
by other entities (e.g., Carson City, private irrigation companies) according to their appropriation and 
priority.  Additional parties, agreements and decrees could also influence the quantity and availability of 
water resources should the County pursue groundwater development within the Plan Area in the future. 

The NSE has the ability to regulate groundwater usage within a hydrographic basin by limiting water rights 
based on the priority dates of appropriations. If, in the NSE’s judgement, the hydrographic basin is over-
appropriated and being overdrawn, the NSE can issue a curtailment order. A curtailment9 order establishes 
which water rights can be exercised, and which cannot, to protect the long-term health of the aquifer. Being 
that the County’s current groundwater right holdings are limited, any future appropriations would be very 
junior in priority and would be at a greater risk for curtailment. This risk could be mitigated if the County 
chooses to purchase senior groundwater rights as opposed to filing for new appropriations.  

More importantly, the County should monitor the development of new regulations and determine whether 
they directly impact the County’s current water supply or not. Conjunctive use regulations are currently 
being developed in the Humboldt Regional Hydrographic Basin which could have an impact to future water 
resources the County may or may not pursue. While previous legislative sessions have resulted in 
conjunctive use management statements, there are currently no regulations to guide how groundwater and 

9 Domestic wells are also at risk to the curtailment process. Although bills including such provisions have not made it 
through past State of Nevada legislative sessions. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
18 January 2023

surface water interaction or conflict will work through the existing permitting process. If new conjunctive 
use management regulations are developed, it may impact the County’s ability to acquire, change and 
exercise permitted and certificated groundwater rights.   

Other potential regulatory actions that the County should consider include: 

� Modification to activities and uses which impact basin inflows and outflows.

� Future reduction in water quality maximum contaminant limits.

CONTAMINATION

The County is committed to providing a high level of service with its drinking water system and is dedicated 
to ensuring that level of service in the future. This section focuses on protection of source water quality, 
which is also of importance to private well owners, and ensuring that negative impacts to water quality 
from anthropogenic and natural sources are minimized to the greatest extent possible.  

3.3.1 Surface Water 

Due to the location of the surface water source, which is above any major roads or railways, the source is 
less vulnerable to contamination. However, the County should still be aware of possible contamination 
events including, but not limited to, turbidity events and algal blooms as opposed to toxic spills. The water 
treatment plant is designed to treat surface water but understanding and maintain the highest quality of 
water possible arriving at the plant is important.  

3.3.2 Groundwater 

Changes to water quality of the groundwater sources in the Plan Area can occur in two ways: 

1. The concentrations of naturally occurring constituents could change over time, or
2. Groundwater sources could become contaminated as a result of human activities.

Although the County does not currently utilize groundwater as a water source, constituents which could 
pose threats to the quality of groundwater are Arsenic, Gross Alpha, Uranium, Nitrate, Iron and Manganese. 
The County should encourage private well owners to send the County any water quality data to develop a 
database and monitor trends.  

3.3.3 Distribution System 

The County relies upon certified water treatment and distribution system operators who continually monitor 
water quality in the treatment and distribution systems. All testing and monitoring are done in conformance 
with established health and safety standards and under an operating permit with the Nevada Division of 
Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water. The County prepares an annual water quality 
Consumer Confidence Report which provides an overview of the previous year’s drinking water quality 
data for the Storey County Water System.  

CONVEYANCE INTERRUPTIONS 

The materials which make up the siphon and transmission main which delivers water from the Marlette 
Water System to the Plan Area are approximately 150 years old and known to have vulnerabilities. In 2018, 
a portion of the line experienced a leak which required emergency repair to ensure continued delivery of 
water to Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Although the County has 20 to 50 days10 of raw and 
potable water storage within its system, this event and others like it show the importance of regular 
monitoring and maintenance. Due to the age of the transmission main most parts or repairs must be 

10 Range in values is dependent on average or max day water use 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
19 January 2023

completed with custom fittings which are not only costly but require longer lead times. In order to increase 
system reliability and conveyance capacity it may become necessary to replace large portion of the siphon 
in the future.  

4.0 REMAINING CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A remaining capacity assessment of the System is a critical resource for the County to use to make future 
development determinations. The System’s capacity to convey and provide water to its customers and to 
future users is based on two primary factors: 

1. A System’s ability to operate within the parameters of Nevada Administrative Code (NAC)
regulations; and,

2. Proper allocation of water rights with the NSE.

This section will focus on the existing System capacity and will convert remaining capacity estimates into 
residential connection counts. Remaining capacity evaluations will be made on a combined supply and 
storage basis as described further below. Key assumptions used for this analysis include:   

� Water supply is based on 100% utilization of the siphon transmission main for a 24-hour period.
o The theoretical flow capacity of the siphon transmission main is 73811 gpm.

� Maximum fire demand is assumed to be 3,600 gpm for 2 hours for Virginia City and 1,500 gpm
for 2 hours each for Silver City and Gold Hill. The largest fire demand, 3,600 gpm for 2 hours, will
be used for the combined system analysis.

� Operating Storage is equal to the Average Day Demand (ADD) for 24 hours.

� Emergency Storage is 75% of the Operating Storage.

� The available potable storage within the system is assumed to be 1.475 Mgal12.

REMAINING STORAGE CAPACITY 

Typical capacity calculations use a combination of storage and supply to determine if a system meets NAC 
requirements. However, it is informative to analyze storage and supply capacity separately to better 
understand which of the two is the limiting factor in capacity. Current storage requirements are 762,000 
gallons out of the existing 1,475,000 gallons of storage capacity. Based on the Maximum Day Demand 
(MDD) and operations and emergency supply requirements, the remaining storage capacity can support an
additional 1,519 connections. This assumes that no water is being supplied via the siphon over a 24-hour
period.

The individual systems comprising the larger County system, vary in their storage capacities. The Virginia 
City system has ample storage, while both Gold Hill and Silver City have sufficient storage to meet demands 
as they are currently. This leads to the Virginia City storage providing the bulk capacity for the larger 
County system. 

REMAINING SUPPLY CAPACITY 

Currently, the siphon that provides water to the County System is not metered, so a flow rate has been 
calculated. The siphon that provides water to the County System is primarily 10-inch threaded steel pipe. 
The majority of the pipeline was installed around 1875, with portions of the siphon replaced over the years. 
Due to the age and massive pressures experienced by the siphon in places, the siphon is never operated at 
its full capacity. The siphon begins at the Lakeview Tank, which controls the water diversions to both 
Carson City and Virginia City. Flow to the County Systems is controlled by an actuated flow control valve. 

11 Value listed is the theoretical capacity of the siphon. See Section 4.2 for further information. 
12 For this analysis, the capacities of the Hillside Tanks are assumed to be their future capacity of 500,000 gal each. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
20 January 2023

This valve is never fully opened. Anecdotal evidence shows that the average flow seen in the siphon is 
approximately 320 gpm. The theoretical, calculated capacity of the pipeline is 738 gpm.  

Raw water is conveyed from the 5-Mile Reservoir to the Bullion tank in Virginia City by a 3-mile pipeline 
that is made up of a combination of newer 12-inch high-density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe and older 12-
inch ductile iron pipe. This pipeline is capable of conveying over 2,000 gpm of raw water to the water 
treatment plant. The water treatment plant serving the system is rated at 1.26 MGD. This equates to a flow 
rate of 875 gpm. Therefore, the limiting factor in the overall transmission of raw water to the system is the 
siphon at 738 gpm. A 738 gpm flow rate equates to 4,528 connections in the County system. Removing the 
existing connections, leaves us with a system capacity of 3,862 possible connections. 

Potable water is also transmitted from Virginia City to Gold Hill and then to Silver City. The Gold Hill 
system is fed by the Divide Tank off a separate 12-inch main. This pipe can convey up to 2,800 gpm if 
required. Silver City is fed by a single 4-inch main. This presents capacity issues in the system, as the main 
can only convey up to 315 gpm. Per the system hydraulic model, this flow rate is achieved when filling the 
Silver City Tank. 

REMAINING SYSTEM CAPACITY  

Minimum water system capacity requirements are established in NAC 445A sections 6672 through 66755. 
NAC 445A.6672(3) establishes specific water system capacity requirements for systems relying upon 
groundwater production wells to meet the following scenarios: 

(a) Maximum day demand + fire demand with all water sources functioning, or
(b) Average day demand + fire demand with the most productive well out of service

NAC 445A allows for a combination of water supply wells and storage to satisfy the requirements. Since 
Storey County does not rely on wells for supply, scenario (b) was excluded from this analysis, and it is 
assumed that scenario (a) provides the appropriate assessment of system capacity for the County. Table 15 
provides a summary of the available system capacity, storage requirements and excess storage capacity for 
the potable storage tanks in the County System. The analysis is based on a 24-hour period and considers 
the design ADD of 131 gpm as summarized in Table 15. It is assumed that each potable water tank is filled 
to its operational capacity at the beginning of the 24-hour analysis period. 

Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand13 686

Available System Capacity 2,161
 Fire Storage 432 1,729 

 Operating Storage 189 1,540 

 Emergency Storage 141 1,399 

Based on this analysis, the system has the source and storage capacity to meet the requirements of NAC 
445A.6672 and shows that there is a remaining system capacity of 1,399 kgal. Table 16 provides the 
capacity analysis considering the maximum number of additional connections based on the excess capacity 
shown in Table 16.  

13 Siphon flowrate of 738 gpm used for capacity calculations. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
21 January 2023

Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand7 -60

Available System Capacity 1,415
 Fire Storage 432 983 

 Operating Storage 562 421 

 Emergency Storage 421 0 

As shown, when the number of connections and resulting demands increase, the operating storage and 
emergency storage requirements increase correspondingly. Under the “MDD + Fire with All Sources” the 
existing supply infrastructure and potable storage tank system could support an additional 864 connections, 
assuming an average annual usage of 0.3 gpm per connection, without system expansion or improvement. 
This is the number of additional connections which results in a capacity balance of zero. For complete 
calculations, refer to Appendix B. 

Additional analysis was performed on the individual systems comprising the larger Storey County Water 
System. Separate storage and supply calculations for Virginia City, Gold Hill and Silver City were 
completed to better understand where specific capacity issues may arise, as well as understand the hydraulic 
relationship between the three systems. A summary of the results can be found below in Table 17. The 
complete calculations can be found in Appendix B. 

Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems 

System Total Storage 
(kgal) 

Supply in 
Excess of 

Demand (kgal) 

Total 
Required 

Storage (kgal) 

Capacity 
Balance 
(kgal) 

Capacity 
Remaining 

(EDUs) 
Virginia City 1,200 750 706 1,244 768 

Gold Hill 115 1,236 201 1,150 710 
Silver City 160 412 215 357 220 
Combined 1,475 686 761 1,398 864 

As shown, two of the three individual systems have similar remaining capacities. However, the Silver City 
system is limited by its small storage and supply in comparison to its total required storage. The primary 
limiting factor being the small amount of storage in the area and is also exacerbated by the fact that the 
system is supplied via a 4-inch water main from Gold Hill. This restriction in combination with the small 
storage greatly reduces the ability to serve future connections in the area. However, in practice the three 
systems are operated as a single system. This allows upstream storage in Virginia City and Gold Hill to 
help alleviate the supply and storage issues in Silver City. 

While the capacity remaining is represented in equivalent dwelling units (EDU), it does not require that all 
future development be comprised of residential uses. Rather, an EDU is a commonly used utility planning 
unit which is equal to the water demand of one single-family residence. If a proposed commercial or 
industrial development is projected to use ten times the amount of water as a single-family residence than 
that development would be allocated 10 EDUs of the remaining system capacity listed. It is recommended 
that the County require a proposed fixture unit count for all non-residential developments be provided at 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
22 January 2023

the time of parcel map approval and/or building permit in order to convert projected water demands back 
to an EDU basis and evaluate available system capacity. 

5.0 LONG-TERM STRATEGIES 

Protection of existing and future water resources should be of upmost importance for the County and its 
residents. However, the strategic management of the County’s resources becomes complicated due to the 
variety in water resource type (i.e., groundwater and surface water), the geographic distance between the 
communities in the Plan Area and the evolving regulatory environment, including Nevada water rights law. 
This section will review management approaches the County should consider both currently and in the 
future. 

 WATER RIGHTS 

5.1.1 Surface Water 

Storey County utilizes water from the Marlette Water System as its only source for providing water service 
to customers of the Storey County Water System. The Marlette Water System exercises water rights owned 
by the State of Nevada, under the Franktown Creek Decree which are contracted and delivered to the 
County. Because the County does not own any Decreed water rights, the delivery agreement and contract 
become especially important for dependable long-term water delivery. Furthermore, because the Marlette 
Water System is the sole source of water for the County system, the contract with the water system should 
allow for full utilization of the conveyance capacity of water system infrastructure and all for expansion to 
cover potential “growth” in the water system, especially in areas like the Highlands or Mark Twain where 
groundwater resources are limited.  

While improbable, the Carson River is another source of surface water which could provide water service 
should the County intertie their water system with Lyon County Dayton Utilities.  The County does not 
currently own any surface water rights associated with the Carson River system and it is not recommended 
for the County to purchase or accept dedication of Carson River rights at this time. The benefits and 
challenges of utilizing the Carson River as a future water source will be detailed in chapter 3.  

5.1.2 Groundwater 

The Plan Area overlies two primary hydrographic areas or basins from a water resource regulatory 
standpoint in the Tracy Segment and the Dayton Valley basin. Each of these areas has separate Orders and 
Rulings by the Nevada State Engineer that shape the regulatory options and environment the County must 
work within regarding groundwater resource development and use. For example, the Dayton Valley 
Hydrographic area has the benefit of a Domestic Well Credit Order (see page 23), whereas the Tracy 
Segment does not currently have that provision under the designation Order. Additionally, the County only 
owns less than 50 AF in the Tracey Segment with the point of diversion and place of use currently tied to 
the Canyon General Improvement District.  

Also discussed in Section 2.3, the availability of groundwater resources in both the Highlands and Mark 
Twain areas is extremely restricted and their ability to continuously meet domestic use demands has become 
more and more limited over the last 20 years. The following information is meant to provide a planning 
level summary of short and long-term alternatives which the County may consider when evaluating 
providing future groundwater resources to its residents. 

Change in Point of Diversion/Place of Use 

Storey County owns approximately 48.58 acre-feet within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin under 
Permit No. 50533, Certificate 18224, and 80870. These water rights currently support an elementary school, 
park, and the Lockwood Fire Station. The amount of water needed to support these facilities in the 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
23 January 2023

Lockwood area should be identified and allocated appropriately with the Canyon General Improvement 
District. Any remainder in right could then be utilized within the Tracey Segment to support other County 
purposes. The balance of any right which could be moved is not expected to be large enough to support 
new development or a new public water system in the Highlands. 

The future concept that this change could support could be to provide a single point of service within the 
Highlands community which residents whose wells had failed could access drinking water. This alternative 
may also require the construction of a new well, installation of water treatment equipment, construction of 
storage facilities, water system and water right permitting activities which are expected to range between 
1.2 and 5 million dollars14 and span 12 to 36 months. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Mark Twain area due to the lack of existing rights owned 
by the County in the Dayton Valley basin. 

Appropriate New Rights

An alternative to moving existing rights from one location to another is to file an application to appropriate 
new rights in either the Tracey Segment or Dayton Valley Basins. Review of the hydrographic basin 
summaries prepared by the NDWR show both the Tracey Segment and Dayton Valley as over-appropriated, 
with mining and milling identified as the preferred use in the Dayton Valley Basin. For these reasons, new 
appropriations for new municipal purposes should be considered unlikely. In the event a new appropriation 
is approved, it would be junior in priority date and would face additional challenges to be used to support 
to new development. Additionally, the infrastructure requirements (i.e., well, tank, distribution piping) 
proposed by the first alternative would still be required by this option as well. 

Purchase Water Rights 

Since new appropriations for groundwater are assumed to be limited based on total appropriation in each 
valley, purchasing existing water rights becomes the remaining option. Based on the cost associated with 
researching, confirming, purchasing, and developing these water rights, Farr West only recommends that 
the County pursue a water rights purchase for small quantities of rights to support existing development 
which may require a community water supply for an indefinite period of time. While this option may be 
the quickest to implement and receive reduced interest from other parties than that of new appropriations, 
it may also be the costliest with an approximate price tag of $1.5 to $8 million dollars15 and take anywhere 
from 12 to 18 months to implement. 

In the case of new development being served by an existing system or the formation of a new water system, 
operated by Storey County or General Improvement District, Farr West recommends the County require 
developers to dedicate the necessary rights to support the proposed uses. 

Domestic Well Credit Program 

The Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley provides the ability for the owner of a Domestic Well 
on a lot that was created prior to July 1, 1993, to plug and abandon the Domestic Well and be provided 
water service from a water supplier using a credit to provide service to the property. The Order could be 
used to allow the County to develop a community water system in the Mark Twain area, but these credits 
cannot be transferred or sold like a water right after they have been issued. The benefit to this alternative is 
that new water rights would not be required and the overall impact to the water resource would be the same 
as the current condition. To provide a new water system in this area, a production well would still need to 

14 Opinions of probable costs are planning level in nature (-50% to +100%) and are for a single point of use alternative. 
Costs associated with installing a distribution system are not included. 
15 Cost of water rights are planning level estimates which projects a range of $400,000 to $3,000,000 depending on 
which basin (Tracey Segment, Dayton Valley, or both) the rights are purchased in.  Estimates are based on a volume 
of 100 AF. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
24 January 2023

be permitted and constructed, storage tanks and distribution piping would be required to provide water 
service to the residents who forfeited their right to a domestic well. However, these types of conversion 
projects are rare due to the significant costs associated with the infrastructure improvements. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Highlands area due to the lack of existing Order in the 
Tracy Segment basin issued by the NSE. The County could apply to the NSE for an Order; however, the 
significant cost of associated infrastructure may still be prohibitive. 

5.1.3 Best Management Practices 

Farr West recommends Storey County allocate annual budget and staff time to continue to participate in 
regional planning groups, like the Carson River Subconservancy District and Truckee Meadows Water 
Authority Advisory Committee meetings or planning sessions. Involvement with these groups will allow 
the County to stay informed on regional policy changes and potentially provide insight into other water 
resource management strategies. Additionally, staying engaged with water right permit changes in basins 
which contribute to the Marlette Water System and inside of and adjacent to the Tracey Segment and 
Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basins will assist the County in maintaining their current and future water 
right interests. 

Storey County owns two water right permits that are currently managed by Canyon General Improvement 
District. Farr West recommends that the County allocate budget and staff time to monitor due dates and 
water usage for these rights to maintain their good standing. In the event additional water rights are acquired 
or dedicated to the County, due dates for Proof of Completion of Work and/or Proof of Beneficia Use 
should be pursued and maintained. 

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

Some of the water right strategies, particularly the Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley, have long 
term impacts to Storey County residents. Domestic wells are the only source of water for many parcels in 
the County and while this land was originally developed with the understanding that these residents were 
to be responsible for their own water supply, it has become common for governing bodies to be forced into 
with providing water service or mitigating groundwater impacts in areas which groundwater conditions 
have changed significantly over time. To mitigate the potential for this outcome it is recommended that the 
County encourage local, private groups to be proactive in protecting the aquifer which supplies their 
groundwater wells. Examples of action that benefits aquifer sustainability has been provided throughout 
this chapter and Plan.  

As shown in this chapter, the surface water from the Marlette Water System is the most available, highest 
quality source which the County has access to. Water from the Marlette Water System is critical for long-
term sustainability in Storey County because it is the only source that is currently permitted with the NSE 
and is capable of regular deliveries. The County should place upmost importance on renewing the 
contractual agreement with the Marlette Water System and should pursue the contractual ability to transmit 
quantities of water that are commensurate with the investment the County has placed in its water system 
infrastructure and meets the long-term demands of the Comstock and surrounding areas far into the future. 

DEDICATION RATES 

Outside of the provisions for the division of lands within Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, the County 
does not maintain a minimum water rights dedication for single unit residential development served by the 
County Water System. Farr West recommends a water right budget or allocation be applied to each existing 
connection or lot within the service area and for these values to be maintained on a digital ledger kept by 
either the Public Works or Planning Department. This will allow the County to accurately budget and 
manage water rights contracted from the Marlette Water System and provide the County the ability to justify 
water use factors and rates in future planning studies and communication with the NSE. Developing a 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
25 January 2023

dedication rate would allow the County to include factors such as drought protection, unanticipated public 
uses, and system loss into allocations per connection. Benefits from representative dedication rates include 
maximizing volumes put to beneficial use, a correct assessment of water right needs related to future 
development, better land use planning and more accurate utility planning resulting in properly phased and 
sized infrastructure improvement projects. 

WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 

Water conservation planning is an important component to improving system sustainability well into the 
future. In fact, per chapter 540.121 of the NRS, each supplier of water must adopt a plan of water 
conservation which is in accordance with the requirements of NRS 540.141 and these plans should be 
updated at least every five years. These plans are typically geared to increase public awareness of the limited 
water resources which supply their region, and the impact conservation can have on the quality and quantity 
of water which is available long term. Additionally, these plans typically set near and long-term water use 
goals, present contingency plans for when water supplies are compromised and recommend water 
efficiency standards for new development. Another component of these plans is the evaluation of installing 
meters on all connections and the development of a tiered rate structure which encourages conservation. It 
is important to note that any modification to the rate structure should be included as part of a formal rate 
study which evaluates how changes to the rate structure impacts future water system revenues and expenses, 
including estimating a reduction in water use. The County is currently in the process of updating their Water 
Conservation Plan in 2021. 

WATER SYSTEM FACILITY PLAN 

The purpose of a water utility facility plan is to assess current and future system deficiencies and develop 
a capital improvement program to identify the projects needed to keep the system operating and in 
compliance. Once this program is defined the utility can identify future funding sources and associate the 
costs of the improvements to capacity replacement and capacity expansion. The most recent facility plan 
was completed in 2011 and it is recommended that the County pursue completing a plan by 2024. 

WATER SYSTEM RATE AND CONNECTION FEE STUDY 

Over the past 10 years, Storey County has evaluated the water utility user rates multiple times in the form 
of a formal rate study or as a rate analysis. One item which has not been updated as part of these studies is 
the connection fee for the County Water System. Currently, the County collects a hook-up fee based on the 
cost of providing the water meter and the physical connection to the water system, however this fee does 
not include any consideration for “buying in” to the available capacity of the system nor does it include a 
“water availability” charge. It is recommended that once the capital improvement program is defined as 
part of the facility plan that a formal rate and connection fee study be performed to recommend a 
representative fee for all future development. 

WATER RESOURCE PLANNING 

Per chapter 278.0228 of the NRS, all governing bodies shall develop and maintain a Water Resource Plan 
which: 

� Evaluates all known sources of water,

� Quantifies current and future water demands,

� Analyzes the sufficiency of water sources in terms of quality and quantity, and

� Provides a plan for obtaining additional water of sufficient quality and quantity.

This plan must be updated at least once every ten years and shall be submitted to NDWR to be kept on file. 
Upon completion, this plan will satisfy this requirement and should be formally adopted by the Storey 
County Board of County Commissioners prior to being submitted to the NDWR.  It is also recommended 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
26 January 2023

that the County update this plan at least once every seven years as conditions can change over time and the 
information presented in a WRP is critical to ensuring the sustainability of a water utility.  As a comparison 
the Truckee Meadows Water Authority updates its WRP on a five-year cycle. 



Water Resource Plan Future Demand and Water Management

FINAL Storey County
27 January 2023

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES 

1.0 PURPOSE 

This chapter is based on the findings from the third technical memorandum in a series of three which 
documented the analysis and findings of the 2021 Storey County Water Resource Plan (Plan). The specific 
purpose of this chapter is to estimate potential buildout demands as a result of future development within 
the Plan Area. This chapter will also identify the impacts to the Storey County Water System at the buildout 
condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. Future utility 
and water resource planning efforts will also be discussed. 

2.0 FUTURE DEMANDS 

Future demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel size 
(i.e., acreage) or unit count. This analysis used the designated land use16, as of December 2020, for vacant 
parcels and applied a water demand factor as listed in Table 18. The Plan Area was broken up into the same 
four separate areas as used in Chapters 1 and 2 and shown on Figure 2. These areas are referred to as:  

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Additionally, Farr West held a workshop with Storey County staff on December 9, 2020, which detailed 
the methodology used for generating these future demands and presented preliminary results for future 
connect ions and improvement project alternatives. 

Table 18: Water Demand Factors 

Land Use Demand Factor Notes 

Single-Family Residential 0.3 AFA/connection 
Includes rural residential and forestry 
connections 

Multi-Family Residential 0.9 AFA/connection Assumes 3 units per parcel 

Commercial 1.50 AFA/acre Assumes 3 commercial connections per acre 

Industrial 1.12 AFA/acre Based on 1,000 gallons per day 

Special Planning Zone 0.3 AFA/connection 
Average connection demand determined from 
Chapter1 

. 

VACANT PARCELS AND LAND USE 

Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. Due to the rural nature 
of the County, there were a large number of vacant parcels outside of the Plan Area that were not considered 
as a part of this analysis due to their distance from current water system infrastructure and a high barrier of 
cost to reach these areas through additional infrastructure. It should be noted that a vacant parcel analysis 
was not performed for Silver City, as it lies in Lyon County and future land uses are not under the 

16 Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. 



Water Resource Plan   Future Demand and Water Management 

 

 FINAL Storey County  
 28 January 2023  

responsibility of Storey County. Future demands for Silver City were limited to the remaining system 
capacity of 105.3 acre-feet per annum (AFA) determined in chapter 2 of this Plan. 

The vacant parcels in the Comstock area can be found in Figure 5. Vacant land uses within the Comstock 
include single-family residential, multi-family residential, commercial, industrial, forestry, and special 
planning zones. The special planning zone parcels are limited to railroad and mining uses. However, both 
designations were considered as potential future water users and assigned a single EDU per parcel as a 
worst-case scenario for buildout demands.  

The vacant parcels in VC Highlands are comprised of entirely residential parcels, ranging in area from 1 
acre to 40 acres. No matter the parcel size, all vacant parcels within the loop consisting of HWY 341, 
Lousetown Road, and Cartwright Road were included in this analysis and were counted as one EDU per 
parcel. There are 269, 10-acre parcels surrounding this looped area that are reasonable to include in future 
planning efforts but were excluded from this plan due to the diminishing cost-benefit relationship in adding 
this small number of connections. Figure 6 shows the parcels considered for the analysis as well as 
surrounding parcels. 

The analysis of the Mark Twain area included land uses which reflect future changes as outlined in the 2016 
Master Plan (see Appendix A). The area consists of single-family residential, rural residential, forestry, and 
industrial. Figure 7 shows the vacant parcels and zoning in the study area that was considered for this 
analysis.  

The American Flat area southwest of Gold Hill currently has no existing development beyond a mining 
operation and two single family residences. However, future development potential was identified in the 
2016 Master Plan. The land uses identified in the 2016 Master Plan were used for this area as shown in 
Figure 8. The area is primarily forestry with 252 acres of industrial. Similar to the Mark Twain area, the 
240 acres of BLM forestry lands were removed from this analysis. For residential and special planning zone 
parcels, individual parcels were counted as possible future water service connections for this analysis. For 
rural residential parcels, a factor of 40 acres per future connection was used. Commercial and industrial 
parcels were counted as total acreage for the analysis and a water usage per acre demand factor listed in 
Table 18 was applied to the parcel area. Forestry parcel connections were assigned the same EDU value as 
rural residential parcel connections.  



!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

3QTreatment Plant

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure5.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Virginia City

Gold Hill

Silver City

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Lyon County Parcel

Comstock Vacant Parcel Zones
Commercial (339 Parcels)

Industrial (30 Parcels)

Residential (300 Parcels)

Special Planning Review Zone (74 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

Storey County

Lyon County



P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure6.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Highlands Study Area

Highlands Vacant Parcel Zones
Residential (607 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y
W

as
ho

e 
C

ou
nt

y



So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
7.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 4
,0

00
 'Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

St
ud

y 
Ar

ea

M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

Va
ca

nt
 P

ar
ce

l Z
on

es
R

es
id

en
tia

l (
45

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l (
22

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l-P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l  
(5

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

Pu
bl

ic
 F

ac
ilit

ie
s 

(1
 P

ar
ce

ls
)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(1

6 
Pa

rc
el

s)

R
ur

al
 R

es
id

en
tia

l (
9 

Pa
rc

el
s)



!

!

So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
8.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 1
,5

00
 'Figure 8: American Flat Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯

Storey County
Washoe County

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd Am
er

ic
an

 F
la

t S
tu

dy
 A

re
a

A
m

er
ic

an
 F

la
t V

ac
an

t P
ar

ce
l Z

on
es

In
du

st
ria

l  
(1

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(6

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

G
ol

d 
H

ill



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
33 January 2023

Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

DEMAND FACTORS AND TOTAL BUILDOUT DEMANDS 

Demand17 factors were applied to the vacant parcels in each area according to their land use. Although the 
average water usage per residential customer was determined to be 0.17 AFA per connection in Chapter 1, 
the projected unit water demand for residential uses or EDUs was adjusted to 0.3 AFA for this Plan. Multi-
family residential assumes three units per parcel. Customer meter data also showed that commercial 
customers used 0.33 AFA on average. This volume was scaled up to 0.5 AF per commercial connection or 
1.5 AF per acre for all vacant parcels zoned commercial for future water demand projections.  

Industrial water usage was calculated on a per acre basis. The industrial demand factor was selected based 
on an analysis of Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, south Washoe County, and Douglas County water usages. 
Demand factors were then applied to all vacant parcels within the plan area. Table 20 below shows the 
existing demand, additional demand based on land use, and buildout demand. 

Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176ii 182 358

Mark Twain 100ii 4,875 4,975

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 
ii – Existing demand was calculated by allocating 0.3 AF per existing residential connection. 

17 All demands or demand factors in this chapter are average day demands unless noted otherwise. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
34 January 2023

3.0 BUILDOUT IMPACTS 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide over 6,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. For further context, this volume of water corelates to a maximum day demand flow rate of 7,802 gpm 
or require transmission (i.e., siphon) and water treatment facilities (WTP) designed to deliver more than 11 
million gallons per day (MGD). Due to the large disparity between the makeup of the current system and a 
system capable of providing more than 11 MGD to its customers, this Plan will only propose future 
improvement projects which eliminate current system deficiencies or will interconnect no more than one 
satellite area per any given development scenario or alternative. 

INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 

Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a picture 
for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. These project 
alternatives were discussed and workshopped with County staff on December 9, 2020. All project cost 
estimates were prepared according to Class 5 methodology according to AACE International using 
conceptual or planning level engineering criteria to size significant project components.  

3.1.1 County Water System 

The County Water System consists of the water treatment plant, five storage tanks and distribution mains 
throughout Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Overall, the system has aging infrastructure, areas 
with inadequate fire flow and static pressures in excess of 190 psi. Through previous master planning and 
recent hydraulic modeling analysis four projects were identified which would resolve current deficiencies18. 
These projects are: 

� B St. & Union St. Water Main Replacement Project

� Divide Water Main Upsizing Project

� Silver City Transmission Main Replacement Project

After all these projects are completed, the County Water System will be able to meet or exceed all standard 
performance criteria/requirements as set forth by the Nevada Administrative Code 445A (NAC 445A) and 
enforced by the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water (BSDW). 
Complete opinions of probable cost totaling approximately $6.0 million dollars can be found in Appendix 
C. 

If the Comstock area were to buildout per the current land use designations, Average Day Demand (ADD) 
and Maximum Day Demand (MDD) would increase to 413 and 825 gpm, respectively. System demands 
on this order would exceed current siphon capacity and would reduce WTP excess capacity to only four 
percent of total rated capacity. For this reason, the two additional recommended improvement projects 
would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Parallel Siphon (from US 580 to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.5 MGD)

The estimated total cost of all improvements required to meet the buildout condition for the existing 
Comstock service area is just more than $18 million dollars with $12.4 million being attributed to the Siphon 
and WTP projects. 

18 The Silver City distribution system has been previously identified as deficient and in need of replacement in the 
2011 Master Plan. An engineering design has been completed for these improvements and the Lyon County Utilities 
Department has assumed the role as sponsor for the construction of this project. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
35 January 2023

3.1.2 American Flat 

The proposed development of the American Flat area as shown on Figure 8 would increase system demands 
by approximately 291 acre-feet annually or an additional 367 gpm during MDD. Water service would be 
supplied to the area via 3,100 linear feet (lf) of 12-inch diameter transmission main in addition to 750,000 
gallons in above ground storage. In total these supply and storage improvements would cost approximately 
$3.9 million dollars19.  

This area would be supplied water through the Gold Hill pressure zone from the County Water System and 
would require the following additional improvements: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated total cost of these additional County Water System improvements is approximately $27.7 
million dollars with $6.3 million being associated with the pipeline installed between Lakeview Tanks and 
US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System ROW). 

3.1.3 Mark Twain 

As stated in chapter 1, there are 333 existing connections in the Mark Twain area which would increase 
system demands by 100 acre-feet annually or an additional 124 gpm (0.2 MGD) during MDD. In order to 
supply water to serve the existing residential uses in the Mark Twain area via the existing County Water 
System, a 5.2-mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main would need to be constructed in 6-Mile Canyon 
Dr. along with a 500,000-gallon terminal tank. Additionally, an 8-inch diameter distribution system would 
also need to be installed to provide water service to the existing residences. The estimated cost of the 
improvements needed to supply potable water to the 333 connections is approximately $30 million dollars. 

Upgrades to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity 
requirements. These improvements would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated cost of these additional County Water System improvements is just more than $53 million 
dollars with $6.3 million being installed between Lakeview Tanks and US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System 
ROW). 

3.1.4 VC Highlands 

The area known as VC Highlands is home to approximately 588 residential structures which receive potable 
water service from individual domestic wells. If these existing residences were to be connected to the 
County Water System, it is estimated that system demands would increase by 176 acre-feet annually or an 
additional 219 gpm (0.3 MGD) during MDD. The infrastructure needed to supply water to the existing 
residents of the Highlands is: 

� 5.5 mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main between Virginia City and the top of Geiger Grade

� A 100 hp booster pump station located at the north end of the current County Water System

� 30 miles of 8 and 12-inch distribution main as shown on Figure 9

� 588 water meters and service lines

� 650,000-gallon water storage tank

19 The cost to install the distribution system in the American Flat area is not included in this total. It is assumed that 
the cost of these improvements would be borne by the developer/development. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
36 January 2023

In total, it is estimated that the cost of these improvements would exceed $70 million dollars, with the 
transmission and storage portion totaling $15.8 million. Due to the increase in system demands, upgrades 
to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity requirements. 
These improvements would be: 

� 14-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.6 MGD)

These additional water supply improvements would increase total project costs by $25 million dollars and 
bring project totals to approximately $95 million dollars. If the County were to size all infrastructure 
detailed in this section to accommodate complete buildout of the Highlands area the total cost of 
improvements increases from $95 million to $126 million dollars. 





Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
38 January 2023

3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades 

In review, the transmission siphon between Lakeview Tanks and the Top of Siphon does not have the 
conveyance capacity to supply enough water to meet the buildout condition for any of the scenarios 
evaluated in this Plan. At a minimum, a new 12-inch pipeline would need to be installed parallel to the 
existing main between US 580 and the Top of Siphon in order to meet buildout demands for the current 
service area. For all other scenarios, the entire line would need to be replaced between the Lakeview Tanks 
and the Top of Siphon with a 12, 14, or 16-inch diameter pipeline. Since different portions of the pipeline 
are owned and maintained by different parties (i.e., Marlette Water System and Storey County), it is 
reasonable to assume that each party would contribute funding for their portion of the improvements. The 
approximate split of ownership based on pipeline length is 61 percent for Storey County and 39 percent for 
the Marlette Water System. 

3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades 

Like the upgrades to the siphon transmission main, the 1.26 MGD Water Treatment Plant will also need to 
be expanded to supply the volume of water needed at buildout for all development scenarios or alternatives 
studied in this Plan. Table 21 below details the additional capacity needed at the Water Treatment Plant to 
meet each development scenario.  

Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs 

Development Scenario 
Increase in Treatment Capacity 

(MGD) 
Comstock Service Area Buildout 0.3 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain (Ex.) 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands (Ex.) 0.6 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout 1.0 

3.1.7 Project Summary 

Per the findings of this Plan, the County will need to invest between $6.0 and $126 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain). Table ES-4 lists a probable cost for each project that the County 
can reference for future long-term capital planning applications. These opinions of probable cost were 
developed using conceptual designs and cost data and should be refined as part of a preliminary engineering 
process prior to securing financing or allocating funds for their design and construction. 

Table 22: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2022 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
39 January 2023

WATER RIGHTS 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. The calculations provided below estimate what the minimum volume of water rights 
will need to be held in the interest of the County according to the land uses studied in Section 2.0. 

Existing number of Residential Connections (County Water System) ................................. 596 

Existing number of Commercial Connections (County Water System) ................................ 207 

Existing number of EDUs ..................................................................................................... 998 
Volume of water rights dedicated for existing development ........................................ 1,118 AF 
(assumes 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) 

Future EDUs (Highlands Ex. Domestic Wells) ..................................................................... 588 

Future EDUs (Mark Twain Domestic Wells) ........................................................................ 333 

Future EDUs (American Flat Domestic Wells) ....................................................................... 15 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Single and Multi-Family Residential) ............................................. 995 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Commercial + Industrial)20 ......................................................... 10,694 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Other: Forestry + Special Planning)2 ............................................... 139 

Total Future EDUs ........................................................................................................... 12,764 

Water rights needed for all future development +  
conversion of existing domestic well owners to County Water System 
(assessed at 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) .................................................................................. 8,783 AF 

Estimated Domestic Well Credits (assessed at 2 acre-ft per DW) ............................ (1,872 AF) 

Total Water Rights Needed 6,911 AF 

Per the 2002 contract, Storey County has reserved up to 495.6 acre-feet of water from the Marlette Water 
System in 202121. This total is only slightly more than half of the volume that would typically be dedicated 
to support the existing 803 connections of the Storey County Water System. Considering the conversion of 
existing domestic well owners to the Storey County Water System and the absolute development of all 
vacant parcels according to approved land uses, Storey County may need to acquire right to upwards of 
6,911 acre-feet of water to support permitting of the proposed developments. 

Since Storey County does not maintain a ledger tracking historic water right dedications, this study assumes 
a dedication rate of 1.12 acre-feet per EDU22 for all calculations being presented in this section. This value 
has been commonly used across the state in the past to support the permitting of one residential unit with 

20 EDU counts for non-residential uses were calculated by dividing the projected average annual demand from Section 
2 by a value of 0.3 AF/EDU. 
21 Projecting out the annual increases in water made available to Storey County for the next 20 years results in an 
estimate of 653.6 acre-feet from the Marlette Water System in 2041.  
22 This is a high estimate. Dedication rates of 1.12 AF/EDU have created large volumes of unexercised commitments 
of water rights throughout the state and the NSE’s office has supported reduced dedication requirements over the past 
10-20 years when there is adequate data to support a reduced rate.



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
40 January 2023

the Nevada State Engineer’s (NSE) office. If the County would like to have this unit volume reduced for 
future dedications it is recommended that the County prepare a more specific document summarizing their 
water use profile and proposed dedication rates and engage the NSE’s office prior to passing new ordinance. 

4.0 FUTURE MANAGEMENT 

As shown in Section 3.2, the County will need to acquire or be dedicated almost 14 times the amount of 
water they have currently secured via contract with the Marlette Water System to meet buildout demands 
in all four areas studied as part of this Plan. If the County were to only provide water service to the Comstock 
area this volume gets reduced to approximately 4 times the currently contracted volume for a total of 2,178 
acre-feet. In either scenario it will be necessary for the County to secure additional water in addition to 
modifying how the system is operated based on the number of customers and size of the service area in the 
future.  

FUTURE WATER SOURCES 

Chapter 2 found that the only viable water source for the County Water System is the Marlette Water 
System, and all future volumes of water should be acquired from this source. Additionally, chapter 2 also 
found that the current conveyance capacity of the siphon transmission main was limited to 738 gallons per 
minute (gpm) or 1,190 acre-feet annually. This stated capacity will be able to provide nearly all the future 
water needs of the Comstock area, however the addition of either the Highlands or Mark Twain areas will 
present the need for additional transmission mains to be constructed. 

Another water source potentially available to the County could be the Carson River or groundwater rights 
in hydrographic basins 103, 104 or 105. To receive water supplies from these sources the County Water 
System would need to be interconnected with the Dayton and/or Mound House Water System(s), owned 
and operated by the Lyon County Utilities Department (LCUD). The connection to these systems can occur 
via a transmission main along 6-Mile Canyon Road and/or State Highway 341. Depending on the volume 
of water which will be supplied by these new connections, additional infrastructure in the LCUD or Carson 
City water systems may need to be installed prior to entering into any operating agreement with the 
associated utilities. An array of future utility management and operational strategies exist depending on 
how the new water source would be used and should be studied further prior to pursuing and water rights 
acquisitions or construction of any infrastructure improvements related to these water sources. These 
strategies include, but are not limited to: emergency backup supply, primary water supply for portion of 
water system, seasonal supply for greater water system, and an active wholesale connection between 
utilities. 

Chapter 2 also found that the ability for existing groundwater sources to meet existing domestic uses has 
become more and more limited over the past 20 years and are not viable to support proposed development 
in the future. However, if the County were to pursue the interconnection of the County Water System to the 
Highlands or Mark Twain areas there is some merit to constructing a new community well which can be 
used seasonally (as conditions allow) and in emergencies. Additional water rights for this proposed water 
source should also not necessary since the conversion of domestic wells to the County Water System should 
provide domestic well credits which could be used to support permitting of the new community well. 

REGIONALIZATION 

If Storey County were to pursue interconnection of the County Water System with the Dayton/Mound 
House System, it would present the significant benefit of regionalizing water supplies for both the 
Comstock and surrounding areas. Regionalization of water supplies provides redundancy during periods of 
severe drought, during water system infrastructure failure, or when the quality or quantity of a water supply 
has diminished.  



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
41 January 2023

5.0 FUTURE WATER MANAGEMENT PLANNING 

By implementing a proactive approach to water management planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable 
and resilient water utility well into the future. To do this the County needs to complete and update a variety 
of different planning efforts over a five to seven fiscal year (FY) cycle. While the intent and findings of 
each study is different, proper planning builds off the information developed in one plan to another and 
provides recommendations which improve the overall sustainability of the water system. An example of 
this would be developing a representative capital improvement program (CIP) as part of a water system 
master plan update. This CIP would subsequently ensure that accurate user and connection fees were being 
collected so that future capital funding needs were being met. Additionally, the rate study would also 
develop a user fee structure which promotes conservation and improves source water sustainability. This 
section summarizes key planning efforts required in the future and offers a recommendation for when these 
documents should be completed. 

Table 23: Water System Planning 

Plan Year Completed Recommended Update  
County Strategic Plan 2020 2030 

Water Resource Plan 2022 2027 

Water System Master Plan 2011 2023 

Rate Study 2011, 2020 2025 

Water Conservation Plan - 2022 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

This chapter has found that the development of all vacant parcels according to current land uses within the 
current service area boundary will nearly triple current average water use and require significant 
improvements to County Water System infrastructure. Beyond a projected cost of $18.4M for these 
improvements, the County will also need to secure approximately 2,000 acre-feet of water from the Marlette 
Water System (or other) to support permitting of the proposed development(s). Additionally, if the County 
was to pursue connecting additional areas into the current service area improvement project costs may 
exceed $100M and the need for additional water triples to more than 6,500 acre-feet beyond the volume the 
County has currently reserved with the Marlette Water System. 

Completion of this Water Resource Plan is a significant step for the County towards improving water 
system sustainability. The findings of this Plan can be used to: 

� support the acquisition of additional water resources,

� properly evaluate future land development proposals,

� improve capital planning exercises including the identification of future funding sources, and

� maintain regulatory compliance with NDEP the Nevada State Engineer’s Office.



Water Resource Plan References

FINAL Storey County
42 January 2023

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Affirmation of the Second Judicial District's Franktown Creek Decree, 4386 (Nevada Supreme Court April 
24, 1963). 

Demographer, N. S. (2020). Certified Population Estimates of Nevada's Counties, Cities and Towns 2000 
to 2019. Nevada: Nevada Department of Taxation. 

Franktown Creek Irrigation Company v. Marlette Lake Company, 4386 (Supreme Court of Nevada 
September 27, 1961). 

Smith, D. W. (2020, April 14). Evaluation of water-level decline and aquifer properties in the Virginia City 
Highlands and Highland Ranches Volcanic Rock aquifer system, Storey County, Nevada. Retrieved
from USGS: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/nv-water/science/evaluation-water-level-decline-and-
aquifer-properties-virginia-city?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects 

Storey County. (2016). Storey County Master Plan. Storey County.

Supply Contract. (2002, October 23). Contract bewtween the State of Nevada and Storey County to Supply 
Raw Water from the Marlette Lake Water System. Carson, Nevada.

WRCC. (2020, April 14). Virginia City, Nevada (268761). Retrieved from Western Regional Climate
Center: https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?nv8761 



Character | Stewardship | Excellence

5510 Longley Lane  •  Reno, Nevada 89511  •  (775) 851-4788

Water Resource  Plan
Storey County



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
i January 2023

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Water Resource Plan (Plan) is intended to provide Storey County (County) a document to guide future 
decisions related to the City’s water supply, transmission and distribution system, and its ability to meet 
customer water demands into the future.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised 
Statute (NRS) Chapter 287.0228 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150, as part of the 2019 legislative 
session, to require governing bodies to develop and maintain a water resource plan.  Per NRS 278.0228, 
the plan shall be in place by 2029 and then updated every 10 years. This executive summary provides a 
snapshot of the key findings from each chapter of the Plan.  In total, the Plan is comprised of an Introduction 
and three topic-focused chapters.   

INTRODUCTION 

This WRP will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  The Marlette System provides water to the County Water System 
for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The County also delivers water to residents 
of Silver City which is located in Lyon County.  The remaining populated areas within the Plan Area are 
supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (Canyon 
GID) and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can 
be considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT 

Chapter 1 summarizes current County Water System water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. This Chapter presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to 
establish estimates and assumptions which will form the basis for the Plan.  

The County Water System currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of 
customers (666) are within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County 
serves approximately 207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential. For the period 
between 2018 through 2021 the County Water System consumed an average of 221 AF of water per year 
and a maximum of 234 AF in 2017 from the Marlette System.  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered, however some unmetered 
connections still exist. For this reason, Farr West utilized the Water Treatment Plant (WTP) flow meter data 
as the basis for estimating system demands. Analysis of WTP water meter records from 2016 to 2019 
yielded the following: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD) 210 AF 

� Average Day Demand (ADD) 131 gpm 

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD) 262 gpm 

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD) 524 gpm 

Considering the County System serves 803 customers, the average water use per connection is 0.26 AF per 
year which is equivalent to approximately 0.16 gpm per connection. This average connection demand was 
used to set existing water demands but was adjusted to 0.3 AF per new residential connection to estimate 
future water demands.  



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
ii January 2023

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply. However, each of the 
water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson 
City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to locations not currently included as the place of use, a 
temporary or permanent change to the water right would have to be approved by the office of the Nevada 
State Engineer (NSE). Finally, the contract between the County and the State for continued delivery of 
water from the Marlette System is currently being negotiated for renewal. 

Historically, the State has implemented 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System 
water according to the limits shown in Table ES-1. 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

Water for the County Water System is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to 
a pipeline. The County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under 
Interstate 580 at Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile 
Reservoir and/or the Five-Mile Tank prior to filling the Bullion Tank next to the 1.2 MGD Water Treatment 
Plant where water is treated to potable standards and placed into the County Water System distribution 
system.  

Key findings of this chapter include a review of water right ownership, water demand calculations, an 
estimate of unaccounted for water, a summary of water storage facilities, and domestic well pumpage 
estimates.  

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY AND SYSTEM CAPACITY 

Chapter 2 discusses the water system’s current capacity, the quality and quantity of all water sources, a 
water source risk analysis, and drought mitigation strategies available to the County. Recent water use in 
the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw water from the Marlette 
System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is unmetered groundwater 
pumped at private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic well it is estimated 
that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the American Flat area.  

The only water source currently available to the County Water System is the surface water provided by the 
Marlette Water System. This source is very reliable and of high quality, however the volume of water 
available from the Marlette Water System is primarily influenced or restricted by transmission pipeline 
capacity, although annual snowpack, fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits 
also have a potential to limit the amount of water available form this source. The annual volume of water 
available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. Per the previous operating 
agreement, the County has reserved up to approximately 500 AF of that annual total.  

Water resources within the Plan Areas are less than current demand.  Annual recharge of area aquifers is 
limited due to inadequate elevation of the Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iii January 2023

primary source of recharge occurs within the upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt 
and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge 
depending on the slope and soil permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the 
mountain block without significant impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources 
are impacted by mountain block (“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson 
River watershed.  

The populated areas of the Highlands and Mark Twain also lie within the Plan Area but are not provided 
water by the County Water System. Residences in these areas utilize individual wells to provide domestic 
water supplies. Even though each area sits in a separate hydrographic basin, both areas have experience 
water availability problems during extended dry periods. Per the Plan, it is not feasible to develop a single, 
groundwater well to serve the local community in either of these areas due to aquifer performance concerns. 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its customers, it must actively manage its water sources 
and system infrastructure. Some key recommendations made in this chapter include: 

� Negotiate a long-term delivery agreement and contract with the Marlette Water System,

� Maintain an up-to-date Water Resource Plan,

� Complete a Water Conservation Plan,

� Develop a water right dedication rate schedule and maintain a water right ledger, and

� Develop policy which requires future development utilizing groundwater as its only water source
to provide substantial analysis and study of the groundwater aquifer and prove that the proposed
uses will have limited and mitigatable effect on existing users or uses.

This chapter also reviewed existing system infrastructure and provided estimates of how much water the 
system can supply on a regular and maximum day basis. Considering the conveyance capacity of the siphon 
transmission main, the surface water treatment plant, and the storage tanks throughout the system it is 
estimated that up to 864 additional residential connections can be added to the system without creating 
problems. Additionally, each portion of the system was analyzed separately from one another, and it is 
estimated that up to 768 units could be added to Virginia City and/or 710 units could be added in Gold Hill. 
It should be noted that even though these estimates are provided in the unit of single-family residences 
(SFR), other land uses (e.g., commercial, industrial) can be added to the system. Projected water demands 
for these uses should be divided by the SFR water demand factor of 0.3 AF per unit to account for the 
number of “units” the proposed development represents in overall system capacity accounting. 

CHAPTER 3: FUTURE DEMANDS AND WATER MANAGEMENT 

The purpose of Chapter 3 is to estimate potential buildout demands resulting from land development within 
the Plan Area in the future. This chapter also identifies the impacts to the Storey County Water System at 
the buildout condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. 
Future utility and water resource planning efforts is also discussed. 

Future water demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel 
size (i.e., acreage) or unit counts using designated land uses as of December 2020. The areas analyzed were: 

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Table ES-2 provides an accounting of the projected number of units or acres which can be developed in 
each sub-area. 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iv January 2023

Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

Utilizing water demand factors based on the existing system or similar areas in the region, estimated water 
demands were estimated at the buildout condition for each sub-area. A summary of these estimates is shown 
below in Table ES-3. 

Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176 182 358 

Mark Twain 100 4,875 4,975 

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide almost 7,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a 
picture for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. Per the 
findings of this chapter, the County will need to invest between $5.7 and $127 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects in order to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain).  



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
v January 2023

Table ES-4: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2021 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI (Association for the Advancement of Cost 
Estimating International) 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. At the most extreme condition where the County Water System is expanded to provide 
service to meet the buildout demands of the Highlands, Mark Twain, and American Flat in addition to the 
buildout demands of the Comstock, the volume of water rights needed would be 6,911 AF. If the County 
were to only provide water service to the existing Comstock area, this total is reduced to 2,178 AF.  

This chapter also evaluated additional water sources which may be available to the County in the future. 
While the new external sources are unlikely to be connected in the near term (i.e., 10 years) it is important 
to document every option in the case that economic, political, or system conditions change, and the viability 
of these sources is altered. Additionally, by implementing a proactive approach to water management 
planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable and resilient water utility well into the future to meet the 
needs of its residents and businesses.



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vi January 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................... i 
Table of Contents ......................................................................................................................................... vi 
Table of Tables .......................................................................................................................................... viii 
Table of Figures ......................................................................................................................................... viii 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 4 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 5 
2.0 Background ...................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.0 Scope of Water Resource Plan ......................................................................................................... 5 

3.1 Plan Area .......................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.2 Need for a Water Resource Plan ...................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT ................................................ 1 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 1 
2.0 Summary of Communities ............................................................................................................... 1 

2.1 Storey County Water Customers ..................................................................................................... 1 
2.2 Estimated Population within Plan Area ........................................................................................... 1 

3.0 Water Resources .............................................................................................................................. 2 
4.0 Water Rights in Nevada ................................................................................................................... 2 

4.1 Water Right Priority and Appropriation Statutes and Regulation ................................................... 2 
4.2 Nevada State Engineer Regulatory Actions ..................................................................................... 3 
4.3 Water Right Ownership ................................................................................................................... 3 

5.0 Marlette Water System .................................................................................................................... 3 
5.1 Franktown Creek Decree ................................................................................................................. 3 
5.2 Marlette Lake Water Rights ............................................................................................................. 3 
5.3 Marlette System Surface Water Rights ............................................................................................ 4 
5.4 Contract Between State of Nevada and Storey County ................................................................... 6 

6.0 Water Rights within Storey County ................................................................................................. 6 
6.1 Tracey Segment Water Rights ......................................................................................................... 6 
6.2 Dayton Valley Lake Water Rights ................................................................................................... 7 
6.3 Domestic Groundwater Use ............................................................................................................. 7 

7.0 Water Production and Facilities ....................................................................................................... 8 
7.1 Storey County Water System Facilities ........................................................................................... 8 
7.2 Storey County System Demands ..................................................................................................... 8 

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery ........................................................................................................... 8 
7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production ...................................................................................... 9 
7.2.3 Customer Meter Records .................................................................................................... 9 

7.3 Water Demand Factors .................................................................................................................. 10 
7.4 Unaccounted For Water ................................................................................................................. 10 
7.5 Water Storage Facilities ................................................................................................................. 11 

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY .................................................................................... 13 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 13 
2.0 Water Resource Availability and Management ............................................................................. 13 

2.1 Estimated Use Within Plan Area ................................................................................................... 13 
2.2 Surface Water ................................................................................................................................ 13 
2.3 Groundwater .................................................................................................................................. 13 

3.0 Threats to Existing and Future Water Resources ........................................................................... 15 
3.1 Drought and Climate Change ......................................................................................................... 16 
3.2 Regulatory Actions ........................................................................................................................ 17 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vii January 2023

3.3 Contamination ................................................................................................................................ 18 
3.3.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.3 Distribution System .......................................................................................................... 18 

3.4 Conveyance Interruptions .............................................................................................................. 18 
4.0 Remaining Capacity Analysis ........................................................................................................ 19 

4.1 Remaining Storage Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.2 Remaining Supply Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.3 Remaining System Capacity .......................................................................................................... 20 

5.0 Long-Term Strategies .................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 22 

5.1.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.3 Best Management Practices .............................................................................................. 24 

5.2 Resource Management ................................................................................................................... 24 
5.3 Dedication Rates ............................................................................................................................ 24 
5.4 Water Conservation Plan ............................................................................................................... 25 
5.5 Water Resource Planning ............................................................................................................... 25 

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES ................................................................... 26 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 26 
2.0 Future Demands ............................................................................................................................. 26 

2.1 Vacant Parcels and Land Use ........................................................................................................ 26 
2.2 Demand Factors and Total Buildout Demands .............................................................................. 32 

3.0 Buildout Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 33 
3.1 Infrastructure Improvements .......................................................................................................... 33 

3.1.1 County Water System ....................................................................................................... 33 
3.1.2 American Flat ................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.3 Mark Twain ....................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.4 VC Highlands ................................................................................................................... 35 
3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades ............................................................................................................... 37 
3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades ...................................................................................... 37 
3.1.7 Project Summary ............................................................................................................... 37 

3.2 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 38 
4.0 Future Management ....................................................................................................................... 39 

4.1 Future Water Resources ................................................................................................................. 39 
4.2 Regionalization .............................................................................................................................. 39 

5.0 Future Water Management Planning ............................................................................................. 39 
6.0 Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

Bibliography ............................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix A ................................................................................................. Storey County 2016 Master Plan 
Appendix B ................................................................................................. Storage and Supply Calculations 
Appendix C ........................................................................................................... Opinions of Probable Cost 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
viii January 2023

LIST OF TABLES 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ....................................... ii�
Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use ........................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands ....................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-4: Water System Projects .............................................................................................................. v�
Table 5: Current Population and Household Size ......................................................................................... 2�
Table 6: Marlette System Water Rights ........................................................................................................ 5�
Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ............................................. 6�
Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates ......................................................................................................... 7�
Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) ................................................................................... 9�
Table 10: Residential Customer Demand ................................................................................................... 10�
Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand .................................................................................................. 10�
Table 12: Total Customer Demand ............................................................................................................. 10�
Table 13: System Demands ........................................................................................................................ 11�
Table 14: Water Storage Facilities .............................................................................................................. 12�
Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis ................................................................... 20�
Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) .......................... 21�
Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems ....................................... 21�
Table 18: Water Demand Factors ............................................................................................................... 27�
Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use .............................................................................................................. 33�
Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands .......................................................................................................... 33�
Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs ....................................................................... 38�
Table 22: Water System Projects ................................................................................................................ 38�
Table 23: Water System Planning ............................................................................................................... 41�

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas ......................................................................... x�
Figure 2: Plan Area ...................................................................................................................................... xi�
Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) ............................................ 9�
Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water ......................................................................................... 12�
Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 29�
Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 30�
Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels ........................................................................................................ 31�
Figure 8: American Flat Land Use .............................................................................................................. 32�
Figure 9: Highlands Water System Improvements ..................................................................................... 37�



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
ix January 2023

INTRODUCTION 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Water Resource Plan (Plan) is to provide Storey County (County) with a documented 
plan and policy related to the County’s ability to provide a sustainable water supply to its customers even 
during periods of extended drought.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) Chapter 287 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150 (2019) to require governing bodies to develop 
and maintain a water resource plan by 2029.   

2.0 BACKGROUND  

On January 21, 2020, the Storey County Board of County Commissioners awarded a contract to Farr West 
Engineering to prepare a Water Resource Plan.  This Plan is separated into three chapters, with each 
addressing a specific component of the Plan as follows: 

� Chapter 1 – Water Demands, Sources, and Management

� Chapter 2 – Source Water Reliability and System Capacity

� Chapter 3 – Future Demand and Water Management

3.0 SCOPE OF WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

Storey County is located in the Western portion of Northern Nevada.  The County is bordered by Washoe 
County to the west and north and Lyon County to the east and south.  The County is a mountainous area 
which sits above the Reno metropolitan area and is bounded by the Truckee River to the north.  There are 
eight distinct land use areas in the County including Comstock (Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American 
Flat), Highlands (Virginia City Highlands and Highland Ranches), Lagomarsino, Lockwood-Mustang, 
McCarran, Painted Rock, Northeast, and Mark Twain.  The County is considered rural but includes areas 
with high-tech industry.  

PLAN AREA 

This Plan will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 331.160, the Public 
Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration of the system which includes 
transmission and storage of water in Carson City, Washoe County, and Storey County.  The Marlette 
System provides water to the County for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The 
County also delivers water to residents of Silver City which is in Lyon County.  The remaining populated 
areas within the Plan Area are supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (GID) 
and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can be 
considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
x January 2023

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas 



Comstock

Highlands

Mark Twain

Tracy
Segment

(083)

Dayton
Valley
(103)

Truckee
Meadows

(087)

Truckee River

Ca
rs

on
 R

ive
r

Lyon

Storey

Washoe

Carson City

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure2.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 2: Plan Area With Select Water Features
1 " = 15,000 '

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

¯ 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

Legend
Plan Area

Plan Sub Area

County Boundaries

NDWR Groundwater Basins

Rivers

Streams

Virginia City

Gold Hill

American Flats

(Includes High Ranch)



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
xii January 2023

NEED FOR A WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply.  In addition, the contract 
between the County and the State for continued delivery of water from the Marlette System is currently 
being negotiated for renewal.  This Plan will review current water demands within the Plan Area and project 
water demands into the future based on buildout scenarios.  This analysis will assist the County in 
determining the amount of water which may be needed to serve customers in the future and ensure that 
there are adequate supplies to do so.   

This Plan is the County’s first water resource plan, and it is recommended that this Plan be updated every 
five to ten years to address issues due to potential changes in Nevada water law, economic growth, land use 
planning, water quality, and water quantity.  Additionally, NRS 278.0228 requires that governing bodies 
update their water resource plan no less than every ten years.  This Plan will provide the basis for future 
updates and help guide the County in decisions related to water resources including future investments in 
the water system and water sources.  

The County completed its Master Plan in 2016.  The 2016 Master Plan states, “Nearly every community in 
the county is faced with water supply challenges.” Water resource planning is tied directly to master 
planning efforts, and these two planning efforts are intended to complement each other.  Information from 
the 2016 Master Plan was used in this Plan.   



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources, and Management 

FINAL Storey County
1 January 2023

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize current water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. As described in the Introduction, the Plan Area consists of the populated 
areas in the southern portion of the County including Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches and Mark Twain Estates and is shown on Figure 2. The Storey County Water 
System currently serves customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill and delivers water to Silver City in Lyon 
County. Other communities within the Plan Area rely on individual wells to meet demands. This chapter 
presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to establish estimates and assumptions which will 
form the basis for the Plan.  

2.0 SUMMARY OF COMMUNITIES 

The Comstock Area, located at the southern end of the County, includes Virginia City, the Divide, Gold 
Hill and American Flat. This area was originally developed in the late 1800s and considerable measures are 
employed to maintain the rich historical character while promoting business, tourism, and the rural Nevada 
lifestyle. The Highlands Area, located north of the Comstock, is a residential estate community surrounded 
by undeveloped lands. This is a rural community which is relatively close to the conveniences of the Reno 
metropolitan area. There are no commercial uses within the Highlands. The Mark Twain Area is also a 
residential estate community surrounded by undeveloped lands and is at the southern border of the County. 
Mark Twain abuts Lyon County and is near the growing suburban area of Dayton. 

STOREY COUNTY WATER CUSTOMERS 

The County currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of customers (666) are 
within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County serves approximately 
207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential.  

ESTIMATED POPULATION WITHIN PLAN AREA 

The County’s 2016 Master Plan includes a population summary based on data from 2014. This information 
is reproduced in Table 5 below along with an estimate of current population provided by the State 
Demographer. The population estimate for Storey County for 2019 was 4,258. The Demographer also 
provides estimates for Gold Hill and Virginia City. The 2019 population of the other areas in Table 5 were 
estimated based on the Demographer’s information and 2014 population estimates from the 2016 Master 
Plan. The estimated population of the Plan Area is 3,346 persons.  



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
2 January 2023

Table 5: Current Population and Household Size 
Area 2014 2019 

Storey County 3,974 4,258 

Gold Hill 201 206 

Virginia City 832 904 

Highlands 1,398 1,498

Mark Twain 689 738 

Lockwood/River 979 1,049

Household Size 2.1 2.1 
i Sources: (Storey County, 2016); (Demographer, 2020) 

3.0 WATER RESOURCES 

The major water supply within the Plan Area is the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System). The 
Marlette System is owned and operated by the State of Nevada (State). Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) 331.160, the Public Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration 
of the system which includes transmission and storage of water in Storey County, Carson City, and Washoe 
County. Currently, Carson City and Storey County are the only two customers of the Marlette System.  

The Marlette System provides water to the County to supply customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill. The 
County also delivers water to Silver City located in Lyon County. The remaining populated areas are 
supplied by individual domestic wells. 

4.0 WATER RIGHTS IN NEVADA 

The Nevada Division of Water Resources (NDWR) is the regulatory authority for water rights in the State 
of Nevada. The Nevada State Engineer (NSE), as head of this division, approves or denies water right 
applications, establishes limitations to water usage and manages dam safety operations within the State.  

WATER RIGHT PRIORITY AND APPROPRIATION STATUTES AND REGULATION 

The legal process to acquire water rights and transfer those rights to the subject property is defined by 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapters 533 and 534, Nevada Administrative Code (NAC), and internal 
office policy. All water, whether above or below the surface of the ground is owned by the public. Nevada 
water right law is based on the prior appropriation doctrine, otherwise known as “first in time, first in right.” 
By filing an application to appropriate through the office of the Nevada State Engineer (NSE), surface water 
resources have been appropriated since 1905 and groundwater resources in Nevada have been appropriated 
for use since 1939. The priority date assigned to each water right establishes what water rights can be 
exercised from a source depending on available water at a given time.  

Another pillar of Nevada water right law is the concept of beneficial use. Beneficial use is the basis, 
measure, and limit to the water right. This means that only the portion of the water right that can be used 
beneficially is established as the perfected, or certificated water right. To allow water right owners 
flexibility to place their rights to beneficial use, there is a process to change or move the permitted location 
of these water rights to meet project demands. Furthermore, if the beneficial use of the right was initiated 
prior to the 1905 or 1939 appropriation dates for surface water and groundwater, respectively, those rights 
are deemed vested water rights and are thus more senior than rights appropriated after 1905 or 1939.  

For general purposes, statutes for groundwater rights and surface water rights are in separate chapters in 
the NRS. While these rights have generally been administered separately, current legislative actions have 
established conjunctive use management requirements that the Nevada State Engineer must adhere to. For 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
3 January 2023

the purposes of this Plan, we will consider groundwater rights and surface water rights separate, though 
long-term water right management should consider future conjunctive use implications. 

NEVADA STATE ENGINEER REGULATORY ACTIONS 

Dayton Valley and the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basins are within the Plan Area. The NSE has 
designated both groundwater basins under Orders 471 and 688 in Dayton Valley and Order 705 in the 
Tracey Segment. These designation Orders provide the NSE additional regulatory tools to manage 
groundwater appropriation such as designation of preferred/non-preferred uses and processing applications 
out of filing order.  

The Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin is considered over-appropriated. NSE Ruling 5823 established the 
perennial yield between 8,000 and 20,000 acre-feet annually (AFA) and approximately 24,495 AFA are 
currently appropriated. The Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin is nearing the perennial yield of 11,500 
AFA according to NSE Ruling 5747, with approximately 11,230 AFA appropriated. For planning purposes, 
the ability to obtain new appropriations for groundwater in either hydrographic basin is considered limited. 

WATER RIGHT OWNERSHIP 

Water rights in the Marlette System have been held by different parties over the years. Reports of 
Conveyance which update water right ownership must be submitted to NDWR, and deeds that transfer 
ownership are recorded in the respective County Recorder’s office. Water right ownership processes are 
important to understand especially as the County does not own the water rights to the Marlette System. 
Currently, the State owns all water rights associated with Marlette System approved for use within the 
County which are described below. Each of the water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as 
Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to 
locations not currently included as the place of use, an application to expand the place of use would have 
to be submitted and approved by the NSE.  

5.0 MARLETTE WATER SYSTEM 

The Marlette System dates back to the 1870’s and includes several water sources. The following is a 
summary of the Marlette System sources and water rights.  

FRANKTOWN CREEK DECREE 

The Franktown Creek Decree defines the water rights to streams on the eastern slope of the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains which are associated with the Marlette System. The decree is the result of a 1951 petition by the 
Franktown Creek Irrigation District to the State Engineer to determine the relative rights of claimants to the 
waters of Franktown Creek. At the time of the decree, the water rights to the Marlette System were held by 
Marlette Lake Company. The decree states that the water source for Marlette Lake Company is, “Hobart 
Creek (tributary to Franktown Creek) and certain waters in the Franktown Creek Watershed proper having 
sources in the eastern slopes of the Sierra Nevada Mountains at and above Red House” (Franktown Creek 
Decree, 1961). The decree also states that the Marlette Lake Company had the right to store water in the 
110-acre foot Hobart Reservoir. Water stored in Hobart Reservoir is released to supplement flows in the
natural channel. The amount of the Claim was limited to 10 cubic feet per second (cfs) based on the capacity
of the flumes downstream from Red House (Affirmation, 1963). This water right is described as Franktown
Decree Claim V-02419 and is deemed “vested” since the beneficial use of this water right was initiated
prior to March 1, 1905. The specific priority and volume for these rights will be determined in the future
should Franktown Creek undergo an adjudication.



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
4 January 2023

MARLETTE LAKE WATER RIGHTS 

Marlette Lake was originally constructed in 1873. A tunnel was constructed through Herlan Peak to connect 
Marlette Lake to Franktown Creek and Hobart Reservoir. Marlette Lake had an initial capacity of about 
3,400 acre-feet (AF) when it was constructed in 1873. The dam was subsequently raised to its current height 
in 1959 to bring the capacity to approximately 11,500 AF. Prior to purchase by the State, discussed further 
below, there were no documented water rights associated with Marlette Lake as the original construction 
pre-dated the statutory requirements to file an application. Marlette Lake water rights are currently subject 
to an agreement between the State’s Building and Grounds Department and Nevada Department of Wildlife. 
The agreement limits annual diversions to maintain a minimum water surface elevation necessary for 
spawning of the for the Lahontan Cutthroat Trout and could impact water resource availability should the 
County require water from Marlette Lake in any given year. 

MARLETTE SYSTEM SURFACE WATER RIGHTS 

In 1963, Marlette Lake Company sold all property, water rights, easements and improvements associated 
with the Marlette System to the State. This included Marlette Lake, all water rights included in the 
Franktown Creek Decree (i.e., waters above Red House Diversion Dam and Hobart Lake), Five Mile 
Reservoir and waters of Mill Creek, Tunnel Creek and others draining into the North Flume. Following the 
purchase of these rights, the State filed additional water right applications. A summary of these water rights 
is provided in Table 6. 



W
at

er
 R

es
o

u
rc

e 
P

la
n

 
W

at
er

 D
em

an
d

s,
 S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

FI
N

AL
 

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y 
5 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
23

 

T
ab

le
 6

: M
ar

le
tt

e 
Sy

st
em

 W
at

er
 R

ig
ht

s 

O
w

ne
r 

of
 

R
ec

or
d 

A
pp

 
C

er
t 

Pr
io

ri
ty

 
D

at
e 

A
pp

 
St

at
us

 
So

ur
ce

 
So

ur
ce

 
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n 
T

yp
e 

of
 

U
se

 

D
iv

. 
R

at
e 

(c
fs

) 

D
ut

y 
(A

FA
/S

) 
A

F 
St

or
ag

e 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

7
 

8
8

5
5

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

S
tr

ea
m

 
M

ar
le

tt
e 

C
re

ek
 a

n
d

 
L

ak
e 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

9
0

.7
9

 
3

,0
0

0
 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

6
 

--
  

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

P
er

m
it

 
S

tr
ea

m
 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
C

re
ek

 a
n

d
 

L
ak

e 
an

d
 

T
ri

b
u

ta
ry

 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

3
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
0

 

H
ob

ar
t D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

6
 

8
8

0
1

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

U
n

d
er

g
ro

u
n

d
T

u
n

n
el

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.7
1

0
 

5
1

4
.0

0
0

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

5
 

1
0

7
8

6
 

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

C
er

ti
fi

ca
te

 
U

n
d

er
g

ro
u

n
d

 
T

u
n

n
el

 
M

u
n

ic
ip

al
 

0
.8

3
6

 
6

3
1

.8
9

 
0

 

N
ev

ad
a 

S
ta

te
 

L
an

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

V
0

2
4

1
9

 
--

  
1

/8
/1

8
7

1
 

D
ec

re
e 

S
tr

ea
m

 
H

o
b

ar
t 

C
re

ek
 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
1

0
.0

0
0

 
7

,2
4

0
.1

4
i  

-

i 
–

 N
o

t 
to

 e
x

ce
ed

. 
V

o
lu

m
e 

n
o

t 
sp

ec
if

ie
d

 i
n

 F
ra

n
k

to
w

n
 D

ec
re

e.
 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
6 January 2023

CONTRACT BETWEEN STATE OF NEVADA AND STOREY COUNTY 

As described in this section, all water rights for the Marlette System are owned by the State and 
administered by NPWD. The State has provided water to Storey County since 1963. Historically, the State 
has entered into 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System water. This is currently 
the only supply available to County water customers located in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. 
Currently, the County and the State are negotiating a new contract. While this occurs, the entities have 
agreed to operate under the terms of the prior contract dated October 23, 2002 (2002 Contract).  

The 2002 Contract includes a table summarizing the maximum amount of raw water to be supplied to the 
County each year through 2021. A portion of this information is reproduced in Table 7. It is important to 
note that this is for illustrative purposes only and does not represent any indication of current negotiations 
between the State and County.  

Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

6.0 WATER RIGHTS WITHIN STOREY COUNTY 

There are other water users within the southern portion of Storey County which rely on water rights to 
groundwater, springs, and small streams. These water rights are currently not permitted for municipal 
purposes and are instead for use by individuals or companies for mining and milling, stock water, irrigation, 
environmental, domestic, and quasi-municipal purposes. A more specific study or analysis is needed to 
determine if these rights may be available to the County for M&I uses in the future.  

TRACEY SEGMENT WATER RIGHTS 

The County is listed as the owner of two groundwater rights within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic 
Basin. These water rights are permitted for use in the Canyon General Improvement District (GID)1 water 
system, although the GID maintains a separate holding of rights which are used to provide service to its 
non-County facility customers. Permit No. 80870, and Permit 50553, Certificate No. 18224 are for quasi-
municipal and domestic uses to support County facilities and uses within the GID service area. These water 
rights represent approximately 48.5 AF in two production wells. For planning purposes, the balance of 
water rights above what is being used to support County facilities in the GID service area could be 
transferred to another location within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin. A more specific study or 
analysis is needed to determine the exact balance of these rights that may be available to the County for use 
in the basin. 

1 The canyon GID is outside of the Water Resource Plan study area. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
7 January 2023

DAYTON VALLEY WATER RIGHTS 

A review of water rights appropriated by Storey County in the Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin indicates 
four previous applications, which have been cancelled or denied, that sought water rights to support fire 
protection and storage for treated effluent. The applications and permits contain limited information as to 
the nature of the cancellation or denial, but several attempts to appropriate water since the 1980s may 
indicate a need for this water.  

Recommendations for applying for and permitting water rights to support fire protection needs and 
distribution of treated effluent will be developed in subsequent chapters. 

DOMESTIC GROUNDWATER USE 

A water right is not required for a domestic well to serve a single-family dwelling. Groundwater use for 
domestic purposes is not to exceed 2 AF per year. There are portions of three hydrographic basins within 
the Plan area including Tracy Segment, Dayton Valley and a small portion of the Truckee Meadows as 
shown in Figure 2. NDWR documents the number of domestic wells within each groundwater basin and 
then estimates domestic use at 1 AF per year for each domestic well. Based on current County GIS data, 
the number of single-family residences with a domestic well within the Plan area was determined, and the 
same assumption of 1 AF per year for each domestic well was applied. Table 8 summarizes the volume of 
committed groundwater resources associated with domestic wells2 (i.e., 2 AF per domestic well) and the 
estimated volume pumped for the entire basin and for the portions within the Plan area.  

Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates 

Basin 
NDWR Values for Basini Plan Area Estimatesii 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Dayton Valley 3,012 1,506 744 372 

Tracy Segment 1,460 730 1,064 532

Truckee Meadows 3,498 1,749 80 40 
i This information is based on the Water Year 2017 Pumpage Inventories for the Dayton Valley, Tracy Segment 

and Truckee Meadows Hydrographic Basins. 
ii The Plan Area estimates are based on a query of the NDWR Well Log Database dated November 15, 2019 and 

downloaded from the NDWR website on February 26, 2020 along with Storey County assessor parcel data. 

2 Domestic wells are exempt from water right permitting requirements in the State of Nevada unless the maximum 
demand of the user exceeds 2 acre-feet annually. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
8 January 2023

7.0 WATER PRODUCTION AND FACILITIES 

As described above, the County’s primary water source is surface water which originates from the Marlette 
System which consists of two reservoirs, several catchment basins, and a diversion dam on Hobart Creek 
at Red House. The current capacity of the flumed pipe diverting water at Red House Dam is about 7 cfs. 
From the Red House Division Dam, the pipe discharges to the Lakeview Tank. At this location, water can 
be directed towards Carson City or Storey County.  

STOREY COUNTY WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES 

Water for the County is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to a pipeline. The 
County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under Interstate 580 at 
Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile Reservoir and/or the 
Five-Mile Tank. The transmission main from the Lakeview Tank to Five-Mile is currently operated at a 
flow rate up to 320 gallons per minute3 (gpm). During normal operations, the transmission line discharges 
directly to Five-Mile Reservoir which fills the tank or continues northeast to the Bullion Tank then through 
the water treatment plant at the south end of Virginia City.  

The water treatment plant is a filtration plant used to meet surface water treatment requirements and has a 
capacity of 1.2 MGD4. The treated water is then pumped into the Hillside storage tanks. From the Hillside 
tanks, the water flows directly into the distribution system and can also fill the Taylor Tank and Divide 
Tank. Water from the Divide Tank is used to supply Gold Hill and also fills the Silver City Tank to supply 
the community of Silver City. 

STOREY COUNTY SYSTEM DEMANDS 

Within the County’s system, water flows are metered at numerous locations that can be considered when 
analyzing the system demands. For the purpose of this Plan, water meter data for deliveries to the County’s 
system at the Lakeview Tank (source), water treatment plant and customer service connections (end user) 
were reviewed and analyzed.  

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery 

Raw water from the Marlette System is measured by a flow meter at the Lakeview Tank. The County is 
billed for raw water provided by the State based on readings at this meter. Table 9 summarizes raw water 
deliveries to the County during 2016 through 2019. During this time, the County used an average of 
approximately 221 AF per year.  

3 If 320 gpm were to be delivered continuously, this would be equal to approximately 516 AFA. The maximum 
capacity of the siphon is estimated at 738 gpm (1,190 afa) but the flows are throttled down with valves below the 
Lakeview Tank. 
4 Based on design capacity flow rate of 875 gpm. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
9 January 2023

Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) 
Year Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total 
2016 12.3 11.2 13.3 14.3 16.8 26.7 34.5 30.9 27.3 16.9 11.6 12.0 227.7 
2017 11.9 11.1 13.0 11.3 18.0 30.5 33.1 31.4 25.3 16.8 13.2 18.4 234.0 
2018 11.7 7.5 13.0 14.4 19.4 27.7 31.8 34.2 25.8 18.6 11.4 9.6 225.1 
2019 9.0 9.4 9.9 10.6 18.9 23.6 28.1 27.0 23.1 16.5 11.8 9.1 196.9 
Avg. 11.2 9.8 12.3 12.6 18.2 27.1 31.8 30.9 25.4 17.2 12.0 12.3 220.9 

7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production 

The water treatment plant was constructed in 1997 and consists of three filters. Figure 3 shows the monthly 
average flow rate through the water treatment plant during 2016 through 2019. The average production at 
the treatment plant during this time period was 210 AF per year which equals an average flow rate of 131 
gpm. The monthly average treatment plant flows also provide the seasonal demand curve. This seasonal 
demand curve is typical and shows increased system demand during warmer months when yard irrigation 
occurs and tourist activity increases. Reduced demand occurs during the cooler, non-irrigation months when 
tourism slows off its summer and fall peak. Maximum summer production is 2.9 times greater than 
minimum wintertime production. 

Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) 

7.2.3 Customer Meter Records  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered. Currently, the County Public 
Works shop and the sewer treatment plant are not metered. Table 10 through Table 12 summarizes the daily 
average and maximum water use, in addition to the flow rate, based on monthly customer records provided 
by the County for 2018 through 2021. The average demand during this time period was approximately 
153,100 gallons per day, or 106.3 gpm. Residential customers accounted for 60 percent of this demand, at 
92,800 gallons, or 64.5 gpm, on average. Commercial customers accounted for the other 40 percent at 
60,300 gallons, or 41.8 gpm, on average. There was approximately 25 percent of the non-peak daily flow 
limit from the Marlette System, in 2020.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

Pr
od

uc
tio

n�
(g
pm

)



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
10 January 2023

Between 2018 and 2021, the average maximum day demand was 284,110 gallons per day, or 197.3 gpm. 
This was approximately 30 percent of the summertime daily flow limit from the Marlette System, in 2020. 
Residential customers used 167,600 gallons of maximum day demand, on average, or 116.4 gpm. 
Commercial customers used 116,500 gallons of maximum day demand, equating to 80.9 gpm, on average.  

Table 10: Residential Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 
2018 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

2019 84.1 58.4 158.6 110.1

2020 95.4 66.2 154.4 107.2

2021 103.8 72.1 179.9 124.9

Average 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

2019 53.1 36.9 96.3 66.9

2020 62.1 43.1 122.4 85.0

2021 70.2 48.8 144.6 100.4

Average 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

Table 12: Total Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

2019 137.2 95.3 254.9 177.0

2020 157.5 109.4 276.8 192.2

2021 174.0 120.9 324.5 225.3

Average 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

WATER DEMAND FACTORS 

Water demands for a system are typically presented in four ways: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD),

� Average Day Demand (ADD),

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD), and



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
11 January 2023

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD).

For the purposes of this Plan, system water demand factors are based on the WTP flow meter data. As stated 
above, the average production at the WTP, or AAD, was 210 AF per year. Therefore, the average flow rate 
(ADD) during the study period of 2016 through 2019 was 131 gpm. Based on the monthly flow data 
provided, the daily flow during the maximum month was 1.75 times greater than the average day flow. 
Because daily data are not available, a more conservative peaking factor of 2.0 is used for this Plan. PHD 
is also based on an assumed PHD peaking factor of 4.0 x ADD. Table 13 summarizes the system demands 
which will be used in this Plan.  

Table 13: System Demands 
System Demand Demand Volume or Flow Peaking Factor 

AAD 210 AF per year N/A 

ADD 131 gpm N/A

MDD 262 gpm 2.0 x ADD 

PHD 524 gpm 4.0 x ADD 

Based on the customer meter analysis presented in Section 7.2.3, the average water consumption for 
residential customers is 0.17 AF per year while commercial customers average 0.33 AF per year. An 
average connection demand of 0.30 AF (0.19 gpm or 268 gpd) per residential connection and 0.50 AF (0.31 
gpm or 446 gpd) per commercial connection will be used in this Plan to estimate future water demands.  

UNACCOUNTED FOR WATER 

Unaccounted for water (UAFW) is the difference between the quantity of water purchased/produced and 
the quantity of water delivered to customers or billed. UAFW is not the same as water loss, as losses are 
only a component of UAFW. Figure 4 shows the percentage of revenue water which is the counterpart to 
UAFW and is calculated by dividing the customer meter volume by raw water deliveries. From 2016 
through 2019, revenue water fluctuated between 65 and 75 percent on an annual basis, with a non-weighted 
average of 70 percent.  

There are numerous factors that can contribute to UFAW or non-revenue water including waterline leaks, 
evaporative losses at Five-Mile Reservoir5, process losses at the water treatment plant, system flushing, 
unmetered connections, fire hydrants and unmetered construction water usage. The Divide Reservoir1, 
which holds 1.5 million gallons of treated water and is used for fire protection, is another connection which 
is not metered. The Divide Reservoir is located in Virginia City and is on an automatic fill which regularly 
offsets evaporation, and larger refills occur following use for fire protection. In addition, during the period 
of 2016 through 2019, several large construction projects took place including a sewer system improvement 
project, a water main extension/replacement project and construction of the courthouse parking lot with 
retaining walls. All of these would contribute to the volume of unmetered or unbilled water. It is 
recommended that the County pursue a comprehensive water loss analysis or audit to confirm the primary 
contributor(s) to system non-revenue water and reduce this volume below 15 percent of all water purchased 
from the Marlette Water System. 

5 Average annual evaporative losses at the Five-Mile and Divide Reservoirs are estimated at 1.24 and 0.74 acre-feet, 
respectively. Combined, these losses make up less than one percent of average annual raw water deliveries. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
12 January 2023

Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water 

WATER STORAGE FACILITIES 

The County uses non-potable and potable water storage facilities to operate the water system. Table 14 
summarizes the capacity of each of the tanks and reservoirs in the County’s System. The potable water 
tanks are designed to provide operational, emergency and fire storage (see NAC 445A.6674 through 6675); 
however, the Divide Reservoir is used to store water for wildland fire protection purposes only. Additional 
information and analysis regarding the benefit of water storage is provided in Chapter 2.  

Table 14: Water Storage Facilities 
Tank Raw/Potable Operational Capacity (gal) 

Five Mile Reservoir Raw 5,600,000 

Five Mile Tank Raw 500,000 

Bullion Tank Raw 1,400,000 

Total Raw Water Storage =  7,500,000 
Hillside Tank No. 1 Potable 500,000 

Hillside Tank No. 2 Potable 500,000 

Taylor Tank Potable 200,000 

Divide Tank Potable 115,000 

Silver City Tank Potable 160,000 

Total Potable Water Storage =  1,475,000 
Divide Reservoir i Potable 1,552,000

i The Divide Reservoir is located at the south end of Virginia City. The reservoir is filled with potable water; 
however, it is currently only used for wildland fire protection purposes only and does not contribute to system 
storage volumes. 

70%
65%

69%
75%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2016 2017 2018 2019



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
13 January 2023

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to assess the availability, capacity and quality of each water source used 
within the Plan Area as shown on Figure 2. Additionally, this chapter identifies risks associated with each 
source and provides strategies to mitigate those potential threats. This chapter also includes an analysis of 
remaining capacity of Storey County Water System facilities.  

2.0 WATER RESOURCE AVAILABILITY AND MANAGEMENT 

Water resources within the Plan Area are less than current demand. The County lies in the rain shadows 
created by the Sierra Nevada Mountains and the Virginia Range. Average annual precipitation in the Plan 
Area is approximately 12.5 inches per year based on a Western Regional Climate Center station located in 
Virginia City (WRCC, 2020). Annual recharge of area aquifers is limited due to inadequate elevation of the 
Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The primary source of recharge occurs within the 
upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge 
from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge depending on the slope and soil 
permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the mountain block without significant 
impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources are impacted by mountain block 
(“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson River watershed.  

As a result of significant mining activities in the second half of the 19th century, an external water source 
was brought in to supply domestic and mining uses. This source of water is surface water, supplied by the 
Marlette Water System from the eastern slope of the Sierra in the Tahoe Basin and is conveyed through a 
reverse siphon transmission pipeline for approximately 7 miles. This section of the Plan will address the 
availability of water and current management practices for these existing resources.  

ESTIMATED USE WITHIN PLAN AREA 

Recent water use in the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw 
water from the Marlette System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is 
unmetered groundwater used by private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic 
well it is estimated that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the 
American Flat area.  

SURFACE WATER 

The annual volume of water available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. 
Based on the information in Chapter 1, the County can use up to 487.7 AF during 2020. This is more than 
double the County Water System’s current demand. Because water from the Franktown Decree can also be 
supplemented by water stored in Marlette Lake, the Marlette Water System is a very reliable water source 
for Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. However, the maximum volume of water available from the 
Marlette Water System is restricted by transmission pipeline capacity and impacted by annual snowpack, 
fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits. 

Future water demands, including a buildout scenario, will be analyzed as part of this Plan in chapter 3. This 
analysis will assist the County in determining the future needs within the Plan Area. Due to groundwater 
limitations described in Section 2.3, the County must pursue amending its Contract with the State to allow 
delivery of water to American Flat, the Highlands and Mark Twain.  



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
14 January 2023

GROUNDWATER 

In total, Storey County overlies portions of six groundwater basins with the Plan Area overlying portions 
of four basins. Most of the Highlands area lies within the Tracy Segment Basin (083) and the majority of 
the Comstock and Mark Twain areas lie within the Dayton Valley (103) Basin. Because of limited recharge 
and water right appropriations exceeding perennial yields, groundwater development within the Plan Area 
is limited to predominantly domestic wells. Groundwater availability for the wells varies annually 
depending on precipitation, pumping, and corresponding water in groundwater storage. As identified in the 
chapter 1, future groundwater development will be discussed for the Plan Area and not the entire County. 

The Highlands area currently has approximately 588 domestic wells ranging in screen depths from about 
53 to 1,500 feet below ground surface. A significant portion of the wells in the area have been deepened 
over time as the more wells that are added to the area require a greater amount of groundwater from the 
aquifer, thus resulting in a lowering of the water table. Extended dry periods including between the period 
between 2013 through 2015 also generally resulted in less water availability. More specifically, Highlands 
area residents have experienced drawdown ranging upwards of 240-feet in the past requiring wells to be 
deepened or replaced. 

The United States Geologic Survey (USGS) has been contracted to conduct a study of this area and has 
presented preliminary data in 2019 and 2020. Initial data indicates that groundwater levels have declined 
approximately 50 to 165 feet within the past two decades (Smith, 2020) in some areas. The study will also 
evaluate water level trends in the Highlands, develop water table and water level change maps, characterize 
the fractured volcanic rock aquifer(s)6 hydraulic properties and estimate recharge rates. The resulting 5-
year study, expected in 2022, will provide valuable data that will assist the County in water resource 
planning. The current groundwater availability in the Highlands is inadequate to support current demands 
and will not be able to support the buildout condition of the existing lots with cost effective wells. Some 
residents are currently relying on trucked water and private storage tanks. Although the upper elevations of 
the Highlands watershed may allow for natural recharge, capturing or diverting precipitation from surface 
water runoff for local recharge is either not allowed7 or is already included in determining the perennial 
yield of the basin and would not result in any additional appropriative right(s). A comprehensive study of 
the water quality in the Highlands area has not been completed to date, although data which has been made 
available indicates groundwater in the Highlands can have high concentrations of constituents including, 
but not limited to total dissolved solids and iron. In fact, most Highlands residents employ some form of 
filtration treatment technology in their homes for the removal of iron from their domestic well. 

The Mark Twain area currently has approximately 333 domestic wells ranging in depths from about 80 to 
700 feet below ground surface. The area is proximal to Dayton, Nevada which relies on municipal and 
domestic production wells that produce groundwater from the same alluvial aquifer. Some wells in the 
Mark Twain area north of the alluvial basin require wells completed in fractured rock aquifers that are 
typically more limited in capacity and recharge than the alluvial aquifer. Like the Highlands, extensive 
water quality data does not exist for this area, although wells adjacent to this area have not meet water 
quality standards required for community water systems in the past. Residents in this area have experienced 
wells going dry when the total depth of the well is 170-feet or less.    

The Comstock area includes an area commonly referred to as American Flat, which presently supports 
approximately 15 domestic wells. Currently, a mine and heap-leach facility is located in American Flat. A 
company purchased residences in the area to house mine workers and guests. Originally, American Flat 

6 Volcanic rock aquifers are known to offer reduced water storage capacity and provide very limited recharge as 
compared to aquifers in other geologic units. 
7 A single surface water permit was found for Long Valley Creek for industrial purposes. Any additional appropriation 
would need to ensure that this senior right would not be negatively impacted by the proposed use. No surface water 
rights associated with Lagomarsino Creek were found on the NDWR database. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
15 January 2023

was part of the County water system and received treated surface water from the Marlette System. In 1964, 
American Flat was excised from the County water services and is now supported by groundwater through 
two domestic wells. With a total of 44 domestic wells lying within the Comstock area the amount of 
groundwater being used is small. Also, hydrogeology characteristics indicate that the costs associated with 
drilling higher capacity production wells will exceed the benefits that would be realized by developing 
groundwater resources in this area. Additionally, water quality in the Comstock is suspected to generally 
not meet drinking water maximum contaminant levels due to hydrothermal mineralization and historic (i.e., 
19th century) anthropogenic contamination from mining processes. A current liability for the Storey County 
Water System is the absence of any formal agreement for providing water service to the community of 
Silver City (Lyon County). It is strongly recommended that Storey County and Lyon County work together 
to enter into an agreement which clearly defines Storey County’s responsibility(s) to provide water service 
to future development in Silver City. 

Because all existing wells in the Plan Area are domestic wells, which are owned and operated by private 
residents, the County’s ability to have influence on the ongoing management of groundwater use may be 
limited. In the 2016 Master Plan, the County developed many objectives and policies regarding 
groundwater use within the Plan Area and it is recommended that the County enforce and build on these 
policies to protect the sustainability of current groundwater resources. The County shall provide education 
and guidance to private landowners that production from existing domestic wells in the Virginia Highlands 
is not sustainable and deepening of domestic wells is a cyclic, never-ending process. The County could 
require individual landowners to demonstrate that their proposed domestic well will not negatively impact 
adjacent landowners by enforcing a policy such as: 

Policy: If a proposed domestic well is to be installed within a distance of approximately 1 
mile of an existing domestic well(s), then water level data for existing well(s) within 1 mile 
of the proposed well should be reviewed and determined to have an annual average 
drawdown of less than 0.25 feet per year for a 10-year period. If the annual average 
drawdown is determined to be greater than 0.25 feet per year, drilling of additional 
domestic wells within the one-mile radius should not be allowed due to impacts to existing 
groundwater users. Additionally, after the installation of any new domestic well, water 
level data shall be collected and provided annually to the County. Water level trends should 
indicate an average steady decline of no greater 0.25 feet in the new domestic well for each 
of the past 10 years prior to the site being deemed sustainable for domestic use. If the well 
is not found to be sustainable, the residence will be required to abandon the well and receive 
water from an external source (i.e., delivery truck). The County reserves the right to 
increase or decrease the proposed allowable rate of 0.25 feet per year as aquifer conditions 
change over time. 

Another proposed policy which will improve the sustainability of local aquifers and provide valuable data 
for the long-term understanding of aquifer conditions is the implementation of water meters on domestic 
wells. The proposed policy should include the following provisions: 

Policy: Unless the residence is granted a waiver by Storey County, all domestic well users 
must install a meter to measure all water produced by the well. The meter must comply 
with County specifications and provide electronic direct read transfer of data to County 
Public Works equipment. The meters are to be used for quantifying the capacity of the 
limited aquifers in the County. The County may also use the meter data to enforce state 
limitations for the production of groundwater (i.e., 2 acre-feet annually maximum) or any 
future restrictions to domestic groundwater production. 

Per Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, land subdivision applications must also demonstrate that a 
sufficient volume of uncommitted water exists to serve the needs of the development as well as evidence 
that the use of water for the development will not adversely impact existing surrounding residents, 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
16 January 2023

properties and uses. Procurement of the necessary water is not required until filing for final map at which 
point the sufficiency of the rights will be reviewed by the County and NDWR. This policy is beneficial to 
future groundwater sustainability. It is also recommended that the County continue to develop their 
groundwater management plan, through studies like this plan and by participating in more specific studies, 
to guide groundwater use in these areas. See appendix A for supporting information. 

3.0 THREATS TO EXISTING AND FUTURE WATER RESOURCES 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its Storey County Water System customers, it must 
consider any potential changes which may affect its water source and supply. Additionally, residents outside 
of the Water System’s service area must also be aware of potential risks. The risks and threats presented in 
this section are typically out of a water supplier’s and private well owner’s control; however, proper 
management and planning can mitigate their impacts. This section identifies potential threats to water 
supplies within the Plan Area. Recommendations as to how the County and residents can mitigate these 
threats are discussed in this chapter and in chapter 3.  

DROUGHT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

The Storey County Water System’s only source of water is from the Sierra Nevada Mountains. The amount 
of water available to the County system through the Marlette Water System is directly dependent on 
seasonal storms and the snowpack on the East Slope of the Tahoe Basin and in the Marlette/Hobart Lake 
watershed and existing pipeline capacity at the siphon.  Extended periods of below average precipitation 
are known to occur in the Tahoe Basin and on the eastern side of the Sierra Nevada which have the potential 
to reduce the amount of water available in any given year. However, this condition is mitigated by the 
upstream Marlette and Hobart storage reservoirs.  

Extended periods of dry weather are especially known to affect the availability of groundwater within the 
Plan Area. As mentioned previously, the drought which occurred from 2013 through 2015 resulted in 
declining groundwater levels within the Virginia Highlands. Some homeowners had to deepen their wells 
to be able to pump the groundwater in this area. Drought also affects the Mark Twain area and the Dayton 
Valley. Groundwater in this area is affected by flows in the Carson River which has limited upstream 
storage resulting. Below average precipitation in the Carson River Watershed results in decreased surface 
and subsurface flows through the Dayton Valley which can impact groundwater levels.  

In addition to droughts, which are temporary, climate change is expected to have lasting effects on the 
availability of future water supplies. Climate is used in reference to prevailing weather conditions in an area 
over a long period of time. No climate study or evaluation was undertaken for the purpose of this Plan; 
however, sources were reviewed and referenced regarding climate change and climate predictions. The 
California Department of Water Resources (CDWR) released a report entitled California Climate Science 
and Data for Water Resources Management. Although this report does not include Nevada, it does include
the Tahoe and Carson Basins as part of the North Lahontan hydrologic region8. CDWR summarized the 
key climate vulnerabilities for the North Lahontan region as:  

� Increased air and water temperatures would place additional stress on sensitive ecosystems and
species;

� Loss of snowpack storage may reduce reliability of surface water supplies and result in greater
demand on groundwater resources;

� Magnitude and frequency of extreme precipitation events may increase, resulting in greater flood
risk; and

8 The Marlette Water System is directly adjacent to the North Lahontan hydrologic region which is bounded by the 
eastern border of the State of California. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
17 January 2023

� High temperature and longer dry seasons would increase wildfire risk.

Many of these vulnerabilities not only apply to the region of surface water supply in the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains but are also potential vulnerabilities in and around the Plan Area. CDWR provides a list of 
Resource Management Strategies that water suppliers can consider as tools to adapt to climate change. The 
following are CDWR recommended Resource Management Strategies for the climate vulnerabilities 
identified which are applicable to the County and Plan Area.  

� Urban Water Use Efficiency: Practices that maximize use of available water supplies by reducing
waste and increasing efficiency.

� Conveyance – Regional/Local: Improvement and maintenance of water conveyance systems to
improve system reliability, protect water quality, increase available water supplies, and provide
operational flexibility.

� Conjunctive Management and Groundwater Storage: Coordinated and planned use and
management of surface water and groundwater resources to maximize the availability and
reliability of water supplies.

� Surface Storage – Regional/Local: Human made, above-ground reservoirs to collect water for later
release when needed. Surface storage has played a key role where the quantity, timing and location
of water demand does not match the natural water supply availability.

� Drinking Water Treatment and Distribution: Development and maintenance of public water
treatment and distribution facilities. Reliability, quality, and safety of the raw water supplies are
critical to achieving this goal.

Although timing and magnitude of warming and other climate change factors are unknown, resource 
management strategies such those limited above will be useful considerations for climate change adaption. 
Through the County’s planning efforts, it will be critical to continue assessing potential climate change 
strategies and implement them as feasible and needed.  

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

As discussed throughout this chapter, the County’s water source(s) is governed by State and Federal 
regulatory guidelines, Nevada water rights law, the Franktown Decree and through agreements with the 
Marlette Water System. The water available to the County from the Marlette Water System is also utilized 
by other entities (e.g., Carson City, private irrigation companies) according to their appropriation and 
priority.  Additional parties, agreements and decrees could also influence the quantity and availability of 
water resources should the County pursue groundwater development within the Plan Area in the future. 

The NSE has the ability to regulate groundwater usage within a hydrographic basin by limiting water rights 
based on the priority dates of appropriations. If, in the NSE’s judgement, the hydrographic basin is over-
appropriated and being overdrawn, the NSE can issue a curtailment order. A curtailment9 order establishes 
which water rights can be exercised, and which cannot, to protect the long-term health of the aquifer. Being 
that the County’s current groundwater right holdings are limited, any future appropriations would be very 
junior in priority and would be at a greater risk for curtailment. This risk could be mitigated if the County 
chooses to purchase senior groundwater rights as opposed to filing for new appropriations.  

More importantly, the County should monitor the development of new regulations and determine whether 
they directly impact the County’s current water supply or not. Conjunctive use regulations are currently 
being developed in the Humboldt Regional Hydrographic Basin which could have an impact to future water 
resources the County may or may not pursue. While previous legislative sessions have resulted in 
conjunctive use management statements, there are currently no regulations to guide how groundwater and 

9 Domestic wells are also at risk to the curtailment process. Although bills including such provisions have not made it 
through past State of Nevada legislative sessions. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
18 January 2023

surface water interaction or conflict will work through the existing permitting process. If new conjunctive 
use management regulations are developed, it may impact the County’s ability to acquire, change and 
exercise permitted and certificated groundwater rights.   

Other potential regulatory actions that the County should consider include: 

� Modification to activities and uses which impact basin inflows and outflows.

� Future reduction in water quality maximum contaminant limits.

CONTAMINATION

The County is committed to providing a high level of service with its drinking water system and is dedicated 
to ensuring that level of service in the future. This section focuses on protection of source water quality, 
which is also of importance to private well owners, and ensuring that negative impacts to water quality 
from anthropogenic and natural sources are minimized to the greatest extent possible.  

3.3.1 Surface Water 

Due to the location of the surface water source, which is above any major roads or railways, the source is 
less vulnerable to contamination. However, the County should still be aware of possible contamination 
events including, but not limited to, turbidity events and algal blooms as opposed to toxic spills. The water 
treatment plant is designed to treat surface water but understanding and maintain the highest quality of 
water possible arriving at the plant is important.  

3.3.2 Groundwater 

Changes to water quality of the groundwater sources in the Plan Area can occur in two ways: 

1. The concentrations of naturally occurring constituents could change over time, or
2. Groundwater sources could become contaminated as a result of human activities.

Although the County does not currently utilize groundwater as a water source, constituents which could 
pose threats to the quality of groundwater are Arsenic, Gross Alpha, Uranium, Nitrate, Iron and Manganese. 
The County should encourage private well owners to send the County any water quality data to develop a 
database and monitor trends.  

3.3.3 Distribution System 

The County relies upon certified water treatment and distribution system operators who continually monitor 
water quality in the treatment and distribution systems. All testing and monitoring are done in conformance 
with established health and safety standards and under an operating permit with the Nevada Division of 
Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water. The County prepares an annual water quality 
Consumer Confidence Report which provides an overview of the previous year’s drinking water quality 
data for the Storey County Water System.  

CONVEYANCE INTERRUPTIONS 

The materials which make up the siphon and transmission main which delivers water from the Marlette 
Water System to the Plan Area are approximately 150 years old and known to have vulnerabilities. In 2018, 
a portion of the line experienced a leak which required emergency repair to ensure continued delivery of 
water to Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Although the County has 20 to 50 days10 of raw and 
potable water storage within its system, this event and others like it show the importance of regular 
monitoring and maintenance. Due to the age of the transmission main most parts or repairs must be 

10 Range in values is dependent on average or max day water use 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
19 January 2023

completed with custom fittings which are not only costly but require longer lead times. In order to increase 
system reliability and conveyance capacity it may become necessary to replace large portion of the siphon 
in the future.  

4.0 REMAINING CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A remaining capacity assessment of the System is a critical resource for the County to use to make future 
development determinations. The System’s capacity to convey and provide water to its customers and to 
future users is based on two primary factors: 

1. A System’s ability to operate within the parameters of Nevada Administrative Code (NAC)
regulations; and,

2. Proper allocation of water rights with the NSE.

This section will focus on the existing System capacity and will convert remaining capacity estimates into 
residential connection counts. Remaining capacity evaluations will be made on a combined supply and 
storage basis as described further below. Key assumptions used for this analysis include:   

� Water supply is based on 100% utilization of the siphon transmission main for a 24-hour period.
o The theoretical flow capacity of the siphon transmission main is 73811 gpm.

� Maximum fire demand is assumed to be 3,600 gpm for 2 hours for Virginia City and 1,500 gpm
for 2 hours each for Silver City and Gold Hill. The largest fire demand, 3,600 gpm for 2 hours, will
be used for the combined system analysis.

� Operating Storage is equal to the Average Day Demand (ADD) for 24 hours.

� Emergency Storage is 75% of the Operating Storage.

� The available potable storage within the system is assumed to be 1.475 Mgal12.

REMAINING STORAGE CAPACITY 

Typical capacity calculations use a combination of storage and supply to determine if a system meets NAC 
requirements. However, it is informative to analyze storage and supply capacity separately to better 
understand which of the two is the limiting factor in capacity. Current storage requirements are 762,000 
gallons out of the existing 1,475,000 gallons of storage capacity. Based on the Maximum Day Demand 
(MDD) and operations and emergency supply requirements, the remaining storage capacity can support an
additional 1,519 connections. This assumes that no water is being supplied via the siphon over a 24-hour
period.

The individual systems comprising the larger County system, vary in their storage capacities. The Virginia 
City system has ample storage, while both Gold Hill and Silver City have sufficient storage to meet demands 
as they are currently. This leads to the Virginia City storage providing the bulk capacity for the larger 
County system. 

REMAINING SUPPLY CAPACITY 

Currently, the siphon that provides water to the County System is not metered, so a flow rate has been 
calculated. The siphon that provides water to the County System is primarily 10-inch threaded steel pipe. 
The majority of the pipeline was installed around 1875, with portions of the siphon replaced over the years. 
Due to the age and massive pressures experienced by the siphon in places, the siphon is never operated at 
its full capacity. The siphon begins at the Lakeview Tank, which controls the water diversions to both 
Carson City and Virginia City. Flow to the County Systems is controlled by an actuated flow control valve. 

11 Value listed is the theoretical capacity of the siphon. See Section 4.2 for further information. 
12 For this analysis, the capacities of the Hillside Tanks are assumed to be their future capacity of 500,000 gal each. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
20 January 2023

This valve is never fully opened. Anecdotal evidence shows that the average flow seen in the siphon is 
approximately 320 gpm. The theoretical, calculated capacity of the pipeline is 738 gpm.  

Raw water is conveyed from the 5-Mile Reservoir to the Bullion tank in Virginia City by a 3-mile pipeline 
that is made up of a combination of newer 12-inch high-density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe and older 12-
inch ductile iron pipe. This pipeline is capable of conveying over 2,000 gpm of raw water to the water 
treatment plant. The water treatment plant serving the system is rated at 1.26 MGD. This equates to a flow 
rate of 875 gpm. Therefore, the limiting factor in the overall transmission of raw water to the system is the 
siphon at 738 gpm. A 738 gpm flow rate equates to 4,528 connections in the County system. Removing the 
existing connections, leaves us with a system capacity of 3,862 possible connections. 

Potable water is also transmitted from Virginia City to Gold Hill and then to Silver City. The Gold Hill 
system is fed by the Divide Tank off a separate 12-inch main. This pipe can convey up to 2,800 gpm if 
required. Silver City is fed by a single 4-inch main. This presents capacity issues in the system, as the main 
can only convey up to 315 gpm. Per the system hydraulic model, this flow rate is achieved when filling the 
Silver City Tank. 

REMAINING SYSTEM CAPACITY  

Minimum water system capacity requirements are established in NAC 445A sections 6672 through 66755. 
NAC 445A.6672(3) establishes specific water system capacity requirements for systems relying upon 
groundwater production wells to meet the following scenarios: 

(a) Maximum day demand + fire demand with all water sources functioning, or
(b) Average day demand + fire demand with the most productive well out of service

NAC 445A allows for a combination of water supply wells and storage to satisfy the requirements. Since 
Storey County does not rely on wells for supply, scenario (b) was excluded from this analysis, and it is 
assumed that scenario (a) provides the appropriate assessment of system capacity for the County. Table 15 
provides a summary of the available system capacity, storage requirements and excess storage capacity for 
the potable storage tanks in the County System. The analysis is based on a 24-hour period and considers 
the design ADD of 131 gpm as summarized in Table 15. It is assumed that each potable water tank is filled 
to its operational capacity at the beginning of the 24-hour analysis period. 

Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand13 686

Available System Capacity 2,161
 Fire Storage 432 1,729 

 Operating Storage 189 1,540 

 Emergency Storage 141 1,399 

Based on this analysis, the system has the source and storage capacity to meet the requirements of NAC 
445A.6672 and shows that there is a remaining system capacity of 1,399 kgal. Table 16 provides the 
capacity analysis considering the maximum number of additional connections based on the excess capacity 
shown in Table 16.  

13 Siphon flowrate of 738 gpm used for capacity calculations. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
21 January 2023

Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand7 -60

Available System Capacity 1,415
 Fire Storage 432 983 

 Operating Storage 562 421 

 Emergency Storage 421 0 

As shown, when the number of connections and resulting demands increase, the operating storage and 
emergency storage requirements increase correspondingly. Under the “MDD + Fire with All Sources” the 
existing supply infrastructure and potable storage tank system could support an additional 864 connections, 
assuming an average annual usage of 0.3 gpm per connection, without system expansion or improvement. 
This is the number of additional connections which results in a capacity balance of zero. For complete 
calculations, refer to Appendix B. 

Additional analysis was performed on the individual systems comprising the larger Storey County Water 
System. Separate storage and supply calculations for Virginia City, Gold Hill and Silver City were 
completed to better understand where specific capacity issues may arise, as well as understand the hydraulic 
relationship between the three systems. A summary of the results can be found below in Table 17. The 
complete calculations can be found in Appendix B. 

Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems 

System Total Storage 
(kgal) 

Supply in 
Excess of 

Demand (kgal) 

Total 
Required 

Storage (kgal) 

Capacity 
Balance 
(kgal) 

Capacity 
Remaining 

(EDUs) 
Virginia City 1,200 750 706 1,244 768 

Gold Hill 115 1,236 201 1,150 710 
Silver City 160 412 215 357 220 
Combined 1,475 686 761 1,398 864 

As shown, two of the three individual systems have similar remaining capacities. However, the Silver City 
system is limited by its small storage and supply in comparison to its total required storage. The primary 
limiting factor being the small amount of storage in the area and is also exacerbated by the fact that the 
system is supplied via a 4-inch water main from Gold Hill. This restriction in combination with the small 
storage greatly reduces the ability to serve future connections in the area. However, in practice the three 
systems are operated as a single system. This allows upstream storage in Virginia City and Gold Hill to 
help alleviate the supply and storage issues in Silver City. 

While the capacity remaining is represented in equivalent dwelling units (EDU), it does not require that all 
future development be comprised of residential uses. Rather, an EDU is a commonly used utility planning 
unit which is equal to the water demand of one single-family residence. If a proposed commercial or 
industrial development is projected to use ten times the amount of water as a single-family residence than 
that development would be allocated 10 EDUs of the remaining system capacity listed. It is recommended 
that the County require a proposed fixture unit count for all non-residential developments be provided at 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
22 January 2023

the time of parcel map approval and/or building permit in order to convert projected water demands back 
to an EDU basis and evaluate available system capacity. 

5.0 LONG-TERM STRATEGIES 

Protection of existing and future water resources should be of upmost importance for the County and its 
residents. However, the strategic management of the County’s resources becomes complicated due to the 
variety in water resource type (i.e., groundwater and surface water), the geographic distance between the 
communities in the Plan Area and the evolving regulatory environment, including Nevada water rights law. 
This section will review management approaches the County should consider both currently and in the 
future. 

 WATER RIGHTS 

5.1.1 Surface Water 

Storey County utilizes water from the Marlette Water System as its only source for providing water service 
to customers of the Storey County Water System. The Marlette Water System exercises water rights owned 
by the State of Nevada, under the Franktown Creek Decree which are contracted and delivered to the 
County. Because the County does not own any Decreed water rights, the delivery agreement and contract 
become especially important for dependable long-term water delivery. Furthermore, because the Marlette 
Water System is the sole source of water for the County system, the contract with the water system should 
allow for full utilization of the conveyance capacity of water system infrastructure and all for expansion to 
cover potential “growth” in the water system, especially in areas like the Highlands or Mark Twain where 
groundwater resources are limited.  

While improbable, the Carson River is another source of surface water which could provide water service 
should the County intertie their water system with Lyon County Dayton Utilities.  The County does not 
currently own any surface water rights associated with the Carson River system and it is not recommended 
for the County to purchase or accept dedication of Carson River rights at this time. The benefits and 
challenges of utilizing the Carson River as a future water source will be detailed in chapter 3.  

5.1.2 Groundwater 

The Plan Area overlies two primary hydrographic areas or basins from a water resource regulatory 
standpoint in the Tracy Segment and the Dayton Valley basin. Each of these areas has separate Orders and 
Rulings by the Nevada State Engineer that shape the regulatory options and environment the County must 
work within regarding groundwater resource development and use. For example, the Dayton Valley 
Hydrographic area has the benefit of a Domestic Well Credit Order (see page 23), whereas the Tracy 
Segment does not currently have that provision under the designation Order. Additionally, the County only 
owns less than 50 AF in the Tracey Segment with the point of diversion and place of use currently tied to 
the Canyon General Improvement District.  

Also discussed in Section 2.3, the availability of groundwater resources in both the Highlands and Mark 
Twain areas is extremely restricted and their ability to continuously meet domestic use demands has become 
more and more limited over the last 20 years. The following information is meant to provide a planning 
level summary of short and long-term alternatives which the County may consider when evaluating 
providing future groundwater resources to its residents. 

Change in Point of Diversion/Place of Use 

Storey County owns approximately 48.58 acre-feet within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin under 
Permit No. 50533, Certificate 18224, and 80870. These water rights currently support an elementary school, 
park, and the Lockwood Fire Station. The amount of water needed to support these facilities in the 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
23 January 2023

Lockwood area should be identified and allocated appropriately with the Canyon General Improvement 
District. Any remainder in right could then be utilized within the Tracey Segment to support other County 
purposes. The balance of any right which could be moved is not expected to be large enough to support 
new development or a new public water system in the Highlands. 

The future concept that this change could support could be to provide a single point of service within the 
Highlands community which residents whose wells had failed could access drinking water. This alternative 
may also require the construction of a new well, installation of water treatment equipment, construction of 
storage facilities, water system and water right permitting activities which are expected to range between 
1.2 and 5 million dollars14 and span 12 to 36 months. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Mark Twain area due to the lack of existing rights owned 
by the County in the Dayton Valley basin. 

Appropriate New Rights

An alternative to moving existing rights from one location to another is to file an application to appropriate 
new rights in either the Tracey Segment or Dayton Valley Basins. Review of the hydrographic basin 
summaries prepared by the NDWR show both the Tracey Segment and Dayton Valley as over-appropriated, 
with mining and milling identified as the preferred use in the Dayton Valley Basin. For these reasons, new 
appropriations for new municipal purposes should be considered unlikely. In the event a new appropriation 
is approved, it would be junior in priority date and would face additional challenges to be used to support 
to new development. Additionally, the infrastructure requirements (i.e., well, tank, distribution piping) 
proposed by the first alternative would still be required by this option as well. 

Purchase Water Rights 

Since new appropriations for groundwater are assumed to be limited based on total appropriation in each 
valley, purchasing existing water rights becomes the remaining option. Based on the cost associated with 
researching, confirming, purchasing, and developing these water rights, Farr West only recommends that 
the County pursue a water rights purchase for small quantities of rights to support existing development 
which may require a community water supply for an indefinite period of time. While this option may be 
the quickest to implement and receive reduced interest from other parties than that of new appropriations, 
it may also be the costliest with an approximate price tag of $1.5 to $8 million dollars15 and take anywhere 
from 12 to 18 months to implement. 

In the case of new development being served by an existing system or the formation of a new water system, 
operated by Storey County or General Improvement District, Farr West recommends the County require 
developers to dedicate the necessary rights to support the proposed uses. 

Domestic Well Credit Program 

The Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley provides the ability for the owner of a Domestic Well 
on a lot that was created prior to July 1, 1993, to plug and abandon the Domestic Well and be provided 
water service from a water supplier using a credit to provide service to the property. The Order could be 
used to allow the County to develop a community water system in the Mark Twain area, but these credits 
cannot be transferred or sold like a water right after they have been issued. The benefit to this alternative is 
that new water rights would not be required and the overall impact to the water resource would be the same 
as the current condition. To provide a new water system in this area, a production well would still need to 

14 Opinions of probable costs are planning level in nature (-50% to +100%) and are for a single point of use alternative. 
Costs associated with installing a distribution system are not included. 
15 Cost of water rights are planning level estimates which projects a range of $400,000 to $3,000,000 depending on 
which basin (Tracey Segment, Dayton Valley, or both) the rights are purchased in.  Estimates are based on a volume 
of 100 AF. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
24 January 2023

be permitted and constructed, storage tanks and distribution piping would be required to provide water 
service to the residents who forfeited their right to a domestic well. However, these types of conversion 
projects are rare due to the significant costs associated with the infrastructure improvements. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Highlands area due to the lack of existing Order in the 
Tracy Segment basin issued by the NSE. The County could apply to the NSE for an Order; however, the 
significant cost of associated infrastructure may still be prohibitive. 

5.1.3 Best Management Practices 

Farr West recommends Storey County allocate annual budget and staff time to continue to participate in 
regional planning groups, like the Carson River Subconservancy District and Truckee Meadows Water 
Authority Advisory Committee meetings or planning sessions. Involvement with these groups will allow 
the County to stay informed on regional policy changes and potentially provide insight into other water 
resource management strategies. Additionally, staying engaged with water right permit changes in basins 
which contribute to the Marlette Water System and inside of and adjacent to the Tracey Segment and 
Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basins will assist the County in maintaining their current and future water 
right interests. 

Storey County owns two water right permits that are currently managed by Canyon General Improvement 
District. Farr West recommends that the County allocate budget and staff time to monitor due dates and 
water usage for these rights to maintain their good standing. In the event additional water rights are acquired 
or dedicated to the County, due dates for Proof of Completion of Work and/or Proof of Beneficia Use 
should be pursued and maintained. 

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

Some of the water right strategies, particularly the Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley, have long 
term impacts to Storey County residents. Domestic wells are the only source of water for many parcels in 
the County and while this land was originally developed with the understanding that these residents were 
to be responsible for their own water supply, it has become common for governing bodies to be forced into 
with providing water service or mitigating groundwater impacts in areas which groundwater conditions 
have changed significantly over time. To mitigate the potential for this outcome it is recommended that the 
County encourage local, private groups to be proactive in protecting the aquifer which supplies their 
groundwater wells. Examples of action that benefits aquifer sustainability has been provided throughout 
this chapter and Plan.  

As shown in this chapter, the surface water from the Marlette Water System is the most available, highest 
quality source which the County has access to. Water from the Marlette Water System is critical for long-
term sustainability in Storey County because it is the only source that is currently permitted with the NSE 
and is capable of regular deliveries. The County should place upmost importance on renewing the 
contractual agreement with the Marlette Water System and should pursue the contractual ability to transmit 
quantities of water that are commensurate with the investment the County has placed in its water system 
infrastructure and meets the long-term demands of the Comstock and surrounding areas far into the future. 

DEDICATION RATES 

Outside of the provisions for the division of lands within Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, the County 
does not maintain a minimum water rights dedication for single unit residential development served by the 
County Water System. Farr West recommends a water right budget or allocation be applied to each existing 
connection or lot within the service area and for these values to be maintained on a digital ledger kept by 
either the Public Works or Planning Department. This will allow the County to accurately budget and 
manage water rights contracted from the Marlette Water System and provide the County the ability to justify 
water use factors and rates in future planning studies and communication with the NSE. Developing a 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
25 January 2023

dedication rate would allow the County to include factors such as drought protection, unanticipated public 
uses, and system loss into allocations per connection. Benefits from representative dedication rates include 
maximizing volumes put to beneficial use, a correct assessment of water right needs related to future 
development, better land use planning and more accurate utility planning resulting in properly phased and 
sized infrastructure improvement projects. 

WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 

Water conservation planning is an important component to improving system sustainability well into the 
future. In fact, per chapter 540.121 of the NRS, each supplier of water must adopt a plan of water 
conservation which is in accordance with the requirements of NRS 540.141 and these plans should be 
updated at least every five years. These plans are typically geared to increase public awareness of the limited 
water resources which supply their region, and the impact conservation can have on the quality and quantity 
of water which is available long term. Additionally, these plans typically set near and long-term water use 
goals, present contingency plans for when water supplies are compromised and recommend water 
efficiency standards for new development. Another component of these plans is the evaluation of installing 
meters on all connections and the development of a tiered rate structure which encourages conservation. It 
is important to note that any modification to the rate structure should be included as part of a formal rate 
study which evaluates how changes to the rate structure impacts future water system revenues and expenses, 
including estimating a reduction in water use. The County is currently in the process of updating their Water 
Conservation Plan in 2021. 

WATER SYSTEM FACILITY PLAN 

The purpose of a water utility facility plan is to assess current and future system deficiencies and develop 
a capital improvement program to identify the projects needed to keep the system operating and in 
compliance. Once this program is defined the utility can identify future funding sources and associate the 
costs of the improvements to capacity replacement and capacity expansion. The most recent facility plan 
was completed in 2011 and it is recommended that the County pursue completing a plan by 2024. 

WATER SYSTEM RATE AND CONNECTION FEE STUDY 

Over the past 10 years, Storey County has evaluated the water utility user rates multiple times in the form 
of a formal rate study or as a rate analysis. One item which has not been updated as part of these studies is 
the connection fee for the County Water System. Currently, the County collects a hook-up fee based on the 
cost of providing the water meter and the physical connection to the water system, however this fee does 
not include any consideration for “buying in” to the available capacity of the system nor does it include a 
“water availability” charge. It is recommended that once the capital improvement program is defined as 
part of the facility plan that a formal rate and connection fee study be performed to recommend a 
representative fee for all future development. 

WATER RESOURCE PLANNING 

Per chapter 278.0228 of the NRS, all governing bodies shall develop and maintain a Water Resource Plan 
which: 

� Evaluates all known sources of water,

� Quantifies current and future water demands,

� Analyzes the sufficiency of water sources in terms of quality and quantity, and

� Provides a plan for obtaining additional water of sufficient quality and quantity.

This plan must be updated at least once every ten years and shall be submitted to NDWR to be kept on file. 
Upon completion, this plan will satisfy this requirement and should be formally adopted by the Storey 
County Board of County Commissioners prior to being submitted to the NDWR.  It is also recommended 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
26 January 2023

that the County update this plan at least once every seven years as conditions can change over time and the 
information presented in a WRP is critical to ensuring the sustainability of a water utility.  As a comparison 
the Truckee Meadows Water Authority updates its WRP on a five-year cycle. 



Water Resource Plan Future Demand and Water Management

FINAL Storey County
27 January 2023

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES 

1.0 PURPOSE 

This chapter is based on the findings from the third technical memorandum in a series of three which 
documented the analysis and findings of the 2021 Storey County Water Resource Plan (Plan). The specific 
purpose of this chapter is to estimate potential buildout demands as a result of future development within 
the Plan Area. This chapter will also identify the impacts to the Storey County Water System at the buildout 
condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. Future utility 
and water resource planning efforts will also be discussed. 

2.0 FUTURE DEMANDS 

Future demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel size 
(i.e., acreage) or unit count. This analysis used the designated land use16, as of December 2020, for vacant 
parcels and applied a water demand factor as listed in Table 18. The Plan Area was broken up into the same 
four separate areas as used in Chapters 1 and 2 and shown on Figure 2. These areas are referred to as:  

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Additionally, Farr West held a workshop with Storey County staff on December 9, 2020, which detailed 
the methodology used for generating these future demands and presented preliminary results for future 
connect ions and improvement project alternatives. 

Table 18: Water Demand Factors 

Land Use Demand Factor Notes 

Single-Family Residential 0.3 AFA/connection 
Includes rural residential and forestry 
connections 

Multi-Family Residential 0.9 AFA/connection Assumes 3 units per parcel 

Commercial 1.50 AFA/acre Assumes 3 commercial connections per acre 

Industrial 1.12 AFA/acre Based on 1,000 gallons per day 

Special Planning Zone 0.3 AFA/connection 
Average connection demand determined from 
Chapter1 

. 

VACANT PARCELS AND LAND USE 

Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. Due to the rural nature 
of the County, there were a large number of vacant parcels outside of the Plan Area that were not considered 
as a part of this analysis due to their distance from current water system infrastructure and a high barrier of 
cost to reach these areas through additional infrastructure. It should be noted that a vacant parcel analysis 
was not performed for Silver City, as it lies in Lyon County and future land uses are not under the 

16 Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. 



Water Resource Plan Future Demand and Water Management

FINAL Storey County
28 January 2023

responsibility of Storey County. Future demands for Silver City were limited to the remaining system 
capacity of 105.3 acre-feet per annum (AFA) determined in chapter 2 of this Plan. 

The vacant parcels in the Comstock area can be found in Figure 5. Vacant land uses within the Comstock 
include single-family residential, multi-family residential, commercial, industrial, forestry, and special 
planning zones. The special planning zone parcels are limited to railroad and mining uses. However, both 
designations were considered as potential future water users and assigned a single EDU per parcel as a 
worst-case scenario for buildout demands.  

The vacant parcels in VC Highlands are comprised of entirely residential parcels, ranging in area from 1 
acre to 40 acres. No matter the parcel size, all vacant parcels within the loop consisting of HWY 341, 
Lousetown Road, and Cartwright Road were included in this analysis and were counted as one EDU per 
parcel. There are 269, 10-acre parcels surrounding this looped area that are reasonable to include in future 
planning efforts but were excluded from this plan due to the diminishing cost-benefit relationship in adding 
this small number of connections. Figure 6 shows the parcels considered for the analysis as well as 
surrounding parcels. 

The analysis of the Mark Twain area included land uses which reflect future changes as outlined in the 2016 
Master Plan (see Appendix A). The area consists of single-family residential, rural residential, forestry, and 
industrial. Figure 7 shows the vacant parcels and zoning in the study area that was considered for this 
analysis.  

The American Flat area southwest of Gold Hill currently has no existing development beyond a mining 
operation and two single family residences. However, future development potential was identified in the 
2016 Master Plan. The land uses identified in the 2016 Master Plan were used for this area as shown in 
Figure 8. The area is primarily forestry with 252 acres of industrial. Similar to the Mark Twain area, the 
240 acres of BLM forestry lands were removed from this analysis. For residential and special planning zone 
parcels, individual parcels were counted as possible future water service connections for this analysis. For 
rural residential parcels, a factor of 40 acres per future connection was used. Commercial and industrial 
parcels were counted as total acreage for the analysis and a water usage per acre demand factor listed in 
Table 18 was applied to the parcel area. Forestry parcel connections were assigned the same EDU value as 
rural residential parcel connections.  



!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

3QTreatment Plant

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure5.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Virginia City

Gold Hill

Silver City

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Lyon County Parcel

Comstock Vacant Parcel Zones
Commercial (339 Parcels)

Industrial (30 Parcels)

Residential (300 Parcels)

Special Planning Review Zone (74 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

Storey County

Lyon County



P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure6.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Highlands Study Area

Highlands Vacant Parcel Zones
Residential (607 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y
W

as
ho

e 
C

ou
nt

y



So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
7.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 4
,0

00
 'Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

St
ud

y 
Ar

ea

M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

Va
ca

nt
 P

ar
ce

l Z
on

es
R

es
id

en
tia

l (
45

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l (
22

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l-P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l  
(5

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

Pu
bl

ic
 F

ac
ilit

ie
s 

(1
 P

ar
ce

ls
)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(1

6 
Pa

rc
el

s)

R
ur

al
 R

es
id

en
tia

l (
9 

Pa
rc

el
s)



!

!

So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
8.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 1
,5

00
 'Figure 8: American Flat Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯

Storey County
Washoe County

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd Am
er

ic
an

 F
la

t S
tu

dy
 A

re
a

A
m

er
ic

an
 F

la
t V

ac
an

t P
ar

ce
l Z

on
es

In
du

st
ria

l  
(1

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(6

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

G
ol

d 
H

ill



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
33 January 2023

Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

DEMAND FACTORS AND TOTAL BUILDOUT DEMANDS 

Demand17 factors were applied to the vacant parcels in each area according to their land use. Although the 
average water usage per residential customer was determined to be 0.17 AFA per connection in Chapter 1, 
the projected unit water demand for residential uses or EDUs was adjusted to 0.3 AFA for this Plan. Multi-
family residential assumes three units per parcel. Customer meter data also showed that commercial 
customers used 0.33 AFA on average. This volume was scaled up to 0.5 AF per commercial connection or 
1.5 AF per acre for all vacant parcels zoned commercial for future water demand projections.  

Industrial water usage was calculated on a per acre basis. The industrial demand factor was selected based 
on an analysis of Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, south Washoe County, and Douglas County water usages. 
Demand factors were then applied to all vacant parcels within the plan area. Table 20 below shows the 
existing demand, additional demand based on land use, and buildout demand. 

Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176ii 182 358

Mark Twain 100ii 4,875 4,975

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 
ii – Existing demand was calculated by allocating 0.3 AF per existing residential connection. 

17 All demands or demand factors in this chapter are average day demands unless noted otherwise. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
34 January 2023

3.0 BUILDOUT IMPACTS 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide over 6,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. For further context, this volume of water corelates to a maximum day demand flow rate of 7,802 gpm 
or require transmission (i.e., siphon) and water treatment facilities (WTP) designed to deliver more than 11 
million gallons per day (MGD). Due to the large disparity between the makeup of the current system and a 
system capable of providing more than 11 MGD to its customers, this Plan will only propose future 
improvement projects which eliminate current system deficiencies or will interconnect no more than one 
satellite area per any given development scenario or alternative. 

INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 

Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a picture 
for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. These project 
alternatives were discussed and workshopped with County staff on December 9, 2020. All project cost 
estimates were prepared according to Class 5 methodology according to AACE International using 
conceptual or planning level engineering criteria to size significant project components.  

3.1.1 County Water System 

The County Water System consists of the water treatment plant, five storage tanks and distribution mains 
throughout Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Overall, the system has aging infrastructure, areas 
with inadequate fire flow and static pressures in excess of 190 psi. Through previous master planning and 
recent hydraulic modeling analysis four projects were identified which would resolve current deficiencies18. 
These projects are: 

� B St. & Union St. Water Main Replacement Project

� Divide Water Main Upsizing Project

� Silver City Transmission Main Replacement Project

After all these projects are completed, the County Water System will be able to meet or exceed all standard 
performance criteria/requirements as set forth by the Nevada Administrative Code 445A (NAC 445A) and 
enforced by the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water (BSDW). 
Complete opinions of probable cost totaling approximately $6.0 million dollars can be found in Appendix 
C. 

If the Comstock area were to buildout per the current land use designations, Average Day Demand (ADD) 
and Maximum Day Demand (MDD) would increase to 413 and 825 gpm, respectively. System demands 
on this order would exceed current siphon capacity and would reduce WTP excess capacity to only four 
percent of total rated capacity. For this reason, the two additional recommended improvement projects 
would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Parallel Siphon (from US 580 to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.5 MGD)

The estimated total cost of all improvements required to meet the buildout condition for the existing 
Comstock service area is just more than $18 million dollars with $12.4 million being attributed to the Siphon 
and WTP projects. 

18 The Silver City distribution system has been previously identified as deficient and in need of replacement in the 
2011 Master Plan. An engineering design has been completed for these improvements and the Lyon County Utilities 
Department has assumed the role as sponsor for the construction of this project. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
35 January 2023

3.1.2 American Flat 

The proposed development of the American Flat area as shown on Figure 8 would increase system demands 
by approximately 291 acre-feet annually or an additional 367 gpm during MDD. Water service would be 
supplied to the area via 3,100 linear feet (lf) of 12-inch diameter transmission main in addition to 750,000 
gallons in above ground storage. In total these supply and storage improvements would cost approximately 
$3.9 million dollars19.  

This area would be supplied water through the Gold Hill pressure zone from the County Water System and 
would require the following additional improvements: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated total cost of these additional County Water System improvements is approximately $27.7 
million dollars with $6.3 million being associated with the pipeline installed between Lakeview Tanks and 
US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System ROW). 

3.1.3 Mark Twain 

As stated in chapter 1, there are 333 existing connections in the Mark Twain area which would increase 
system demands by 100 acre-feet annually or an additional 124 gpm (0.2 MGD) during MDD. In order to 
supply water to serve the existing residential uses in the Mark Twain area via the existing County Water 
System, a 5.2-mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main would need to be constructed in 6-Mile Canyon 
Dr. along with a 500,000-gallon terminal tank. Additionally, an 8-inch diameter distribution system would 
also need to be installed to provide water service to the existing residences. The estimated cost of the 
improvements needed to supply potable water to the 333 connections is approximately $30 million dollars. 

Upgrades to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity 
requirements. These improvements would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated cost of these additional County Water System improvements is just more than $53 million 
dollars with $6.3 million being installed between Lakeview Tanks and US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System 
ROW). 

3.1.4 VC Highlands 

The area known as VC Highlands is home to approximately 588 residential structures which receive potable 
water service from individual domestic wells. If these existing residences were to be connected to the 
County Water System, it is estimated that system demands would increase by 176 acre-feet annually or an 
additional 219 gpm (0.3 MGD) during MDD. The infrastructure needed to supply water to the existing 
residents of the Highlands is: 

� 5.5 mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main between Virginia City and the top of Geiger Grade

� A 100 hp booster pump station located at the north end of the current County Water System

� 30 miles of 8 and 12-inch distribution main as shown on Figure 9

� 588 water meters and service lines

� 650,000-gallon water storage tank

19 The cost to install the distribution system in the American Flat area is not included in this total. It is assumed that 
the cost of these improvements would be borne by the developer/development. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
36 January 2023

In total, it is estimated that the cost of these improvements would exceed $70 million dollars, with the 
transmission and storage portion totaling $15.8 million. Due to the increase in system demands, upgrades 
to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity requirements. 
These improvements would be: 

� 14-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.6 MGD)

These additional water supply improvements would increase total project costs by $25 million dollars and 
bring project totals to approximately $95 million dollars. If the County were to size all infrastructure 
detailed in this section to accommodate complete buildout of the Highlands area the total cost of 
improvements increases from $95 million to $126 million dollars. 





Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
38 January 2023

3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades 

In review, the transmission siphon between Lakeview Tanks and the Top of Siphon does not have the 
conveyance capacity to supply enough water to meet the buildout condition for any of the scenarios 
evaluated in this Plan. At a minimum, a new 12-inch pipeline would need to be installed parallel to the 
existing main between US 580 and the Top of Siphon in order to meet buildout demands for the current 
service area. For all other scenarios, the entire line would need to be replaced between the Lakeview Tanks 
and the Top of Siphon with a 12, 14, or 16-inch diameter pipeline. Since different portions of the pipeline 
are owned and maintained by different parties (i.e., Marlette Water System and Storey County), it is 
reasonable to assume that each party would contribute funding for their portion of the improvements. The 
approximate split of ownership based on pipeline length is 61 percent for Storey County and 39 percent for 
the Marlette Water System. 

3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades 

Like the upgrades to the siphon transmission main, the 1.26 MGD Water Treatment Plant will also need to 
be expanded to supply the volume of water needed at buildout for all development scenarios or alternatives 
studied in this Plan. Table 21 below details the additional capacity needed at the Water Treatment Plant to 
meet each development scenario.  

Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs 

Development Scenario 
Increase in Treatment Capacity 

(MGD) 
Comstock Service Area Buildout 0.3 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain (Ex.) 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands (Ex.) 0.6 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout 1.0 

3.1.7 Project Summary 

Per the findings of this Plan, the County will need to invest between $6.0 and $126 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain). Table ES-4 lists a probable cost for each project that the County 
can reference for future long-term capital planning applications. These opinions of probable cost were 
developed using conceptual designs and cost data and should be refined as part of a preliminary engineering 
process prior to securing financing or allocating funds for their design and construction. 

Table 22: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2022 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
39 January 2023

WATER RIGHTS 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. The calculations provided below estimate what the minimum volume of water rights 
will need to be held in the interest of the County according to the land uses studied in Section 2.0. 

Existing number of Residential Connections (County Water System) ................................. 596 

Existing number of Commercial Connections (County Water System) ................................ 207 

Existing number of EDUs ..................................................................................................... 998 
Volume of water rights dedicated for existing development ........................................ 1,118 AF 
(assumes 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) 

Future EDUs (Highlands Ex. Domestic Wells) ..................................................................... 588 

Future EDUs (Mark Twain Domestic Wells) ........................................................................ 333 

Future EDUs (American Flat Domestic Wells) ....................................................................... 15 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Single and Multi-Family Residential) ............................................. 995 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Commercial + Industrial)20 ......................................................... 10,694 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Other: Forestry + Special Planning)2 ............................................... 139 

Total Future EDUs ........................................................................................................... 12,764 

Water rights needed for all future development +  
conversion of existing domestic well owners to County Water System 
(assessed at 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) .................................................................................. 8,783 AF 

Estimated Domestic Well Credits (assessed at 2 acre-ft per DW) ............................ (1,872 AF) 

Total Water Rights Needed 6,911 AF 

Per the 2002 contract, Storey County has reserved up to 495.6 acre-feet of water from the Marlette Water 
System in 202121. This total is only slightly more than half of the volume that would typically be dedicated 
to support the existing 803 connections of the Storey County Water System. Considering the conversion of 
existing domestic well owners to the Storey County Water System and the absolute development of all 
vacant parcels according to approved land uses, Storey County may need to acquire right to upwards of 
6,911 acre-feet of water to support permitting of the proposed developments. 

Since Storey County does not maintain a ledger tracking historic water right dedications, this study assumes 
a dedication rate of 1.12 acre-feet per EDU22 for all calculations being presented in this section. This value 
has been commonly used across the state in the past to support the permitting of one residential unit with 

20 EDU counts for non-residential uses were calculated by dividing the projected average annual demand from Section 
2 by a value of 0.3 AF/EDU. 
21 Projecting out the annual increases in water made available to Storey County for the next 20 years results in an 
estimate of 653.6 acre-feet from the Marlette Water System in 2041.  
22 This is a high estimate. Dedication rates of 1.12 AF/EDU have created large volumes of unexercised commitments 
of water rights throughout the state and the NSE’s office has supported reduced dedication requirements over the past 
10-20 years when there is adequate data to support a reduced rate.



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
40 January 2023

the Nevada State Engineer’s (NSE) office. If the County would like to have this unit volume reduced for 
future dedications it is recommended that the County prepare a more specific document summarizing their 
water use profile and proposed dedication rates and engage the NSE’s office prior to passing new ordinance. 

4.0 FUTURE MANAGEMENT 

As shown in Section 3.2, the County will need to acquire or be dedicated almost 14 times the amount of 
water they have currently secured via contract with the Marlette Water System to meet buildout demands 
in all four areas studied as part of this Plan. If the County were to only provide water service to the Comstock 
area this volume gets reduced to approximately 4 times the currently contracted volume for a total of 2,178 
acre-feet. In either scenario it will be necessary for the County to secure additional water in addition to 
modifying how the system is operated based on the number of customers and size of the service area in the 
future.  

FUTURE WATER SOURCES 

Chapter 2 found that the only viable water source for the County Water System is the Marlette Water 
System, and all future volumes of water should be acquired from this source. Additionally, chapter 2 also 
found that the current conveyance capacity of the siphon transmission main was limited to 738 gallons per 
minute (gpm) or 1,190 acre-feet annually. This stated capacity will be able to provide nearly all the future 
water needs of the Comstock area, however the addition of either the Highlands or Mark Twain areas will 
present the need for additional transmission mains to be constructed. 

Another water source potentially available to the County could be the Carson River or groundwater rights 
in hydrographic basins 103, 104 or 105. To receive water supplies from these sources the County Water 
System would need to be interconnected with the Dayton and/or Mound House Water System(s), owned 
and operated by the Lyon County Utilities Department (LCUD). The connection to these systems can occur 
via a transmission main along 6-Mile Canyon Road and/or State Highway 341. Depending on the volume 
of water which will be supplied by these new connections, additional infrastructure in the LCUD or Carson 
City water systems may need to be installed prior to entering into any operating agreement with the 
associated utilities. An array of future utility management and operational strategies exist depending on 
how the new water source would be used and should be studied further prior to pursuing and water rights 
acquisitions or construction of any infrastructure improvements related to these water sources. These 
strategies include, but are not limited to: emergency backup supply, primary water supply for portion of 
water system, seasonal supply for greater water system, and an active wholesale connection between 
utilities. 

Chapter 2 also found that the ability for existing groundwater sources to meet existing domestic uses has 
become more and more limited over the past 20 years and are not viable to support proposed development 
in the future. However, if the County were to pursue the interconnection of the County Water System to the 
Highlands or Mark Twain areas there is some merit to constructing a new community well which can be 
used seasonally (as conditions allow) and in emergencies. Additional water rights for this proposed water 
source should also not necessary since the conversion of domestic wells to the County Water System should 
provide domestic well credits which could be used to support permitting of the new community well. 

REGIONALIZATION 

If Storey County were to pursue interconnection of the County Water System with the Dayton/Mound 
House System, it would present the significant benefit of regionalizing water supplies for both the 
Comstock and surrounding areas. Regionalization of water supplies provides redundancy during periods of 
severe drought, during water system infrastructure failure, or when the quality or quantity of a water supply 
has diminished.  



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
41 January 2023

5.0 FUTURE WATER MANAGEMENT PLANNING 

By implementing a proactive approach to water management planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable 
and resilient water utility well into the future. To do this the County needs to complete and update a variety 
of different planning efforts over a five to seven fiscal year (FY) cycle. While the intent and findings of 
each study is different, proper planning builds off the information developed in one plan to another and 
provides recommendations which improve the overall sustainability of the water system. An example of 
this would be developing a representative capital improvement program (CIP) as part of a water system 
master plan update. This CIP would subsequently ensure that accurate user and connection fees were being 
collected so that future capital funding needs were being met. Additionally, the rate study would also 
develop a user fee structure which promotes conservation and improves source water sustainability. This 
section summarizes key planning efforts required in the future and offers a recommendation for when these 
documents should be completed. 

Table 23: Water System Planning 

Plan Year Completed Recommended Update  
County Strategic Plan 2020 2030 

Water Resource Plan 2022 2027 

Water System Master Plan 2011 2023 

Rate Study 2011, 2020 2025 

Water Conservation Plan - 2022 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

This chapter has found that the development of all vacant parcels according to current land uses within the 
current service area boundary will nearly triple current average water use and require significant 
improvements to County Water System infrastructure. Beyond a projected cost of $18.4M for these 
improvements, the County will also need to secure approximately 2,000 acre-feet of water from the Marlette 
Water System (or other) to support permitting of the proposed development(s). Additionally, if the County 
was to pursue connecting additional areas into the current service area improvement project costs may 
exceed $100M and the need for additional water triples to more than 6,500 acre-feet beyond the volume the 
County has currently reserved with the Marlette Water System. 

Completion of this Water Resource Plan is a significant step for the County towards improving water 
system sustainability. The findings of this Plan can be used to: 

� support the acquisition of additional water resources,

� properly evaluate future land development proposals,

� improve capital planning exercises including the identification of future funding sources, and

� maintain regulatory compliance with NDEP the Nevada State Engineer’s Office.



Water Resource Plan References

FINAL Storey County
42 January 2023

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Affirmation of the Second Judicial District's Franktown Creek Decree, 4386 (Nevada Supreme Court April 
24, 1963). 

Demographer, N. S. (2020). Certified Population Estimates of Nevada's Counties, Cities and Towns 2000 
to 2019. Nevada: Nevada Department of Taxation. 

Franktown Creek Irrigation Company v. Marlette Lake Company, 4386 (Supreme Court of Nevada 
September 27, 1961). 

Smith, D. W. (2020, April 14). Evaluation of water-level decline and aquifer properties in the Virginia City 
Highlands and Highland Ranches Volcanic Rock aquifer system, Storey County, Nevada. Retrieved
from USGS: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/nv-water/science/evaluation-water-level-decline-and-
aquifer-properties-virginia-city?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects 

Storey County. (2016). Storey County Master Plan. Storey County.

Supply Contract. (2002, October 23). Contract bewtween the State of Nevada and Storey County to Supply 
Raw Water from the Marlette Lake Water System. Carson, Nevada.

WRCC. (2020, April 14). Virginia City, Nevada (268761). Retrieved from Western Regional Climate
Center: https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?nv8761 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of first reading of Bill No. 137, Ordinance No. 23-
325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and
Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection
2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed on the list of county appraisers if
the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability insurance as required
by the county, and other properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve first reading of Bill No.
137, Ordinance No. 23-325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2
Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise
Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed on the list of county
appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability
insurance as required by the county, and other properly related matters. This motion
includes a finding that a special hearing and business impact statement are not required
because the proposed action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden
upon a business, or directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business
in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This proposal will enable Storey County to build a larger pool of
qualified property appraisers from which to choose on a rotating basis for the appraisal of
properties that the county intends to purchase, sell, rent, or lease.

• Storey County is required by NRS to maintain a list of qualified property appraisers to
perform appraisals of properties that the county intends to purchase, sell, lease, or rent.
The county finds it difficult to recruit and maintain appraisers on its list due to a
requirement in county code that such appraisers must maintain costly liability insurance
whether they are or are not actively engaged in appraisals or other work for the county.

• A proposed amendment to Storey County Code Section 2.22.060(F) will enable an
appraiser to be placed on the list of appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to
obtain professional liability insurance as required by the county. If the code is amended,
an appraiser will only be required to demonstrate active liability insurance when the
appraiser is retained to perform appraisals or other work for the county.

     21



• A special hearing and business impact statement are not required because the proposed
action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden upon a business, or
directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business in Storey County.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Page 3 of 4 

Bill No. _137_______________ 

Ordinance No. 23. _325___________ 

Summary 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 
Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed 

on the list of county appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability 
insurance as required by the county, and other properly related matters. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 
2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified 

appraiser to be placed on the list of county appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to 
obtain professional liability insurance as required by the county, and other properly related 

matters. 

(Amendments are shown in blue underlined italics and black strike-out.) 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 2.22.060 is hereby amended to provide as follows: 



Page 4 of 4 

Chapter 2.22 - COUNTY'S LIST OF QUALIFIED APPRAISERS 

2.22.060 - Qualifications of appraisers. 

In order for an appraiser to be placed on the county's list of qualified appraisers, the 

appraiser must meet at least the following requirements: 

A. Hold a general appraiser certificate from the Nevada Real Estate Division.

B. Have five years of experience in appraising real property in northern Nevada.

C. Provide a resume describing the appraiser's qualifications,

certifications, years of experience, and professional expertise.

D. Provide an estimation of the time it will take for the appraiser to

complete appraisal projects.

E. Provide a list of fees charged by the appraiser.

F. Provide a copy of and maintain a policy of professional liability

insurance as required by the county. Ability to obtain professional

liability insurance as required by the county.

G. Be willing to indemnify the county of errors, omissions and negligence.

H. Meet any other criteria the board determines to be necessary.

(Ord. No. 18-288, § 1, 8-21-2018)



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Anthony J. Wren
and Associates as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers to
provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street and 208 North D Street,
Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the county has expressed potential
interest in purchase and/or trade for the purpose of constructing and/or expanding Fire
Station 71.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve accepting property
appraiser Anthony J. Wren and Associates as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey
County appraisers to provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street and
208 North D Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the county has
expressed potential interest in purchase and/or trade for the purpose of constructing
and/or expanding Fire Station 71.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: The Storey County Fire Protection District expressed interest and has
caused the initiation of expanding and/or rebuilding Fire Station 71 in Virginia City.
Storey County, however, is the owner of Fire Station 71, and the project must be
undertaken by the county, not the fire district.

•
• Storey County received approximately $3.75 million in federal appropriations for this

project. The total project is estimated by the Storey County Fire Protection District Chief
to be $6-7 million. The project may be contingent on procuring vacant land in the
immediate area. There are several vacant parcels adjacent to Fire Station 71 that may be
suited for this project. Two potential parcels include 175 North C Street which abuts Fire
Station 71 at its north boundary, and 208 North D Street which is situated nearby at the
northeast corner of C Street and Mill Street. Other vacant parcels in the vicinity,
including those which are currently owned by Storey County, are also being evaluated for
this project.

•
• Earlier this year, the county approached the owner of 175 North C Street and executed a

certified appraisal by Anthony J. Wren and Associates, the only certified appraiser on the

     22 



county’s list of appraisers at the time. A conditional offer aligned with the appraisal was 
presented to the owner of the vacant parcel, but the conditional offer was not accepted.

•
• Since then, the county has added Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers to the list of 

appraisers pursuant to Storey County Code 2.22. With more than one appraiser now on 
the list of county appraisers, the board is asked to certify both appraisers to potentially 
perform appraisals of the above referenced parcels. 

•
• Storey County Code 2.22 requires that the county to assign appraisers to projects in order 

of its list of qualified appraisers. Anthony J. Wren and Associates was the most recently 
used appraiser on this project; therefore, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers would be 
chosen to perform the next appraisal of a county project. Anthony J. Wren and Associates 
would be the next potential appraiser to perform such work as needed. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     23



















 

Page 1 of 1 

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ OFFICE 
Storey County Courthouse   
26 South “B” Street 
P.O. Box 176 Virginia City, Nevada 89440 
Phone: 775.847.0968 - Fax: 775.847.0949 
commissioners@storeycounty.org 

Jay Carmona, Chair 
Clay Mitchell, Vice-Chair 
Lance Gilman, Commissioner 

Austin Osborne, County Manager 

LIST OF QUALIFIED APPRAISERS 

October 31, 2023 

Re: Appraiser List for Storey County 2023 

1. Anthony J. Wren, Anthony J. Wren and Associates Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A.0000090-CG exp. 4/30/2025

2. Mark Stafford, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraiser Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A0000178-CG exp. 5/31/2025

This list will be updated annually and otherwise as needed. 













Parcel line loca�ons not exactly correct, shown for informa�on purposes only 

APN 001-095-07 208 N. D Street Bucket of Blood Saloon Inc. 

APN 001-094-04 175 N. C Street  Marshall & Lauren McBride 

APN 001-094-03 145 N. C Street Storey County 

APN 001-094-02 135 N. C Street Storey County 

APN 001-096-02 136 N. E Street  Storey County 

APN 001-096-01 104 N. E Street Storey County 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Mark Stafford
Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers
to provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street and 208 North D Street,
Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the county has expressed potential
interest in purchase and/or trade for the purpose of constructing and/or expanding Fire
Station 71.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve accepting property
appraiser Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of
Storey County appraisers to provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street
and 208 North D Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, of which the county has
expressed potential interest in purchase and/or trade for the purpose of constructing
and/or expanding Fire Station 71.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: The Storey County Fire Protection District expressed interest and has
caused the initiation of expanding and/or rebuilding Fire Station 71 in Virginia City.
Storey County, however, is the owner of Fire Station 71, and the project must be
undertaken by the county, not the fire district.

•
• Storey County received approximately $3.75 million in federal appropriations for this

project. The total project is estimated by the Storey County Fire Protection District Chief
to be $6-7 million. The project may be contingent on procuring vacant land in the
immediate area. There are several vacant parcels adjacent to Fire Station 71 that may be
suited for this project. Two potential parcels include 175 North C Street which abuts Fire
Station 71 at its north boundary, and 208 North D Street which is situated nearby at the
northeast corner of C Street and Mill Street. Other vacant parcels in the vicinity,
including those which are currently owned by Storey County, are also being evaluated for
this project.

•
• Earlier this year, the county approached the owner of 175 North C Street and executed a

certified appraisal by Anthony J. Wren and Associates, the only certified appraiser on the

    23



county’s list of appraisers at the time. A conditional offer aligned with the appraisal was 
presented to the owner of the vacant parcel, but the conditional offer was not accepted.

•
• Since then, the county has added Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers to the list of 

appraisers pursuant to Storey County Code 2.22. With more than one appraiser now on 
the list of county appraisers, the board is asked to certify both appraisers to potentially 
perform appraisals of the above referenced parcels. 

•
• Storey County Code 2.22 requires that the county to assign appraisers to projects in order 

of its list of qualified appraisers. Anthony J. Wren and Associates was the most recently 
used appraiser on this project; therefore, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers would be 
chosen to perform the next appraisal of a county project. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Mark E. Stafford
 Real Estate Appraiser 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
PO Box 349                                                                                                             Phone 775-750-9078 
Virginia City, NV 89440                                                                         e-mail mark@staffordappraisal.com

November 2, 2023 

Austin Osborne 
Storey County Manager 
PO Box 176 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

RE: Appraiser’s Statement of Qualifications-Comstock Historic District 

Dear Mr. Osborne, 

I am writing in response to your requested Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) for 
Professional Appraisal Services dated October 31, 2023 (attached). The following are my 
responses to items one through nine of said request. 

1. Attached is my Appraiser Certificate issued by the Real Estate Division of the
State of Nevada authorizing me to act as a Certified General Appraiser.

2. This SOQ applies to the Comstock Historic District.

3. I have been a full-time real estate appraiser in northern Nevada since 1977.
During this period, I have appraised numerous properties in Storey County
including he Comstock Historic District. Clients have included lenders, attorneys
and Storey County on behalf of the Storey County Assessor.

4. Please find attached my Letter of Qualification.

5. The time required to complete an appraisal assignment is dependent on the
complexity of the property appraised and the appraiser’s current workload.

6. Fees charged by appraisers are dependent on the property type, valuation
complexity, and responsibility assumed. Typically, when a potential client is
seeking an appraisal, the appraiser provides an estimated time to complete the
assignment and the proposed fee.

7. If hired by Storey County for fee assignments specific to this Qualified List of
Professional Appraiser Services, I will obtain and maintain a professional liability
insurance policy.



8. In addition to the Errors and Omissions policy noted above, the appraisal will be
prepared in accordance with the regulatory standards set forth in the Uniform
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) as adopted by the State of
Nevada.

9. I will strive to provide any additional professional information as may be required
by Storey County.

Thank you for your consideration. If you require any further information, please contact 
me.  

Respectfully submitted, 

Mark E. Stafford, Certified General Appraiser 
State of Nevada No. A.0000178-CG 







Education Associate Degree in Applied Science: Business-Real Estate  
Truckee Meadows Community College Reno, NV 

Courses Successfully 
Completed 

Appraisal Institute (Includes former AIREA and SREA): 
Real Estate Appraisal Principles 
Residential Valuation 
Standards of Professional Practice A & B 
Capitalization Theory & Techniques A & B 
Applied Income Property Valuation 
Case Studies in Real Estate Valuation 
Valuation Analysis & Report Writing 

University of Nevada at Reno: 
Real Estate Evaluation 

International Association of Assessing Officers: 
Fundamentals of Real Estate Appraisal-Course 101  
Income Approach to Valuation-Course 102 
Income Approach to Valuation II-Course 112 
Appraisal of Land-Course 201 
Real Property Modeling-Course 311 
Assessment Administration-Course 400 
Assessment of Personal Property-Course 500 
USPAP (National)-Workshop 151 

Professional 
Experience  

Nov 2018 – Present                Self-Employed       Virginia City, NV 
Independent Fee Appraiser and Consultant 
 Providing appraisal and consulting services for gaming, hospitality, 

industrial, commercial, utility-scale renewable energy projects and other 
special use properties. Contract appraiser for ad valorem valuation and 
consultation services to County Assessors throughout Nevada. Present and 
defend valuation appeals to County and State Boards of Equalization for 
governmental and corporate entities. 

April 1997 – Nov 2018    Washoe County Assessor     Reno, NV 
Senior Appraiser 
 Responsible for oversight of all valuation activities relating to gaming 

properties, telecommunication equipment and leaseholds, possessory 
interest leaseholds and business personal property. Conducted reappraisal of 
residential and commercial districts. Charged with appraising large 
commercial, income oriented, distress, and special-use properties. 
Supervised appraisal and clerical staff, review and present valuation appeals 
to Boards of Equalization. 

Oct 1981 – April 1997         Self-Employed     Northern Nevada   
Independent Fee Appraiser 
 Working from offices in Reno, Fallon, and Tonopah, appraising all property 

types throughout Nevada and northern California. Clients included financial 
institutions, governmental agencies, attorneys and private parties for 
bankruptcy, condemnation, estate, relocation, and financing purposes.  

Qualifications of 
Mark E. Stafford 

Real Estate Appraiser 
226 N B St, PO Box 349 
Virginia City, NV 89440 

775-750-9078
mark@staffordappraisal.com 



Professional 
Experience cont. 

May 1980 – Oct 1981  Nye County Assessor Tonopah, NV 
Senior Appraiser 
 Supervised appraisal staff, valuation activities and procedures. Explained 

assessment procedures to property owners at town meetings. Defended 
values at Boards of Equalization. Restructured appraisal cycle districts and 
supervised implementation of Tax Reform Plan of 1981. Performed after-
hours fee appraisals for banks, savings and loans, relocation companies, 
attorneys and others throughout Central Nevada. 

May 1977 – May 1980 M.E. (Eddie) Stafford, MAI Reno, NV 
Associate Appraiser  
 Prepared single and multi-family, vacant land and site appraisal reports 

primarily for financing purposes. Performed compliance inspections and 
researched comparative income, sales, and cost data. 

Qualified as Expert 
Witness 

Second Judicial District Court Reno 
Fifth Judicial District Court Tonopah 
United States Bankruptcy Court Reno 
Special Masters Hearings (Condemnation for sewer system) Reno 

Also testified at Churchill, Lander, Humboldt, Nye, Clark, Storey and Washoe 
County Boards of Equalization; Nevada State Board of Equalization 

Appraisal Courses 
Taught 

Principle & Theory of Real Estate Appraisal 
Truckee Meadows Community College, Reno-1982 to 1986 
Northern Nevada Community College, Elko-1983 

Advanced Problems of Real Estate Appraisal (Income Properties) 
Truckee Meadows Community College, Reno-1984 to 1987 

IAAO Course 101: Fundamentals of Real Estate Appraisal, multiple 

IAAO Course 102: Income Approach to Valuation, multiple 

IAAO Course 112: Income Approach to Valuation II, multiple 

IAAO One-Day Forums: 931-Leases; 932-Income Statements; 991-Comparable 
Transactions; 960-Marshall-Swift Residential; 962-Marshall-Swift Commercial 

Numerous educational presentations for the Assessor’s Association of Nevada 

Presentation on Gaming Properties at the IAAO International Conference 

State Certification Certified General Appraiser, State of Nevada No. A.0000178-CG 
Licensed Real & Personal Property Tax Appraiser, State of Nevada 

Other Former Co-Chair, Appraiser Certification Board, Nevada State Department of 
Taxation  

Noteworthy  
Assignments 
Completed 

Fast Food Franchises; Bank Buildings; Legal Brothels; Churches; Fitness 
Center; Truck Stop; Casinos and Hotel-Casinos; Water-righted ranches; 
Residential Subdivisions and Condominium Developments; Professional, 
Medical, and Dental Offices; Hotels, Motels, and Apartment Complexes of 100 
plus units; Manufactured Housing & Recreational Vehicle Parks; Special 
Assessment Districts; Coal, Natural Gas, Geothermal and Solar Power 
Generating Facilities. Government property for public disposal; Condemnation 
appraisals for roadways, utility easements, proposed dam, and airport clear 
zones. Casino valuation consultant for the Detroit City Assessor’s Office. 
Contract appraiser for Lander, Eureka, Mineral, Humboldt, Pershing, Churchill, 
and Storey County Assessor’s Offices.  



 

Page 1 of 1 

STOREY COUNTY COMMISSIONERS’ OFFICE 
Storey County Courthouse   
26 South “B” Street 
P.O. Box 176 Virginia City, Nevada 89440 
Phone: 775.847.0968 - Fax: 775.847.0949 
commissioners@storeycounty.org 

Jay Carmona, Chair 
Clay Mitchell, Vice-Chair 
Lance Gilman, Commissioner 

Austin Osborne, County Manager 

LIST OF QUALIFIED APPRAISERS 

October 31, 2023 

Re: Appraiser List for Storey County 2023 

1. Anthony J. Wren, Anthony J. Wren and Associates Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A.0000090-CG exp. 4/30/2025

2. Mark Stafford, Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraiser Nevada Certified General Appraiser
#A0000178-CG exp. 5/31/2025

This list will be updated annually and otherwise as needed. 



Parcel line loca�ons not exactly correct, shown for informa�on purposes only 

APN 001-095-07 208 N. D Street Bucket of Blood Saloon Inc. 

APN 001-094-04 175 N. C Street  Marshall & Lauren McBride 

APN 001-094-03 145 N. C Street Storey County 

APN 001-094-02 135 N. C Street Storey County 

APN 001-096-02 136 N. E Street  Storey County 

APN 001-096-01 104 N. E Street Storey County 













Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of first reading of Bill No. 138, Ordinance No. 23-
326, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5 Business License Required,
Section 5.04.200 Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise the list of certain base in-
county business license fees from their current amount to a reduced amount being $25.00
annually, Section 5.04.190 deleting conflicting language regarding fees set by resolution,
and other properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve first reading of Bill No.
138, Ordinance No. 23-326, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5
Business License Required, Section 5.04.200 Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise
the list of certain base in-county business license fees from their current amount to a
reduced amount being $25.00 annually, Section 5.04.190 deleting conflicting language
regarding fees set by resolution, and other properly related matters. This motion includes
a finding that a special hearing and business impact statement are not required because
the proposed action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden upon a
business, or directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business in Storey
County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Commissioner Mitchell requested in a series of public meetings that the
board consider reducing certain fees for in-county base general business licenses and for
in-county general home-based business licenses. The scope of the proposal does not
include business license fees related to employee counts, building square-footage,
business license applications, privilege businesses and other special license fees, and out-
of-county businesses.

• The establishment of business license fees is set forth in Storey County Code 5.04.200
enclosed herewith. Other applicable license fees are demonstrated in the enclosed table.

• A special hearing and business impact statement are not required because the proposed
action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden upon a business, or
directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business in Storey County.

• Revenue impacts that this action may have on the budget of the Virginia City Tourism
Commission (VCTC) will be discussed with the tourism commission at its December 14,
2023, public meeting. Comments from the VCTC commissioners and other findings will

     24



be shared with the Board of Storey County Commissioners before action is taken for 
second reading.

• The proposal also includes removal of Section 5.04.190 addressing business license fees
by resolution because it may conflict with the remainder of the Title which sets fees by
ordinance. County officials have worked together over the past two years on
comprehensive updates to SCC Title 5 that will be ready for a presentation to the board
and for consideration in 2024.

• Changes to the fee schedule are summarized in the following table.
•
• List of Business License Fees to be Reduced
•
• General/Regular License (County) From $75 To $25 Per Year
• General/Regular License (Sheriff) From $75 To $25 Per Year
• Home-Based (County) From $100 To $25 Per Year
• Home-Based (Sheriff)From $100 To $25 Per Year
• Contractor/Profess. From $100 To $25 Per Year
• TransportationFrom $100 To $25 Per Year
• Pawn Shops From $250 To $25 Per Year
• Mining/Excavation From $475 To $25 Per Year
• Other Category From $ per category To $25 Per category
• Notes:
• a. In-county businesses and base/regular business license fees only.
• b. This motion does not include Special Events Licenses.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: Yes

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Page 1 of 1 

Written Motion with Findings: 

I (commissioner) motion to approve second reading of Bill No. __138_________, Ordinance 
No. ____23-326________, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5 Business 
License Required, Section 5.04.200 Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise the list of certain 
base in-county business license fees from their current amount to a reduced amount being 
$25.00 annually, Section 5.04.190 deleting conflicting language regarding fees set by 
resolution, and other properly related matters. This motion includes a finding that a special 
hearing and business impact statement are not required because the proposed action does 
not impose a direct or significant economic burden upon a business, or directly restrict the 
formation, operation, or expansion of a business in Storey County. 

This written motion with findings is hereby provided by Storey County Commission Chair Jay 

Carmona: ____________________________ on ______________________, 2023. 

Attest: 

_____________________________ 
D. James Hindle
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County



1/4 

dd 

Bill No. __138______________ 

Ordinance No. 23. _326___________ 

Summary 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5 Business License Required, Section 5.04.200 
Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise the list of certain base in-county business license fees from 

their current amount to a reduced amount being $25.00 annually, Section 5.04.190 deleting conflicting 
language regarding fees set by resolution, and other properly related matters. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5 Business License Required, Section 
5.04.200 Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise the list of certain base in-county business license 

fees from their current amount to a reduced amount being $25.00 annually, Section 5.04.190 
deleting conflicting language regarding fees set by resolution, and other properly related matters. 

(Amendments are shown in blue underlined italics and black strike-out.) 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 5.04.190 is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

--------------------------- 
5.04.190 - Increase or decrease of fees by resolution. 

All fees established hereinafter in this chapter may be established, increased or decreased 

from time to time by resolution of the board of county commissioners. 

(Ord. 196, 2005) 

SECTION 2: Storey County Code Section 5.04.200 is hereby amended to provide as follows: 

5.04.200 - Fees and exemptions from fees. 

A. Except for nonprofit organizations, upon application for a new business license,

the applicant shall pay a nonrefundable twenty-five dollar application fee to cover

the costs of the review and processing of the application.

B. Every person, firm, association, or corporation required by this chapter to take out

and pay for a license, shall take out and pay for a license for each of the kinds of



2/4 

dd 

businesses enumerated in this article, and for each separate class of business or 

trade enumerated herein, and for each place where such business is carried on. 

C. Unless otherwise provided, the following periodic fees are imposed on the

following kinds of business licenses:

General license $ 75.00 $25.00 per year 

Independent contractors, professionals 100.00 $25.00 per year 

Out-of-county businesses, contractors $75.00 per year 

Home businesses 100.00 $25.00 per year 

Nonproit Non-profit $0 per year 

Escort $250.00 per year 

Massages, therapeutic services $135.00 per year 

Subdivision sales $475.00 per year 

Transportation companies 100.00 $25.00 per year 

Pawn shops 250.00 $25.00 per year 

Mining, excavation, earth-moving/processing companies 475.00 $25.00 per year 

D. Unless otherwise provided, the following fees are imposed on the following

kinds of business licenses in addition to any other fees specified:

Commercial units, apartments, storage units, RV 

and MH spaces, pay parking lot spaces 

$ 2.00 per unit annually 



3/4 

dd 

Per gaming machine $30.00 per quarter 

Per gaming table $150.00 per quarter 

Alarm companies $10.00 per alarm per quarter 

Special events ive-day permit (excluding liquor) $25.00 per vendor 

E. Unless otherwise provided, the following fees for entertainment are imposed on

the following kinds of business licenses and are exempt from any other fee

schedules or the business licenses specified in this chapter.

1. Brothels and houses of ill fame shall be established pursuant to Storey County
Code Chapter

5.16. 2. Cabarets or other places of live entertainment on the premises one

hundred fifty dollars per year.

3. Fortunetellers, astrologer, clairvoyant, medium, palmist, phrenologist, or

others who profess to foresee the future, seven hundred dollars per year;

fortunetelling licenses shall be approved at the sole discretion of the board

of county commissioners. Any employee in an establishment licensed under

this section shall be subject to work permit requirements as provided in

Storey County Code Section 5.08.020(G).

(Ord. 203 (part), 2006; Ord. 179 § 1(part), 2002; Ord. 161 § 2(part), 1999) 

Proposed on _____________________________________________, 2023. 

by Commissioner ________________________________________ 

Passed on _______________________________________________, 2023 

. 

Vote: Ayes:        Commissioners    _______________________________ 

_______________________________ 

https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/
https://library.municode.com/


4/4 

dd 

_______________________________ 

Nays:                  Commissioners  _______________________________ 

 _______________________________ 

Absent         Commissioners    _____________________________ 

_______________________________ 
Jay Carmona, Chair 
Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

Attest: 

_____________________________ 
D. James Hindle
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County

This ordinance will become effective on _________________, 2023. 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
• A. Andrei Mihheikin – Home Based / 240 S. M ~Virginia City, NV
• B. Asphalt Protectors Inc. – Contractor / 14010 Mt. Anderson St. ~ Reno, NV
• C. Aurum Construction Strategies, LLC – Contractor / 232 West St. ~ Reno, NV
• D. Florence Fence Inc. – Contractor / 2597 Nowlin Rd. ~ Minden, NV
• E. Johnson Plumbing – Contractor / 131 Coney Island Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
• F. Leading Out Loud, Inc. – Home Based / 2330 Enterprise Rd. ~ Reno, NV
• G. Seiwa Giken Co., LTD – Out of County / Toyonaka-shi, Japan
• H. Sierra Manor Bakery – Home Based / 6 N. D St. ~ Virginia City, NV
• I. Supreme Concrete LLC – Contractor / 5295 Coggins Rd. ~ Reno, NV
• J. Sutlug Inc. – Food Truck / 500 A Truck Inn ~ Fernley, NV
• K. Virginia City Off Road Experience LLC – Home Based / 311 S. E. St. ~ Virginia City,

NV
• L. Ziglift Material Handling – Contractor / 12640 Allard St. ~ Santa Fe Springs, CA

• Recommended motion: Approval.

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to
the new business license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

     25



____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office November 08, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the November 21, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. Andrei Mihheikin – Home Based / 240 S. M ~Virginia City, NV

B. Asphalt Protectors Inc. – Contractor / 14010 Mt. Anderson St. ~ Reno, NV

C. Aurum Construction Strategies, LLC – Contractor / 232 West St. ~ Reno, NV

D. Florence Fence Inc. – Contractor / 2597 Nowlin Rd. ~ Minden, NV

E. Johnson Plumbing – Contractor / 131 Coney Island Dr. ~ Sparks, NV

F. Leading Out Loud, Inc. – Home Based / 2330 Enterprise Rd. ~ Reno, NV

G. Seiwa Giken Co., LTD – Out of County / Toyonaka-shi, Japan

H. Sierra Manor Bakery – Home Based / 6 N. D St. ~ Virginia City, NV

I. Supreme Concrete LLC – Contractor / 5295 Coggins Rd. ~ Reno, NV

J. Sutlug Inc. – Food Truck / 500 A Truck Inn ~ Fernley, NV

K. Virginia City Off Road Experience LLC – Home Based / 311 S. E. St. ~ Virginia City, NV

L. Ziglift Material Handling – Contractor / 12640 Allard St. ~ Santa Fe Springs, CA

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 11/21/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Correspondence

• Title: Correspondence: Letter from member of the public regarding Taylor Street.

• Recommended motion: No action.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: Correspondence

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    28




	Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the November 21, 2023, meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the September 5, 2023, meeting.
	For consideration and possible approval of business license first readings.
	Approval of claims in the amount of $6,131,259.61.
	Annual Tax Roll Resolution.
	Personal Exemption Corrections.
	Public Hearing for second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on public zoning district land and providing for other
	County staff has reviewed the responses to the Requests for Qualifications for the Construction Management portion of the Lockwood Senior Center Rebuild Project. County staff intends to pursue cost and contract negotiations with the s
	Consideration and possible approval for County Staff to apply for grant funding in the amount of $700,000 for ADA compliant restroom facilities for the Virginia City Fairgrounds through Conserve Nevada’s Nevada Conservation and Recreation fund, with a 20%
	Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-714, a resolution setting grade and salary range of employees fixed by ordinance or resolution per NRS 245.045 for appointed Storey County officials for the 2023-24 fiscal year and superseding pr
	Consideration and possible approval for County Staff to proceed with a Letter of Intent to Apply for a Principal Forgiveness Loan through the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection (NDEP) for Phase 1 of the Lead Siphon Transmission Replacement Projec
	Consideration and approval of appointing a county resident to serve as a voting member on the Comstock Cemetery Foundation Board of Directors as the Storey County representative.
	Consideration and discussion regarding the Storey County Fire Protection District 2024-2029 Capital and Operational improvement plan.
	Consideration and possible approval of the purchase of a command vehicle approved and ordered within the 2022/2023 budget and received within the 2023/2024 budget.
	Discussion and possible consideration of the board’s position responding to the Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development (GOED) requesting from Storey County a letter of acknowledgement regarding an application to GOED for Sales and Use Tax Abatem
	Consideration and possible approval to adopt the 2023 Storey County Water Resources Plan for south and central Storey County including Comstock (Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and American Flat), Highlands, and Mark Twain. This item is being consi
	Review and possible approval of first reading of Bill No. 137, Ordinance No. 23-325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsectio
	Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Anthony J. Wren and Associates as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers to provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street and 208 North D Street, Vir
	Consideration and possible approval accepting property appraiser Mark Stafford Real Estate Appraisers as a qualified appraiser from the list of Storey County appraisers to provide appraisal of properties located at 175 North C Street and 208 North D Stree
	Review and possible approval of first reading of Bill No. 138, Ordinance No. 23-326, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 5 Business License Required, Section 5.04.200 Fees and Exemption from Fees, to revise the list
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.
	Correspondence: Letter from member of the public regarding Taylor Street.



